

ESC GUIDELINES



Guidelines on Management (Diagnosis and Treatment) of Syncope - Update 2004 $^{\texttt{\texttt{m}}}$

The Task Force on Syncope, European Society of Cardiology **

Task Force members: Michele Brignole (Chairperson)^{*}, Lavagna, Italy; Paolo Alboni, Cento, Italy; David G. Benditt, Minneapolis, USA; Lennart Bergfeldt, Stockholm, Sweden; Jean-Jacques Blanc, Brest, France; Paul Erik Bloch Thomsen, Hellerup, Denmark; J. Gert van Dijk, Leiden, The Netherlands; Adam Fitzpatrick, Manchester, UK; Stefan Hohnloser, Frankfurt, Germany; Jean Janousek, Prague, Czech Republic; Wishwa Kapoor, Pittsburg, USA; Rose Anne Kenny, Newcastleupon-Tyne, UK; Piotr Kulakowski, Warsaw, Poland; Giulio Masotti¹, Firenze, Italy; Angel Moya, Barcelona, Spain; Antonio Raviele, Mestre-venice, Italy; Richard Sutton, London, UK; George Theodorakis, Athens, Greece; Andrea Ungar¹, Firenze, Italy; Wouter Wieling, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG): Silvia G. Priori (Chairperson), Italy; Maria Angeles Alonso Garcia, Spain; Jean-Jacques Blanc, France; Andrzej Budaj, Poland; Martin Cowie, UK; Jaap Deckers, The Netherlands; Enrique Fernandez Burgos, Spain; John Lekakis, Greece; Bertil Lindhal, Sweden; Gianfranco Mazzotta, Italy; João Morais, Portugal; Ali Oto, Turkey; Otto Smiseth, Norway

Document Reviewers: Silvia G. Priori (CPG Review Coordinator), Italy; Martin Cowie, UK; Carlo Menozzi, Italy; Hugo Ector, Belgium; Ali Oto, Turkey; Panos Vardas, Greece

Submitted 25 August 2004, and accepted after revision 25 August 2004

KEYWORDS Syncope; Guidelines; European Society of Cardiology

** For affiliations of Task Force members, see Appendix A.

1099-5129/\$30 © 2004 The European Society of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.eupc.2004.08.008

^{*} The Executive summary of this document is also available on the website of the European Society of Cardiology (www.escardio.org) in the section 'Knowledge Centre', Guidelines and Scientific Statements. The Executive summary and recommendations are published in Eur Heart J 2004;25:2054–72.

^{*} Corresponding author. Michele Brignole, Department of Cardiology and Arrhythmologic Centre, Ospedali del Tigullio, 16033 Lavagna, Italy, Tel.: +39 0185 329569; fax: +39 0185 306506.

E-mail address: mbrignole@asl4.liguria.it (M. Brignole).

¹ Representative of the European Union Geriatric Medicine Society.

Table of Contents

Preamble	468
Scope of the document	469
Method	469
Part 1. Classification, epidemiology and prognosis	471
Definition	471
Brief overview of pathophysiology of syncope	471
Classification	472
Epidemiological considerations	473
Prognostic evaluation	474
Part 2. Diagnosis	476
The diagnostic strategy based on the initial	
evaluation	476
Diagnostic yield and prevalence of causes	
of syncope	478
Initial evaluation	479
Echocardiogram	481
Carotid sinus massage	481
Tilt testing	483
Electrocardiographic monitoring (non-invasive	
and invasive)	487
Electrophysiological testing	491
ATP test	497
Ventricular signal-averaged	
electrocardiogram, T wave alternans	498
Exercise testing	498
Cardiac catheterization and angiography	499
Neurological and psychiatric evaluation	499
Part 3. Treatment	503
General principles	503
Neurally-mediated (reflex) syncope	504
Orthostatic hypotension	508
Cardiac arrhythmias as primary cause	509
Structural cardiac or cardiopulmonary disease	512
Vascular steal syndromes	513
Metabolic	513
Part 4. Special issues in evaluating patients with	
syncope	513
Need for hospitalization	513
Syncope in the elderly	514
Syncope in paediatric patients	516
Syncope management facilities	517
Driving and syncope	520
Glossary of terms	523
Appendix A	526
Reterences	526

Preamble

Guidelines and Expert Consensus documents aim to present all the relevant evidence on a particular issue in order to help physicians to weigh the benefits and risks of a particular diagnostic or therapeutic procedure. They should be helpful in everyday clinical decision-making.

A great number of Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents have been issued in recent years by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and by different organisations and other related societies. This profusion can put at stake the authority and validity of guidelines, which can only be guaranteed if they have been developed by an unquestionable decision-making process. This is one of the reasons why the ESC and others have issued recommendations for formulating and issuing Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents.

In spite of the fact that standards for issuing good quality Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents are well defined, recent surveys of Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents published in peerreviewed journals between 1985 and 1998 have shown that methodological standards were not complied with in the vast majority of cases. It is therefore of great importance that guidelines and recommendations are presented in formats that are easily interpreted. Subsequently, their implementation programmes must also be well conducted. Attempts have been made to determine whether guidelines improve the quality of clinical practice and the utilisation of health resources.

The ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG) supervises and coordinates the preparation of new Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents produced by Task Forces, expert groups or consensus panels. The chosen experts in these writing panels are asked to provide disclosure statements of all relationships they may have which might be perceived as real or potential conflicts of interest. These disclosure forms are kept on file at the European Heart House, headquarters of the ESC. The Committee is also responsible for the endorsement of these Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents or statements.

The Task Force has classified and ranked the usefulness or efficacy of the recommended procedure and/or treatments and the Level of Evidence as indicated in the tables below:

Classes of recommendations		
Class I	Evidence and/or general agreement that a given diagnostic procedure/ treatment is beneficial, useful and effective;	
Class II	Conflicting evidence and/or a divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of the treatment;	
Class IIa	Weight of evidence/opinion is in favour of usefulness/efficacy;	
Class IIb	Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion;	
Class III ^a	Evidence or general agreement that the treatment is not useful/effective and in some cases may be harmful.	
^a Use of Class III is discouraged by the ESC.		

Levels of Evidence	
Level of Evidence A	Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials or meta-analyses
Level of Evidence B	Data derived from a single randomized clinical trials or non-randomized studies
Level of Evidence C	Consensus of opinion of the experts and/or small studies, reprospective studies, registries

Scope of the document

The purpose of this document is to provide specific recommendations on the diagnostic evaluation and management of syncope. The document is divided into four parts: (1) classification, epidemiology and prognosis; (2) diagnosis; (3) treatment; and (4) special issues in evaluating patients with syncope. Each part reviews background information and summarizes the relevant literature. The details of pathophysiology and mechanisms of various aetiologies were considered to lie outside the scope of this document. Although the document encompasses many of the important aspects of syncope, the panel recommendations focused on the following main questions:

- 1. What are the diagnostic criteria for the causes of syncope?
- 2. What is the preferred approach to the diagnostic work-up in various subgroups of patients with syncope?
- 3. How should patients with syncope be risk stratified?
- 4. When should patients with syncope be hospitalized?
- 5. Which treatments are likely to be effective in preventing syncopal recurrences?

Method

The methodology for writing this document consisted of literature reviews and consensus development by the panel assembled by the European Society of Cardiology. The European Society of Cardiology guidelines for the management (diagnosis and treatment) of syncope were published in August 2001 [1]. Since then, numerous clinical trials and observational studies have been published or presented, some of which alter the recommendations made in the original document.

Therefore, the Task Force on Syncope of the European Society of Cardiology met in August 2002 and developed a comprehensive outline of the issues that needed to be revised in the document. Subgroups of the panel were formed and each was assigned the task of reviewing the literature on specific topics and of developing a draft summarizing the issue. Each subgroup was to perform literature searches on MEDLINE and to supplement the search by documents from their personal collections. The panel reconvened in September 2003, reviewed the draft documents, made revisions whenever appropriate and developed the consensus recommendations. The panel discussed each recommendation and arrived at consensus by obtaining a majority vote. When there was divergence of opinion, this was noted. Since the goal of the project was to provide specific recommendations for diagnosis and management, guidelines are provided even when the data from the literature was not definitive. It must be pointed out that most of the recommendations are based on consensus expert opinion. All the members of the panel reviewed final drafts and approved the final document.

With respect to the initial document, the following sections (and recommendations) were widely revised in the 2004 update:

- Classification of transient loss of consciousness
- Epidemiological and prognostic considerations
- Initial evaluation and diagnostic flow
- Prolonged electrocardiographic monitoring
- Electrophysiological study
- ATP test
- Ventricular signal averaged electrocardiogram, T wave alternans
- Exercise testing
- Neurological and psychiatric evaluation
- Treatment of neurally-mediated (reflex) syncope
- Syncope in the older adult
- Syncope in paediatric patients
- Driving and syncope
- Glossary of terms.

Furthermore, since the strategies for the assessment of syncope vary widely among physicians and among hospitals in Europe, we recognised the need to coordinate the evaluation of syncope. We sought to define ESC standards for the management of syncope and we proposed a model of organization for the evaluation of the syncope patient. A new section was thus added to the document on this topic.

A major issue in the use of diagnostic tests is that syncope is a transient symptom and not a disease. Typically patients are asymptomatic at the time of evaluation and the opportunity to capture a spontaneous event during diagnostic testing is rare. As a result, the diagnostic evaluation has focused on physiological states that could cause loss of consciousness. This type of reasoning leads, of necessity, to uncertainty in establishing a cause. In other words, the causal relationship between a diagnostic abnormality and syncope in a given patient is often presumptive. Uncertainty is further compounded by the fact that there is a great deal of variation in how physicians take a history and perform a physical examination, the types of tests requested and how they are interpreted. These issues make the diagnostic evaluation of syncope inordinately difficult. Consequently, there is a need for specific criteria for diagnosis from history and physical examination, and clear-cut guidelines for choosing tests, test abnormalities and how to use the results in establishing a cause of syncope. This document has tried to provide specific criteria by using the literature as well as a consensus of the panel.

A further concern about tests used for evaluation of the aetiology of syncope is that measurements of test sensitivity are not possible because of a lack of reference or gold standard for most of the tests employed for this condition. Since syncope is an episodic symptom, a reference standard could be an abnormality observed during a spontaneous event. This is possible, for instance, if syncope occurred concurrently with an arrhythmia detected by an implantable loop recorder. However, most of the time decisions have to be made based on the patient's history or abnormal findings during asymptomatic periods. To overcome the lack of a gold standard, the diagnostic yield of many tests in syncope has been assessed indirectly by evaluating the reduction of syncopal recurrences after administration of the specific therapy suggested by the results of the tests which were diagnostic.

A major problem with the literature on syncope is that it has been defined variably in the past. Definitions did not always include a restriction that transient loss of consciousness should be due to cerebral hypoperfusion, with the result that many other causes of loss of consciousness could also be interpreted as 'syncope', including concussion, vertebrobasilar TIAs and epilepsy, or even stroke, hardly ever even associated with unconsciousness. In many cases it was not clear whether 'syncope' was interpreted in this very wide sense, here 'transient loss of consciousness' (TLOC), or was used in the restricted sense as in these guidelines. Obviously, mixing epilepsy, concussion or even stroke with syncope proper seriously detracts from the value of epidemiological and prognostic estimates.

The literature on syncope testing is largely composed of case series, cohort studies, or retrospective analyses of already existing data. The impact of testing on guiding therapy and reducing syncopal recurrences is difficult to discern from these methods of research without randomization and blinding. Because of these issues, the panel performed full reviews of the literature for diagnostic tests but did not use predefined criteria for selection of articles to be reviewed. Additionally, the panel did not feel that an evidence-based summary of the literature was possible.

In assessing treatment of syncope, this document reviews the few randomised-controlled trials that have been reported. For various diseases and disorders with known treatments (e.g., orthostatic hypotension, sick sinus syndrome) those therapies are reviewed and recommendations are modified for patients with syncope. Most studies of treatment have used a non-randomized design and many even lack a control group. The interpretation of these studies is very difficult but their results were used in summary recommendations of treatment.

The strength of recommendations has been ranked as follows:

- Class I, when there is evidence for and/or general agreement that the procedure or treatment is useful. Class I recommendations are generally those reported in the sections labelled as 'Recommendations' and in the tables.
- Class II, when usefulness of the procedure or treatment is less well established or divergence of opinion exists among the members of the Task Force.
- Class III, when the procedure or treatment is not useful and in some cases may be harmful.

The strength of evidence supporting a particular procedure/treatment option has been ranked as follows:

- Level of Evidence A=Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials or metaanalyses
- Level of Evidence B=Data derived from a single randomized trial or multiple non-randomized studies
- Level of Evidence C=Consensus Opinion of experts.

When not expressed otherwise, evidence is of type C

Part 1. Classification, epidemiology and prognosis

Definition

Syncope (derived from the Greek words, 'syn' meaning 'with' and the verb 'kopto' meaning 'I cut' or more appropriately in this case 'I interrupt') is a symptom, defined as a transient, self-limited loss of consciousness, usually leading to falling. The onset of syncope is relatively rapid, and the subsequent recovery is spontaneous, complete, and usually prompt [2–5]. The underlying mechanism is a transient global cerebral hypoperfusion.

In some forms of syncope there may be a premonitory period in which various symptoms (e.g., light-headedness, nausea, sweating, weakness, and visual disturbances) offer warning of an impending syncopal event. Often, however, loss of consciousness occurs without warning. Recovery from syncope is usually accompanied by almost immediate restoration of appropriate behaviour and orientation. Retrograde amnesia, although believed to be uncommon, may be more frequent than previously thought, particularly in older individuals. Sometimes the post-recovery period may be marked by fatigue.

An accurate estimate of the duration of syncope episodes is rarely obtained. However, typical syncopal episodes are brief. Complete loss of consciousness in vasovagal syncope is usually no longer than 20 s in duration. In one videometric study of 56 episodes of shortlasting severe cerebral hypoxia in adolescents induced by instantaneous deep fall in systemic pressure using the 'mess trick' syncope occurred in all without any premonitory symptoms and myoclonic jerks were present in 90 percent; the syncope duration averaged 12 s (range 5–22) [4]. However, rarely syncope duration may be longer, even lasting for several minutes. In such cases, the differential diagnosis between syncope and other causes of loss of consciousness can be difficult [5].

Pre-syncope or near-syncope refers to a condition in which patients feel as though syncope is imminent. Symptoms associated with pre-syncope may be relatively non-specific (e.g., 'dizziness'), and tend to overlap with those associated with the premonitory phase of true syncope described earlier.

Brief overview of pathophysiology of syncope

Specific factors resulting in syncope vary from patient-to-patient, but several general principles are worthy of note.

In healthy younger individuals with cerebral blood flow in the range of 50-60 ml/100 g tissue/min – that represents about 12–15 percent of resting cardiac output – minimum oxygen requirements necessary to sustain consciousness (approximately $3.0-3.5 \text{ ml } O_2/100 \text{ g}$ tissue/min) are easily achieved [6]. However, in older individuals, or those with underlying disease conditions, the safety margin for oxygen delivery may be more tenuous [7,8].

Cerebral perfusion pressure is largely dependent on systemic arterial pressure. Thus, any factor that decreases either cardiac output or total peripheral vascular resistance diminishes systemic arterial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure [9]. In regard to cardiac output, the most important physiological determinant is venous filling (pre-load). Therefore, excessive pooling of blood in dependent parts of the body or diminished blood volume may predispose to syncope. Cardiac output may also be impaired due to bradyarrhythmias, tachyarrhythmias, or valvular disease. In terms of peripheral vascular resistance, widespread and excessive vasodilatation may play a critical role in decreasing arterial pressure (a main cause of fainting in the reflex syncopal syndromes). Vasodilatation also occurs during thermal stress. Impaired capacity to increase vascular tone during standing is the cause of orthostatic hypotension and syncope in patients taking vasoactive drugs and in patients with autonomic neuropathies [10]. Cerebral hypoperfusion may also result from an abnormally high cerebral vascular resistance. Low carbon dioxide tension is probably the main cause, but sometimes the cause remains unknown.

A sudden cessation of cerebral blood flow for 6-8 s has been shown to be sufficient to cause complete loss of consciousness [2]. Experience from tilt testing showed that a decrease in systolic blood pressure to 60 mmHg is associated with syncope [11]. Further, it has been estimated that as little as a 20 percent drop in cerebral oxygen delivery is sufficient to cause loss of consciousness [2]. In this regard, the integrity of a number of control mechanisms is crucial for maintaining adequate cerebral oxygen delivery, including: (a) cerebrovascular 'autoregulatory' capability, which permits cerebral blood flow to be maintained over a relatively wide range of perfusion pressures; (b) local metabolic and chemical control which permits cerebral vasodilatation to occur in the presence of either diminished pO_2 or elevated pCO_2 ; (c) arterial baroreceptor-induced adjustments of heart rate, cardiac contractility, and systemic vascular resistance, which modify systemic circulatory dynamics in order to protect cerebral flow; (d) and vascular volume regulation, in which renal and hormonal influences help to maintain central circulating volume.

Whatever the mechanism, a transient global cerebral hypoperfusion to critical values induces a syncopal episode. Risk of failure is greatest in the elderly or critically ill patients [5,11]. Ageing alone has been associated with diminution of cerebral blood flow [7]. Additionally, certain common disease states may diminish cerebral blood flow protection. For example, hypertension has been associated with a shift of the autoregulatory range to higher pressures, while diabetes alters the chemoreceptor responsiveness of the cerebrovas-cular bed [8].

Classification

Syncope must be differentiated from other 'nonsyncopal' conditions associated with real or apparent transient loss of consciousness (Fig. 1). Tables 1.1 and 1.2 provide a pathophysiological classification of the principal known causes of transient loss of consciousness. The subdivision of syncope is based on pathophysiology as follows:

 'Neurally-mediated (reflex) syncope' refers to a reflex response that, when triggered, gives rise to vasodilatation and/or bradycardia; however the contribution of each of these two factors to systemic hypotension and cerebral hypoperfusion may differ considerably. The triggering events might vary considerably in individual patients. The 'classical vasovagal syncope' is



Figure 1 Classification of transient loss of consciousness.

Table 1.1 Causes of syncope

Neurally-mediated (reflex)

- Vasovagal syncope (common faint)
 - classical
 - non-classical
- Carotid sinus syncope
- Situational syncope
 - acute haemorrhage
 - cough, sneeze
 - gastrointestinal stimulation (swallow, defaecation, visceral pain)
 - micturition (post-micturition)
 - post-exercise
 - post-prandial
 - others (e.g., brass instrument playing, weightlifting)
- Glossopharyngeal neuralgia

Orthostatic hypotension

- Autonomic failure
 - primary autonomic failure syndromes (e.g., pure autonomic failure, multiple system atrophy, Parkinson's disease with autonomic failure)
 - secondary autonomic failure syndromes (e.g., diabetic neuropathy, amyloid neuropathy)
 - post-exercise
 - post-prandial
- Drug (and alcohol)-induced orthostatic syncope
- Volume depletion
 - haemorrhage, diarrhoea, Addison's disease

Cardiac arrhythmias as primary cause

- Sinus node dysfunction (including bradycardia/ tachycardia syndrome)
- Atrioventricular conduction system disease
- Paroxysmal supraventricular and ventricular tachycardias
- Inherited syndromes (e.g., long QT syndrome, Brugada syndrome)
- Implanted device (pacemaker, ICD) malfunction
- drug-induced proarrhythmias

Structural cardiac or cardiopulmonary disease

- Cardiac valvular disease
- Acute myocardial infarction/ischaemia
- Obstructive cardiomyopathy
- Atrial myxoma
- Acute aortic dissection
- Pericardial disease/tamponade
- Pulmonary embolus/pulmonary hypertension

Cerebrovascular

Vascular steal syndromes

473

Table 1.2Causes of non-syncopal attacks (commonly misdiagnosed as syncope)

Disorders without any impairment of consciousness • Falls

- Cataplexy
- Drop attacks
- Psychogenic pseudo-syncope
- Transient ischaemic attacks (TIA) of carotid origin

Disorders with partial or complete loss of consciousness

- Metabolic disorders, including hypoglycaemia, hypoxia, hyperventilation with hypocapnia
- Epilepsy
- Intoxications
- Vertebro-basilar transient ischaemic attack

mediated by emotional or orthostatic stress and can be diagnosed by history taking. 'Carotid sinus syncope' is defined as syncope which, by history, seems to occur in close relationship to accidental mechanical manipulation of the carotid sinuses, and which can be reproduced by carotid sinus massage. 'Situational syncope' refers to those forms of neurally-mediated syncope associated with specific scenarios (e.g., micturition, coughing, defaecating, etc.). Often, however, neurally-mediated reflex syncopes have 'non-classical' presentations. These forms are diagnosed by minor clinical criteria, exclusion of other causes for syncope (absence of structural heart disease) and positive response to tilt testing or carotid sinus massage. Examples of non-classical vasovagal syncope include episodes without clear triggering events or premonitory symptoms.

- 'Orthostatic hypotension' refers to syncope in which the upright position (most often the movement from sitting or lying to an upright position) causes arterial hypotension. This occurs when the autonomic nervous system is incapacitated and fails to respond to the challenges imposed by upright posture. A second major cause is 'volume depletion' in which the autonomic nervous system is itself not deranged, but is unable to maintain blood pressure due to decreased circulating volume. Note that vasovagal syncope can also be provoked by standing (e.g., soldiers fainting on parade), but these events are grouped under 'neurally-mediated (reflex) syncope'.
- 'Cardiac arrhythmias' can cause a decrease in cardiac output, which usually occurs irrespectively of circulatory demands.
- 'Structural heart disease' can cause syncope when circulatory demands outweigh the

impaired ability of the heart to increase its output.

• 'Steal' syndromes can cause syncope when a blood vessel has to supply both part of the brain and an arm.

Several disorders may resemble syncope in two different ways. In some, consciousness is truly lost, but the mechanism is something other than cerebral hypoperfusion. Examples are epilepsy, several metabolic disorders (including hypoxia and, hypoglycaemia) and intoxications. In several other disorders, consciousness is only apparently lost; this is the case in 'psychogenic pseudo-syncope', cataplexy and drop attacks. In psychogenic pseudosyncope patients may pretend to be unconscious when they are not. This condition can be seen in the context of factitious disorders, malingering and conversion. Finally, some patients may voluntarily trigger true syncope in themselves to attract attention, as a game, or to obtain some other advantage. Table 1.2 lists the most common conditions misdiagnosed as the cause of syncope. A differentiation such as this is important because the clinician is usually confronted with patients with sudden loss of consciousness (real or apparent) which may be due to causes not associated with decreased cerebral blood flow such as seizure and/or conversion reaction.

Note that the term 'syncope' should only be used when cerebral hypoperfusion was at least likely to have caused the loss of consciousness. If this is not the case, and no other cause is at least probable, then the term 'transient loss of consciousness' should be used to avoid limiting the scope of diagnostic thinking (see the 'glossary of terms').

A major limitation of this classification is the fact that more than one pathophysiological factor may contribute to the symptoms. For instance, in the setting of valvular aortic stenosis or left ventricular outflow tract obstruction, syncope is not solely the result of restricted cardiac output, but may be in part due to inappropriate neurally mediated reflex vasodilation and/or primary cardiac arrhythmias [12]. Similarly, a neural reflex component (preventing or delaying vasoconstrictor compensation) appears to play an important role when syncope occurs in association with certain brady- and tachyarrhythmias [13–15].

Epidemiological considerations

Numerous studies have examined epidemiological aspects of syncope and delineated the multiple potential causes of syncope. However, some reports

have focused on relatively select populations such as the military or tertiary care medical centres or solitary medical practices. For example, a survey of 3000 United States Air Force personnel (average age 29 years) revealed that 27% had experienced a syncopal spell during their lifetime [16]. Application of these findings to medical practice is limited not only by the nature of the environment in which patients were enroled, but also the variable manner in which symptoms were evaluated.

In terms of studies examining a broad population sample, the Framingham Study (in which biennial examinations were carried out from 1971 to 1998 in 7814 free-living individuals) 822 (10.5%) reported at least one syncopal event during an average of 17 years [17]. The incidence of a first report of syncope was 6.2 per 1000 person-years. Assuming a constant incidence rate over time, the authors calculated a 10-year cumulative incidence of syncope of 6%; this means a 42% prevalence of syncope during the life of a person living 70 years. However, the incidence was not constant, but increased more rapidly starting at the age of 70 years. Indeed, it was 11 per 1000 person-years for both men and women at the age of 70-79 and 17 per 1000 person-years for men and 19 per 1000 person-years for women at the age \geq 80.

Among the elderly confined to long-term care institutions, the annual incidence may be as high as 6% with a recurrence rate of 30% [18]. Several reports indicate that syncope is common presenting problem in the health care settings accounting for 3% to 5% of emergency room visits and 1% to 3% of hospital admissions [19–21]. Other studies in specific populations provide insight into the relative frequency with which syncope may occur in certain settings. Several of these reports may be summarized as follows:

- 15% of children before the age of 18 [22]
- 25% of a military population aged 17-26 [23]
- 20% of air force personnel aged 17-46 [24]
- 39% of young medical students (median age of 21 years) with a prevalence in females twice as high than in males [25]
- 16% during a 10-year period in men aged 40-59
 [26]
- 19% during a 10-year period in women aged 40-49 [26]
- 23% during a 10-year period in elderly people (age > 70) [18].

However, the majority of these individuals probably do not seek medical evaluation.

In summary, even if some variability in prevalence and incidence of syncope is reported, the majority of studies suggest that syncope is a common problem in the community, long-term care institutions, and in health care delivery settings.

Prognostic evaluation

Mortality

In the Framingham study [17], the participants with syncope from any cause, compared with those who did not have syncope, had 1.31 increased risk of death from any cause, 1.27 for non-fatal myocardial infarction or death from coronary heart disease, and 1.06 for fatal or non-fatal stroke. Patients with cardiac syncope had the highest risk of death from any cause (hazard ratio of 2.1) and cardiovascular events (hazard ratio of 2.66). Studies in the 1980s showed that one-year mortality of patients with cardiac syncope was consistently higher (ranging between 18 and 33%) than patients with non-cardiac cause (0-12%) or unexplained syncope (6%) [19,20,27-29]. One-year incidence of sudden death was 24% in patients with a cardiac cause compared with 3–4% in the other two groups [28,29]. When adjustments were made for differences in baseline rates of heart and other diseases, cardiac syncope was still an independent predictor of mortality and sudden death [28,29]. However, a more recent study [30] directly compared the outcomes of patients with syncope with matched control subjects without syncope. Although patients with cardiac syncope had higher mortality rates compared with those of non-cardiac or unknown causes, patients with cardiac causes did not have a higher mortality when compared with their matched controls that had similar degrees of heart disease. This study showed that presence of structural heart disease was the most important predictor of mortality. In a selected population of patients with advanced heart failure and a mean ejection fraction of 20%, the patients with syncope had a higher risk of sudden death (45% at 1 year) than those without (12% at 1 year); admittedly, the risk of sudden death was similarly high in patients with either supposed cardiac syncope or syncope from other causes [31].

Structural heart disease is a major risk factor for sudden death and overall mortality in patients with syncope. The association of syncope with aortic stenosis has long been recognised as having an average survival without valve replacement of 2 years [32]. Similarly, in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, the combination of young age, syncope at diagnosis, severe dyspnoea and a family history of sudden death best predicted sudden death [33]. In arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, patients with syncope or symptomatic ventricular tachycardia have a similarly poor prognosis [34]. Patients with ventricular tachyarrhythmias have higher rates of mortality and sudden death but the excess mortality rates depend on underlying heart disease; patients with severe ventricular dysfunction have the worst prognosis [35]. Some of the cardiac causes of syncope do not appear to be associated with increased mortality. These include most types of supraventricular tachycardias and sick sinus syndrome.

A number of subgroups of patients who have an excellent prognosis can be identified:

- Young healthy individuals without heart disease and normal ECG. The 1-year mortality and sudden death rates in young patients (less than 45 years of age) without heart disease and normal ECG is low [36]. Although comparisons have not been made with age and sex matched controls, there is no evidence that these patients have an increased mortality risk. Many of these patients have neurally mediated syncope or unexplained syncope.
- Neurally mediated syncope. A large number of cohort studies in which the diagnosis has been established using tilt testing show that the mortality at follow-up of patients with neurally mediated syncope is near 0% [37]. Most of these patients had normal hearts. None of these studies report patients who died suddenly. In the Framingham study [17], there was no increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity or mortality associated with vasovagal (including orthostatic and medication-related) syncope during an average 17-year follow-up.
- Orthostatic hypotension. The mortality rates of patients with orthostatic hypotension depend on the causes of this disorder. Some causes (e.g., volume depletion, drug induced) are transient problems that respond to treatment and do not have long-term consequences. Other diseases causing primary and secondary autonomic failure have long-term consequences and may potentially increase mortality depending on the severity of the underlying disease. In elderly patients with orthostatic hypotension, the prognosis is largely determined by co-morbid illnesses.

Syncope of unknown cause is a heterogeneous group at intermediate risk. The definition of unexplained syncope largely depends on the diagnostic accuracy employed. An approximately 5% first year mortality in patients with unexplained syncope has been a relatively consistent observation in the literature [19,20,28,29,38]. As referred to earlier [17], the participants with syncope of unknown cause, compared with those who did not have syncope, had 1.31 increased risk of death. The group of patients with unknown syncope, in general, is heterogeneous probably including patients with a benign cause of syncope as well as those with an undiagnosed cardiac cause. The consequence is that this group shows an intermediate risk between the cardiac and neurally-mediated groups. The remaining challenge is how to identify those who are at high risk of death although the presence or the absence of structural heart disease seems to be an important determinant of risk. Although the mortality is largely due to underlying co-morbidity, such patients continue to be at risk of physical injury, and may encounter employment and lifestyle restrictions.

Recurrences

Approximately 35% of patients have recurrences of syncope at 3 years of follow-up; 82% of recurrences occur within the first 2 years [29,39]. Predictors of recurrence of syncope include having had recurrent syncope at the time of presentation (four or more episodes in one study [39]) or a psychiatric diagnosis [39–41]. In one study [42], more than five lifetime episodes gave a 50% chance of recurrence in the following year. In another study [40], age \geq 45 years was also associated with higher rates of syncopal recurrence after controlling for other risk factors. After positive tilt table testing the patients with more than six syncopal spells had a risk of recurrence of >50% over 2 years [43].

Recurrences are not associated with increased mortality or sudden death rates, but patients with recurrent syncope have a poor functional status similar to patients with other chronic diseases.

Risk stratification

One study has developed and validated a clinical prediction rule for risk stratification of patients with syncope [36]. This study used a composite outcome of having cardiac arrhythmias as a cause of syncope or death (or cardiac death) within 1 year of follow-up. Four variables were identified and included age \geq 45 years, history of congestive heart failure, history of ventricular arrhythmias, and abnormal ECG (other than non-specific ST changes). Arrhythmias or death within 1 year occurred in 4–7% of patients without any of the risk factors and progressively increased to 58–80% in patients with three or more factors [34]. The

critical importance of identifying cardiac causes of syncope is that many of the arrhythmias and other cardiac diseases are now treatable with drugs and/ or devices.

Physical injury

Syncope may result in injury to the patient or to others such as may occur when a patient is driving. Major morbidity such as fractures and motor vehicle accidents were reported in 6% of patients and minor injury such as laceration and bruises in 29%. There are no data on the risk of injury to others. Recurrent syncope is associated with fractures and soft-tissue injury in 12% of patients [39].

Quality of life

A study that evaluated the impact of recurrent syncope on quality of life in 62 patients used the Sickness Impact Profile and found functional impairment similar to chronic illnesses such rheumatoid arthritis, low back pain, and psychiatric disorders [44]. Another study on 136 patients with unexplained syncope found impairment on all five dimensions measured by the EQ-5D instrument, namely Mobility, Usual activities, Self-care, Pain/ discomfort, Anxiety/depression. Furthermore there was a significant negative relationship between frequency of spells and overall perception of health [42].

Economic implications

Patients with syncope are often admitted to hospital and undergo expensive and repeated investigations, many of which do not provide a definite diagnosis. In a study, performed in 1982, patients often underwent multiple diagnostic tests despite which a cause of syncope was established in only 13 of 121 patients [45]. With the advent of newer diagnostic tests (e.g., tilt testing, wider use of electrophysiological testing, loop monitoring) it is likely that patients are undergoing a greater number of tests at considerably higher cost. In a recent study, based on administrative data from Medicare, there were estimated to be 193,164 syncope hospital discharges in 1993 in the USA [46]. The cost per discharge was calculated to \$4132 and increased to \$5281 for those patients who were readmitted for recurrent syncope. This figure underestimates the true total cost associated with syncope because many patients with syncope are not admitted to hospital for either investigation or therapy. In the UK [47] the overall cost per patient was £611, with 74% attributed to the costs of hospital stay alone.

Cost per diagnosis of patients admitted to hospital was £1080.

Part 2. Diagnosis

The diagnostic strategy based on the initial evaluation

Fig. 2 shows a flow diagram of an approach to the evaluation of transient loss of consciousness (TLOC).

Initial evaluation

The starting point for the evaluation of syncope is a careful history and physical examination including orthostatic blood pressure measurements. In most young patients without heart disease a definite diagnosis of neurally mediated syncope can be made without any further examination. Apart from this case, a 12-lead ECG should usually be part of the general evaluation of patients. This basic assessment will be defined as *Initial evaluation*.

Three key questions should be addressed during the initial evaluation:

- Is loss of consciousness attributable to syncope or not?
- Is heart disease present or absent?
- Are there important clinical features in the history that suggest the diagnosis?

Differentiating true syncope from other 'nonsyncopal' conditions associated with real or apparent transient loss of consciousness (TLOC) is generally the first diagnostic challenge and influences the subsequent diagnostic strategy (see classification in Part 1 and Table 2.1). The symptoms surrounding the loss of consciousness accurately discriminate between seizures and syncope [48]. Apart from the prognostic importance of the presence of heart disease (see Part 1, prognostic stratification), its absence excludes a cardiac cause of syncope with few exceptions. In a recent study [49], heart disease was an independent predictor of cardiac cause of syncope, with a sensitivity of 95% and a specificity of 45%; by contrast, the absence of heart disease allowed exclusion of a cardiac cause of syncope in 97% of the patients. Finally, accurate history taking alone may be diagnostic of the cause of syncope or may suggest the strategy of evaluation (see Part 2, initial evaluation). It must be pointed out that syncope may be one of the accompanying symptoms which occur at the presentation of



Figure 2 The flow diagram proposed by the Task Force on Syncope of an approach to the evaluation of loss of consciousness based on the initial evaluation. *Instruction for the use of the flow diagram*. Differentiating true syncope from other 'non-syncopal' conditions associated with real or apparent transient loss of consciousness is generally the first diagnostic step and influences the subsequent diagnostic strategy. For the classification of syncope refer to Table 1.1 and for the classification of non-syncopal attacks refer to Table 1.2. The conditions in which the results of the initial evaluation are diagnostic of the cause of syncope and no further evaluation is required are listed as recommendations in the section on "The initial evaluation". The features which suggest cardiac or neurally-mediated cause of syncope are listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3. Among cardiac investigations, echocardiography, prolonged electrocardiographic monitoring, stress test, electrophysiological study and implantable loop recorder are most useful. Among neurally-mediated investigations, tilt test, carotid sinus massage and implantable loop recorder are most useful. When a cardiac diagnosis cannot be confirmed, neurally-mediated tests are usually performed. Once the evaluation, as outlined, is completed and no cause of syncope is determined, re-appraisal of the work-up may be needed. BP=blood pressure; ECG=electrocardiogram.

certain diseases, such as aortic dissection, pulmonary embolism, acute myocardial infarction, outflow tract obstruction, etc. In these cases, priority must be given to specific and immediate treatment of the underlying condition. Those issues are not addressed by this report.

The initial evaluation may lead to certain or suspected diagnosis or no diagnosis (here termed as unexplained syncope).

Certain diagnosis

Initial evaluation may lead to a certain diagnosis based on symptoms, signs or ECG findings. The recommended diagnostic criteria are listed in the section under Initial Evaluation. Under such circumstances, no further evaluation of the disease or disorder may be needed and treatment, if any, can be planned.

Suspected diagnosis

More commonly, the initial evaluation leads to a suspected diagnosis, when one or more of the features listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 are present. The recommended diagnostic work-up is listed in the section under Initial evaluation. A suspected diagnosis needs to be confirmed by directed testing If a diagnosis is confirmed by specific testing, treatment may be initiated. On the other hand, if the diagnosis is not confirmed, then patients are considered to have unexplained syncope and are evaluated as follows.

Unexplained syncope

The initial evaluation may lead to no diagnosis (here termed as unexplained syncope). The strategy of evaluation varies according to the severity and frequency of the episodes. In patients with unexplained syncope the likely diagnosis is neurally-mediated. The tests for neurally mediated syncope consist of tilt testing and carotid massage. The majority of patients with single or rare episodes in this category probably have neurally mediated syncope and tests for confirmation are usually not necessary. If it is not clear that it was syncope, the term transient loss of consciousness (TLOC) is preferable and reappraisal is warranted.

Table 2.1 Important historical features

Questions about circumstances just prior to the attack

- Position (supine, sitting or standing)
- Activity (rest, change in posture, during or after exercise, during or immediately after urination, defaecation, cough or swallowing)
- Predisposing factors (e.g., crowded or warm places, prolonged standing, post-prandial period) and of precipitating events (e.g., fear, intense pain, neck movements)

Questions about onset of the attack

• Nausea, vomiting, abdominal discomfort, feeling of cold, sweating, aura, pain in neck or shoulders, blurred vision, dizziness

Questions about the attack (eyewitness)

• Way of falling (slumping or kneeling over), skin colour (pallor, cyanosis, flushing), duration of loss of consciousness, breathing pattern (snoring), movements (tonic, clonic, tonic-clonic or minimal myoclonus, automatism) and their duration, onset of movement in relation to fall, tongue biting;

Questions about the end of the attack

• Nausea, vomiting, sweating, feeling of cold, confusion, muscle aches, skin colour, injury, chest pain, palpitations, urinary or faecal incontinence

Questions about the background

- Family history of sudden death, congenital arrhythmogenic heart disease or fainting
- Previous cardiac disease
- Neurological history (Parkinsonism, epilepsy, narcolepsy)
- Metabolic disorders (diabetes, etc.)

episode and on the number of spells

- Medication (antihypertensive, antianginal, antidepressant agent, antiarrhythmic, diuretics
- and QT prolonging agents)
 (In case of recurrent syncope) Information on recurrences such as the time from the first syncopal

Re-appraisal

Once the evaluation, as outlined, is completed and no cause of syncope is determined, re-appraisal of the work-up is needed since subtle findings or new historical information may change the entire differential diagnosis. Re-appraisal may consist of obtaining details of history and re-examining patients as well as review of the entire work-up. If unexplored clues to possible cardiac or neurological disease are apparent, further cardiac and neurological assessment is recommended. In these circumstances, consultation with appropriate speciality services may be needed. An additional consideration is psychiatric illness. Psychiatric assessment is recommended in patients with Table 2.2Clinical features suggestive of specificcauses of real or apparent loss of consciousness

Neurally-mediated syncope

- Absence of cardiological disease
- Long history of syncope
- After sudden unexpected unpleasant sight, sound, smell or pain
- Prolonged standing or crowded, hot places
- Nausea, vomiting associated with syncope
- During the meal or in the absorptive state after a meal
- With head rotation, pressure on carotid sinus (as in tumours, shaving, tight collars)
- After exertion

Syncope due to orthostatic hypotension

- After standing up
- Temporal relationship with start of medication leading to hypotension or changes of dosage
- Prolonged standing especially in crowded, hot places
- Presence of autonomic neuropathy or Parkinsonism
- After exertion
- Cardiac syncopePresence of definite structural heart disease
- During exertion, or supine
- Preceded by palpitation
- Family history of sudden death

Cerebrovascular syncope

- With arm exercise
- Differences in blood pressure or pulse in the two arms

Syncope-like disorders (see text)

frequent recurrent syncope who have multiple other somatic complaints and initial evaluation raises concerns for stress, anxiety and possible other psychiatric disorders.

Diagnostic yield and prevalence of causes of syncope

Data from seven population based studies [19,20,27,29,41,50,51] showed that the history and physical examination identified a potential cause of syncope in 726 (45%) of 1607 patients whose primary disorder can be diagnosed. However, the diagnostic criteria for vasovagal syncope, which represent the most frequent cause of loss of consciousness, have been varied among studies. While some studies have used precipitating events for diagnosing vasovagal syncope, others have used only the presence of prodromal symptoms which may lack specificity.

The diagnostic yield of electrocardiography and rhythm recordings obtained in the emergency

Table 2.3ECG abnormalities suggesting an arrhythmic syncope

- Bifascicular block (defined as either left bundle branch block or right bundle branch block combined with left anterior or left posterior fascicular block)
- Other intraventricular conduction abnormalities (QRS duration ≥ 0.12 s)
- Mobitz I second degree atrioventricular block
- Asymptomatic sinus bradycardia (<50 beats/min), sinoatrial block or sinus pause \geq 3 s in the absence of negatively chronotropic medications
- Pre-excited QRS complexes
- Prolonged QT interval
- Right bundle branch block pattern with STelevation in leads V1–V3 (Brugada syndrome)
- Negative T waves in right precordial leads, epsilon waves and ventricular late potentials suggestive of arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia
- Q waves suggesting myocardial infarction

department is low, ranging between 1% and 11% (mean 7%) [19,27,29,51]. The most common diagnoses included ventricular tachycardia, bradyar-rhythmias and, less commonly, acute myocardial infarction.

Similarly routine blood tests (blood count and tests for electrolyte and glucose level) rarely yield diagnostically useful information. They usually confirm a clinical suspicion of hypoglycaemia, when loss of consciousness is associated with confusion, salivation, tremors, hunger, hyperadrenergic state and serum glucose value is <40 mg/dl. Syncope due to acute severe anaemia and bleeding may be diagnosed by clinical features and confirmed by a complete blood count.

The cause of syncope remains unknown despite a complete work-up in a substantial proportion of patients. For example, in five studies [19,27,29,50,51], performed in the 1980s, the cause of syncope could not be determined in 34% of cases (range 13–41%) and in four recent studies [49,52–54] the cause of syncope could not be determined in 20% of cases (range 17.5–26%).

The prevalence of the causes of syncope has been evaluated in six population-based studies of unselected patients [19,27,29,41,50,51] for a total of 1499 patients, performed in the 1980s. The most common cause was neurally-mediated and orthostatic hypotension which accounted for 381 cases (37%). The second most common cause was cardiac which accounted for 246 cases (17%) with a primary arrhythmic mechanism being responsible in 195 (13%). Neurological and psychiatric causes were found in 150 cases (10%). In four recent studies [49,52–54], for a total of 1640 patients, neurally-mediated and orthostatic hypotension accounted for 917 cases (56%). The second most common cause was cardiac which accounted for 233 cases (14%) with a primary arrhythmic mechanism being responsible in 182 (11%). Neurological and psychiatric causes were found in 155 cases (9%). Thus, the percentage of neurally-mediated syncope increased and that of unexplained syncope decreased compared with the older studies. In more recent studies there was a more extensive use of carotid sinus massage and tilt testing [49]. This suggests that when specific tests are used, reflex syncope or autonomic failure are even more frequent and that carotid sinus massage and tilt testing are useful to discover those particular forms when the history alone is not diagnostic.

Initial evaluation

The following section provides specific recommendations about how to use the history, physical examination and ECG for making certain or presumptive diagnoses of syncope.

History and physical examination

The history alone may be diagnostic of the cause of syncope or may suggest the strategy of evaluation. The clinical features of the presentation are most important, especially the factors that might predispose to syncope and its sequelae. Some attempts have been made to validate the diagnostic value of the history in prospective and casecontrol studies [5,27,41,48,49,55,56].

The important parts of the *history* are listed in Table 2.1. They are the key features in the diagnostic work-up of patients with syncope. When taking a history, all the items listed in Table 2.1 should be carefully sought.

Apart from being diagnostic, the history may guide the subsequent evaluation strategy. For example, a cardiac cause is more likely when syncope is preceded by palpitations or occurs in the supine position or during exercise. Conversely, a neurallymediated mechanism is likely when predisposing factors, precipitating events and accompanying symptoms are present and the patient has recurrent syncopal episodes over several years.

Physical findings that are useful in diagnosing syncope include cardiovascular and neurological signs and orthostatic hypotension. For example, the presence of a murmur or severe dyspnoea is indicative of structural heart disease and of a cardiac cause of syncope. Table 2.2 lists how to use the history and physical findings in suggesting various aetiologies.

Baseline electrocardiogram

An initial ECG is most commonly normal in patients with syncope. When abnormal, the ECG may disclose an arrhythmia associated with a high likelihood of syncope, or an abnormality which may predispose to arrhythmia development and syncope. Moreover, any abnormality of the baseline ECG is an independent predictor of cardiac syncope or increased mortality, suggesting the need for pursuing evaluation for cardiac causes in these patients. Equally important, a normal ECG is associated with a low risk of cardiac syncope as the cause, with a few possible exceptions, for example in case of syncope due to a paroxysmal atrial tachyarrhythmia.

Arrhythmias that are considered diagnostic of the cause of syncope are listed below. More commonly, the baseline ECG leads to a *suspected* cardiac arrhythmia, which needs to be confirmed by directed testing (Table 2.3).

Recommendations. Diagnosis: diagnostic criteria based on the initial evaluation

Class I:

The results of the initial evaluation (history, physical examination, orthostatic blood pressure measurements and ECG) are diagnostic of the cause of syncope in the following situations:

- Vasovagal syncope is diagnosed if precipitating events such as fear, severe pain, emotional distress, instrumentation or prolonged standing are associated with typical prodromal symptoms
- Situational syncope is diagnosed if syncope occurs during or immediately after urination, defaecation, cough or swallowing
- Orthostatic syncope is diagnosed when there is documentation of orthostatic hypotension associated with syncope or presyncope. Orthostatic blood pressure measurements are recommended after 5 min of lying supine, followed by measurements each minute, or more often, after standing for 3 min. Measurements may be continued for longer, if blood pressure is still falling at 3 min. If the patient does not tolerate standing for this period, the lowest systolic blood pressure during the upright posture should be recorded. A decrease in systolic blood pressure to <90 mmHg is defined as orthostatic hypotension regardless of whether or not symptoms occur [57]
- Cardiac ischaemia related syncope is diagnosed when symptoms are present with ECG evidence of acute ischaemia with or without myocardial infarction, independently of its mechanism.^a

- Arrhythmia related syncope is diagnosed by ECG when there is:
 - Sinus bradycardia <40 beats/min or repetitive sinoatrial blocks or sinus pauses >3 s
 - Mobitz II 2nd or 3rd degree atrioventricular block
 - Alternating left and right bundle branch block
 - Rapid paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia or ventricular tachycardia
 - Pacemaker malfunction with cardiac pauses.

^a Note. In the case of ischaemic syncope, the mechanism can be cardiac (low output or arrhythmia) or reflex (Bezold–Jarish reflex), but management is primarily that of ischaemia.

Recommendations. Diagnostic work-up based on the initial evaluation

When the mechanism of syncope is not evident, the presence of suspected or certain heart disease is associated with a higher risk of arrhythmias and a higher mortality at 1 year. In the patients with clinical features suggesting cardiac syncope listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 cardiac evaluation is recommended. Cardiac evaluation consists of echocardiography, stress testing, prolonged ECG monitoring (Holter, external or implantable loop recorder as appropriate) and electrophysiological study. If cardiac evaluation does not show evidence of arrhythmia as a cause of syncope, evaluation for neurally mediated syncope is recommended in those with recurrent or severe syncope.

In patients without suspected or certain heart disease, evaluation for neurally mediated syncope is recommended for those with recurrent or severe syncope. The tests for neurally mediated syncope consist of tilt testing and carotid massage and, if negative, prolonged ECG monitoring and implantable loop recorder. The majority of patients with single or rare episodes in this category probably have neurally mediated syncope and tests for confirmation are usually not necessary.

Specific indications

- Basic laboratory tests are only indicated if syncope may be due to loss of circulating volume, or if a syncope-like disorder with a metabolic cause is suspected.
- In patients with suspected heart disease, echocardiography, prolonged electrocardiographic monitoring and, if non-diagnostic, electrophysiological studies are recommended as first evaluation steps.
- In patients with palpitations associated with syncope, electrocardiographic monitoring and echocardiography are recommended as first evaluation steps.

- In patients with chest pain suggestive of ischaemia before or after loss of consciousness, stress testing, echocardiography, and electrocardiographic monitoring are recommended as first evaluation steps.
- In young patients without suspicion of heart or neurological disease and recurrent syncope, tilt testing and, in older patients, carotid sinus massage are recommended as first evaluation steps.
- In patients with syncope occurring during neck turning, carotid sinus massage is recommended at the outset.
- In patients with syncope during or after effort, echocardiography and stress testing are recommended as first evaluation steps.
- In patients with signs of autonomic failure or neurological disease a specific diagnosis should be made.
- In patients with frequent recurrent syncope who have multiple other somatic complaints and initial evaluation raises concerns for stress, anxiety and possible psychiatric disorders, psychiatric assessment is recommended.
- When the mechanism of syncope remains unclear after full evaluation, an implantable loop recorder is indicated in patients who have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 or a history of recurrent syncopes with injury.

Echocardiogram

Echocardiography is frequently used as a screening test to detect cardiac disease in patients with syncope. Although numerous published case reports have suggested an important role of echocardiography in disclosing the cause and/or mechanism of syncope, larger studies have shown that the diagnostic yield from echocardiography is low in the absence of clinical, physical or electrocardiographic findings suggestive of a cardiac abnormality [59-61]. In patients with syncope or pre-syncope and normal physical examination, the most frequent (from 4.6% to 18.5% of cases) finding is mitral valve prolapse [59]. This may be coincidental as both conditions are common. Other cardiac abnormalities include valvular diseases (most frequently aortic stenosis), cardiomyopathies, regional wall motion abnormalities suggestive of myocardial infarction, infiltrative heart diseases such as amyloidosis, cardiac tumours, aneurysms, atrial thromboembolism and other abnormalities [62–66]. Even if echocardiography alone is only seldom diagnostic, this test provides information about the type and severity of

underlying heart disease which may be useful for risk stratification. If moderate to severe structural heart disease is found, evaluation is directed toward a cardiac cause of syncope. On the other hand, in the presence of minor structural abnormalities detected by echocardiography, the probability of a cardiac cause of syncope may not be high, and the evaluation may proceed as in patients without structural heart disease.

Examples of heart disease in which cardiac syncope is likely include:

- cardiomyopathy with episodes of overt heart failure
- systolic dysfunction (ejection fraction <40%)
- ischaemic cardiomyopathy following an acute myocardial infarction
- right ventricular dysplasia
- hypertrophic cardiomyopathy
- congenital heart diseases
- cardiac tumours
- outflow tract obstruction
- pulmonary embolism
- aortic dissection.

Recommendations

Indications	Diagnosis
Class I: • Echocardiography is recommended in patients with syncope when cardiac disease is suspected in order to stratify the risk by assessing the cardiac substrate.	Class I: • Echocardiography only makes a diagnosis in severe aortic stenosis and atrial myxoma.

Carotid sinus massage

It has long been observed that pressure at the site where common carotid artery bifurcates produces a reflex slowing in heart rate and fall in blood pressure. In some patients with syncope, especially those >40 years, an abnormal response to carotid massage can be observed. A ventricular pause lasting 3 s or more and a fall in systolic blood pressure of 50 mm/Hg or more is considered abnormal and defines the carotid sinus hypersensitivity [67,68].

The carotid sinus reflex arc is composed of an afferent limb arising from the mechanoreceptors of the carotid artery and terminating in midbrain centres, mainly the vagus nucleus and the vasomotor centre. The efferent limb is via the vagus nerve and the parasympathetic ganglia to the sinus and atrioventricular nodes and via the sympathetic nervous system to the heart and the blood vessels. Whether the site of dysfunction resulting in a hypersensitive response to the massage is central at the level of brainstem nuclei or peripheral at the level of carotid baroreceptors is still a matter of debate [68–70].

Methodology and response to carotid sinus massage

Carotid sinus massage is a tool used to disclose carotid sinus syndrome in patients with syncope.

Protocol

In most studies the carotid sinus massage is performed in the supine position; in others, it is performed in both supine and upright positions (usually on a tilt table). Continuous electrocardiographic monitoring must be used. Continuous blood pressure monitoring, for which a non-invasive measurement device is best suited, should also be used as the vasodepressor response is rapid and cannot be adequately detected with devices which do not measure continuous blood pressure. After baseline measurements, the right carotid artery is firmly massaged for 5-10 s at the anterior margin of the sternocleomastoid muscle at the level of the cricoid cartilage. After one or two minutes a second massage is performed on the opposite side if the massage on one side failed to yield a 'positive' result. If an asystolic response is evoked, to assess the contribution of the vasodepressor component (which may otherwise be hidden) massage is usually repeated after intravenous administration of Atropine (1 mg or 0.02 mg/ kg body weight). Atropine administration is preferred to temporary dual chamber pacing as it is simple, non-invasive, and easily reproducible [71]. The response to carotid sinus massage is generally classified as cardioinhibitory (i.e., asystole), vasodepressive (fall in systolic blood pressure) or mixed. The mixed response is diagnosed by the association of an asystole of ≥ 3 s and a decline in systolic blood pressure of ≥ 50 mmHg on rhythm resumption from the baseline value.

There are two widely used methods of carotid sinus massage. In the first method, massage is performed only in the supine position and pressure is applied for no more than 5 s. A positive response is defined as a ventricular pause ≥ 3 s and/or a fall in systolic blood pressure ≥ 50 mmHg. Pooled data from four studies performed in elderly patients with syncope show a positive response rate of 35%

(235 of 663 patients) [72–75]. However, abnormal responses are also frequently observed in subjects without syncope. For example, an abnormal response was observed in 17–20% of patients affected by various types of cardiovascular diseases [76], and in 38% of patients with severe narrowing of the carotid arteries [77]. Moreover, the diagnosis may be missed in about one third of cases if only supine massage is performed [78,79].

In the second method, reproduction of spontaneous symptoms is required during carotid massage (80). Eliciting symptoms requires a longer period of massage (10 s) and massage performed in both supine and upright positions [81,82]. A positive response was observed in 49% of 100 patients with syncope of uncertain origin [83] and in 60% of elderly patients with syncope and sinus bradycardia [84], but only in 4% of 101 control patients without syncope pooled from three studies [82–84]. In an intrapatient comparison study [82], the 'method of symptoms' appears to carry a higher positivity rate (49% vs 41%) in patients with syncope and a lower positivity rate (5% vs 15%) in patients without syncope than the first method. In a large population of 1719 consecutive patients with syncope unexplained after the initial evaluation (mean age 66 ± 17 years), carotid sinus hypersensitivity was found in 56% and syncope was reproduced in 26% of cases [85]. Among the positive tests, the response was cardioinhibitory in 46%, mixed in 40% and vasodepressor in 14%. The positivity rate increased with age, ranging from 4% in patients <40 years to 41% in patients >80years. The test was positive only in the upright position in 49% of patients.

Whatever method is used, increasing importance has been given to the execution of the massage also in the upright position, usually using a tilt table [78,79,85,86]. Other than a higher positivity rate compared with supine massage only, the importance of performing upright massage is due to the better possibility of evaluating the magnitude of the vasodepressor component and of reproducing symptoms. Underestimated in the past, actually a vasodepressor component of the reflex is present in most patients with an asystolic response [86]. A correct determination of the vasodepressor component of the reflex is of practical importance for the choice of therapy. Indeed, pacemaker therapy has been shown to be less effective in mixed forms with an important vasodepressor component rather than in dominant cardioinhibitory forms [71,72].

In conclusion, carotid sinus syndrome is a frequent cause of syncope, especially in the elderly. The syndrome is misdiagnosed in half of the cases if the massage is not performed in the upright position.

Reproducibility

A concordance between abnormal and normal responses during a second carotid sinus massage was reported in 93% of cases [76]. In another study [81], a pause >3 s was repeatedly reproduced in all patients who were referred for implantation of pacemaker because of severe carotid sinus syndrome.

Complications

The main complications of carotid sinus massage are neurological [87]. In three studies, neurological complications were reported respectively in: 7 among 1600 patients (5000 massages) with an incidence of 0.45% [87], 11 in 4000 patients (16,000 massages) with an incidence of 0.28% [88], and in 3 among 1719 patients with an incidence of 0.17% [85].

Even if these complications are rare, carotid massage should be avoided in patients with previous transient ischaemic attacks or strokes within the past 3 months (except if carotid Doppler studies excluded significant stenosis) or in patients with carotid bruits [87]. Rarely carotid massage may elicit self-limited atrial fibrillation of little clinical significance [67,72]. Since asystole induced by the massage is self-terminating shortly after the end of the massage, no resuscitative measures are usually needed.

Personnel

As it carries potential hazards, the test should be performed by physicians who are aware that complications, especially neurological, may occur.

Relationship between carotid sinus massage and spontaneous syncope

The relationship between carotid sinus hypersensitivity and spontaneous, otherwise unexplained, syncope has been demonstrated by pre-post comparative studies, two controlled trials, and a prospective observational study (Level B). Pre-post comparisons were made by analysing the recurrence rates of syncope in patients treated by pacing in several non-randomized studies [89,90]. These studies show fewer recurrences at followup. One non-randomized comparative study of patients receiving a pacemaker and untreated patients showed syncope recurrence rates to be lower in paced than non-paced patients [91]. Brignole et al. [81] undertook a randomized study in 60 patients; 32 patients were assigned to the pacemaker arm and 28 to the 'no treatment'

group. After a mean follow up of 36 ± 10 months, syncope recurred in 9% of pacemaker group versus 57% in the untreated patients (p < 0.0002). Finally, in patients implanted with a pacemaker designed to detect asystolic episodes, long pauses (≥ 6 s) were detected in 53% of the patients during 2 years of follow-up, suggesting that a positive response to carotid massage predicts the occurrence of spontaneous asystolic episodes [92].

Recommendations	
Indications and methodology	Diagnosis
 Class I Carotid sinus massage is recommended in patients over age 40 years with syncope of unknown aetiology after the initial evaluation. If there is a risk of stroke due to carotid artery disease, massage should be avoided. Electrocardiographic monitoring and continuous blood pressure measurement during carotid massage is mandatory. Duration of massage for a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 10 s is recommended. Carotid massage should be performed with the patient both supine and erect. 	Class I • The procedure is considered positive if syncope is reproduced during or immediately after massage in presence of asystole longer than 3 s and/or a fall in systolic blood pressure of 50 mm of Hg or more. A positive response is diagnostic of the cause of syncope in the absence of any other competing diagnosis.

Tilt testing

Background

On moving from supine to erect posture there is a large gravitational shift of blood away from the chest to the distensible venous capacitance system below the diaphragm. This shift is estimated to total one half to one litre of thoracic blood and the bulk of the total change occurs in the first 10 s. In addition, with prolonged standing, the high capillary transmural pressure in dependent parts of the body causes a filtration of protein-free fluid into the interstitial spaces. It is estimated that this results in about a 15-20% (700 ml) decrease in plasma volume in 10 min in healthy humans [10]. As a consequence of this gravitationally induced blood pooling and the superimposed decline in plasma volume, the return of venous blood to the heart is reduced resulting in a rapid diminution of cardiac filling pressure and thereby in a decrease in stroke volume. Despite decreased cardiac output, a fall in mean arterial pressure is prevented by a compensatory vasoconstriction of the resistance and the capacitance vessels in the splanchnic, musculo-cutaneous, and renal vascular beds. Vasoconstriction of systemic blood vessels is the key factor in the maintenance of arterial blood pressure in the upright posture. Pronounced heart rate increases are insufficient to maintain cardiac output [10]. The rapid short-term adjustments to orthostatic stress are mediated exclusively by the neural pathways of the autonomic nervous system. During prolonged orthostatic stress, additional adjustments are mediated by the humoral limb of the neuroendocrine system [10]. The main sensory receptors involved in orthostatic neural reflex adjustments are the arterial mechanoreceptors (baroreceptors) located in the aortic arch and carotid sinuses. Mechanoreceptors located in the heart and the lungs (cardiopulmonary receptors) are thought to play a minor role. Reflex activation of central sympathetic outflow to the systemic blood vessels can be reinforced by local reflex mechanisms like the venoarteriolar reflex. The skeletal muscle pump and the respiratory pump play an important adjunctive role in the maintenance of arterial pressure in the upright posture by promoting venous return. The static increase in skeletal muscle tone induced by the upright posture opposes pooling of blood in limb veins even in the absence of movement of the subject [8]. Failure of the above discussed compensatory adjustments to orthostatic stress is thought to play a predominant role in a large number of patients with syncope. This forms the basis for the use of tilt testing in the evaluation of patients with syncope. There is a large body of literature on the mechanisms involved in vasovagal syncope induced by tilt testing. Yet many unanswered questions remain regarding the multiple potential causes and the underlying pathophysiology. The panel did not consider an extensive review of pathophysiology as one of the goals of the consensus process. Excellent reviews are available [93-96].

Tilt test protocols

In 1986 Kenny et al. [97] observed an abnormal response to tilt test in 10 of 15 patients with syncope of unknown origin. This response

consisted of hypotension and/or bradycardia. They also performed the test in 10 healthy controls without previous syncope, and an abnormal response was provoked in only one. In this study, the authors used an inclination of 60° during 60 min of tilt duration. Since then, tilt testing has been used extensively by many authors proposing different protocols for diagnostic, investigational and therapeutic purposes. Tilt testing protocols have varied with respect to many factors including the angle of tilting, time duration and the use of different provocative drugs.

In 1991, Fitzpatrick et al. [98] showed that the use of a bicycle saddle with the legs hanging free for tilt testing gave a low specificity when compared with footboard support. They also showed that tilting at an angle of less than 60° resulted in a low rate of positive responses. Analysing the time to positive responses, they reported a mean time of 24 ± 10 min and proposed 45 min of passive tilting as an adequate duration for the test since this incorporated the mean duration to syncope plus two standard deviations. This method is widely known as the Westminster protocol. They reported a rate of positive responses in patients with syncope of unknown origin of 75% and a specificity of 93%.

In 1989, Almquist et al. [99] and Waxman et al. [100] used intravenous isoprenaline tilt testing. In the study of Almquist [99], after 10 min of passive tilt test without drugs, patients were returned to the supine position and isoprenaline infusion at initial doses of 1 μ g/min was administered. When patients achieved a stable increase in heart rate they were tilted again. This manoeuvre was repeated at increasing doses up to 5 μ g/min. With this protocol 9 of 11 patients with syncope of unknown origin and negative electrophysiological study showed hypotension and/or bradycardia, whereas such responses were found in 2 of 18 control subjects. In 1992, Kapoor et al. [101] using an isoprenaline tilt test at 80°, in which the drug was administered in progressive doses from 1 to 5 μ g/min, without returning the patient to the supine position before each dose increase, reported a low specificity (between 45% and 65%). In 1995, Morillo et al. [102] and Natale et al. [103] proposed a 'shortened' low-dose isoprenaline tilt testing, in which, after 15-20 min of baseline tilt at 60-70°, incremental doses of isoprenaline designed to increase average heart rate by about 20–25% over baseline (usually <3 μ g/min) were administered without returning the patient to the supine position in one study, or returning to the supine position in the other. With this

protocol, the rate of positive responses was of 61% with a specificity of 92-93%.

In 1994, Raviele et al. [104] proposed the use of intravenous nitroglycerin infusion. With their protocol, 21 of 40 (53%) patients with syncope of unknown origin had positive responses with a specificity of 92%. Ten of 40 patients (25%), had progressive hypotension without bradycardia. This response was classified as an exaggerated response consisting of an excessive hypotensive effect of the drug. More recently, Raviele et al. [105] have used sublingual nitroglycerin instead of an intravenous infusion. After 45 min of baseline tilting, 0.3 mg of sublingual nitroglycerin was administered. With this protocol, the overall rate of positive responses in patients with syncope of unknown origin was 51% (25% with baseline tilt test and 26% after nitroglycerin administration) with a specificity of 94%. An exaggerated response was observed in 14% of patients and 15% of controls. The main advantage of sublingual nitroglycerin is that venous cannulation is not needed for the protocol. Oraii et al. [106], Raviele et al. [107] and Graham et al. [108] have compared the isoprenaline test with the nitroglycerin test, with similar rates of positive responses and specificity, but with a lower rate of side effects with nitroglycerin. The optimal duration of the unmedicated phase before the administration of sublingual nitroglycerin has not been fully established. Bartoletti et al. [109] compared the effect of an unmedicated phase of 45 min versus 5 min on the overall positive rate of the nitroglycerin test. The test with the short passive phase was associated with a significant reduction in the rate of positive responses, and they concluded, that at least some baseline unmedicated tilt testing is needed. Recently, many authors have used a shortened protocol using 400 µg nitroglycerin spray sublingually after a 20 min baseline phase. Pooled data from three studies [110-112] using this protocol, in a total of 304 patients, showed a positive response rate of 69% which was similar to the positive rate of 62% observed in another 163 patients from three studies [109,112–113] using a passive phase duration of 45 min and 400 μ g nitroglycerin spray administration. With this protocol, specificity remained high, being 94% in 97 controls [110-112]. Thus a 20 min passive phase before nitroglycerin administration appears to be an alternative to the more prolonged 45 min passive phase. This method is known as the Italian protocol. Sensitivity and specificity values are also similar in the older patients but the older patients have more exaggerated responses than younger [114]. The difficulty of a clear cut distinction between exaggerated and positive responses partly gives an explanation of the lower specificity values reported by some recent reports [108,115].

Clomipramine, a central serotoninergic agent, is another provocative agent. The drug is given intravenously administered during the first 5 min of tilting at a dose of 5 mg (1 mg/min). Following this, the patients remain in the upright position for a further 15 min or until syncope occurs [116,117]. Thus the test is time-saving. Its sensitivity ranged between 64% and 83%, the specificity was 93%. Further experience is needed before the test can become widely accepted.

Other drugs used as provocative agents during tilt testing include isosorbide dinitrate [118,119], edrophonium [120,121], and adenosine; the latter is discussed in another section.

Irrespective of the exact protocol, some general measures may be suggested when tilt testing is performed. Many of the following rules were published in 1996 as an expert consensus document [122]. The room where the test is performed should be quiet and with dim lights. The patients should fast for at least 2 h before the test. The patients should be in a supine position 20-45 min before tilting. This time interval was proposed to decrease the likelihood of a vasovagal reaction in response to venous cannulation [123,124]. With the protocols that do not use venous cannulation, time in supine position before tilting can be reduced to 5 min. Continuous beat-to-beat finger arterial blood pressure should be monitored non-invasively. Invasive measurements of arterial blood pressure can affect the specificity of the test, especially in the elderly [123] and in children [124]. Although intermittent measurement of pressure using a sphygmomanometer is less desirable, it is an accepted method of testing and is widely used in clinical practice, especially in children. The tilt table should be able to achieve the upright position smoothly and rapidly and to reset to the supine position quickly (<10 s) when the test is completed in order to avoid the consequences of prolonged loss of consciousness. Only tilt tables with footboard support are appropriate for syncope evaluation. An experienced nurse or medical technician should be in attendance during the entire procedure. The need for a physician to be present throughout the tilt test procedure is less well established because the risk to patients of such testing is very low. Therefore, it is sufficient that a physician is in proximity and immediately available should a problem arise.

Recommendations. Tilt test protocols

Class I

- Supine pre-tilt phase of at least 5 min when no venous cannulation is performed, and at least 20 min when cannulation is undertaken.
- Tilt angle is 60-70°.
- Passive phase of a minimum of 20 min and a maximum of 45 min.
- Use of either intravenous isoproterenol/ isoprenaline or sublingual nitroglycerin for drug provocation if passive phase has been negative. Drug challenge phase duration of 15–20 min.
- For isoprenaline, an incremental infusion rate from 1 up to 3 μ g/min in order to increase average heart rate by about 20–25% over baseline, administered without returning the patient to the supine position.
- For nitroglycerin, a fixed dose of 400 µg nitroglycerin spray sublingually administered in the upright position.
- The end-point of the test is defined as induction of syncope or completion of the planned duration of tilt including drug provocation. The test is considered positive if syncope occurs.

Responses to the tilt test

Experience from tilt testing showed that in general the vasovagal reaction lasts roughly 3 min or less before causing loss of consciousness [125,126]. A decrease in systolic blood pressure to below 90 mmHg is associated with symptoms of impending syncope [127,128] and to below 60 mmHg is associated with syncope [11,127]. Prodromal symptoms are present in virtually all cases of tilt-induced vasovagal syncope, which occurs, on average, 1 min after the onset of prodromal symptoms [127,128]. During the prodromal phase, blood pressure falls markedly; this fall frequently precedes the decrease in heart rate, which may be absent at least at the beginning of this phase [126–128].

In 1992, Sutton et al. [125], using the details of haemodynamic responses to tilt testing, proposed a classification of the positive responses, which has recently been modified [126]. This classification is shown in Table 2.4.

Since the decision to terminate tilting influences the type of responses [129], some authors propose to interrupt tilting at the precise occurrence of loss of consciousness with simultaneous loss of postural tone [126]. Premature interruption underestimates and delayed interruption overestimates the cardioinhibitory response and exposes the patient to the consequences of prolonged loss of consciousness. However, a consensus does not exist in this regard and many physicians consider a steadily falling blood pressure accompanied by symptoms sufficient to stop the test.

Some authors [104,105,126,130] have analyzed the behaviour of blood pressure and heart rate during the period of upright position which precedes the onset of the vasovagal reaction. Different patterns have been recognized. To summarize, two of these are the most frequent. The typical pattern is characterized by an initial phase of rapid and full compensatory reflex adaptation to the upright position resulting in a stabilization of blood pressure and heart rate (which suggests normal baroreflex function) to the time of an abrupt onset of the vasovagal reaction. The patients with this pattern are largely those young and healthy; they have a long history of several syncopal episodes; in many cases the first syncopal episodes occurred in the teenage years; secondary trauma is infrequent. This pattern, also-called 'Classic', is felt to represent a 'hypersensitive' autonomic system that over-responds to various stimuli. Conversely, a different pattern is frequently observed that is characterized by inability to obtain a steady-state adaptation to the upright position and, therefore, a progressive fall in blood pressure and heart rate occurs until the onset of symptoms. The cause of symptoms in this case seems to be a compromised capability to adapt promptly to some external influences ('hyposensitive' autonomic function). Different subtypes have been described with slight differences between them. The patients affected are dominantly old and many have associated diseases; they have a short history of syncope with few episodes per patient; syncopal episodes begin late in life, suggesting they are due to the occurrence of some underlying dysfunction. This pattern resembles that seen in patients with autonomic failure and suggests that an overlap between the typical vasovagal syncope and more complex disturbances of the autonomic nervous system exists. Tilt testing can be useful to discriminate between these two syndromes.

Role of tilt test for assessing the effectiveness of the treatment

In order to use tilt testing effectively in the evaluation of the therapeutic options, two conditions are needed: a high reproducibility of the test and responses to tilt testing that are predictive of outcomes at follow-up. The reproducibility of tilt testing has been widely studied [131–135]. The overall reproducibility of an initial negative response (85-94%) is higher than the reproducibility of an initial positive response (31-92%). In addition, data from controlled trials

showed that approximately 50% of patients with a baseline positive tilt test became negative when the test was repeated with treatment or with placebo [136–138]. The mechanism of tilt-induced syncope was frequently different from that of the spontaneous syncope recorded with the implantable loop recorder [139]. Moreover, acute studies were not predictive of the long-term outcome of pacing therapy [140]. These data show that the use of tilt testing for assessing the effectiveness of different treatments has important limitations (Level A). is advised in cases of prolonged syncope; brief resuscitation manoeuvres are seldom needed. Case reports have documented life-threatening ventricular arrhythmias with isoprenaline in the presence of ischaemic heart disease [142] or sick sinus syndrome [143]. No complications have been published with the use of nitroglycerin. Minor side effects are common and include palpitations with isoprenaline and headache with nitroglycerin. Atrial fibrillation can be induced during or after a positive tilt test and is usually self-limited [144].

Diagnosis
 Class I In patients without structural heart disease, tilt testing can be considered diagnostic, and no further tests need to be performed when spontaneous syncope is reproduced.
 In patients with structural heart disease, arrhythmias or other cardiac causes should be excluded prior to considering positive tilt test results as evidence suggesting neurally mediated syncope.
Class II • The clinical meaning of abnormal responses other than induction of syncope is unclear.

of complications is very low. Although asystolic pauses as long as 73 s have been reported [141] the presence of such prolonged asystole during a positive response cannot be considered a complication, since this is an end point of the test. Rapid return to supine position as soon as syncope occurs is usually all that is needed to prevent or to limit the consequences of prolonged loss of consciousness; raising the legs immediately

(non-invasive and invasive)

ECG monitoring is a procedure for diagnosing intermittent brady- and tachyarrhythmias. However, the technology of ECG monitoring currently has serious limitations.

Indications

Patients with very infrequent syncope, recurring over months or years, are unlikely to be diagnosed

by conventional Holter monitoring, since the likelihood of symptom-ECG correlation is very low. Consideration should be given to conventional event recording in such patients, but this technique has important logistical limitations that might prevent a successful ECG recording during syncope. Patients with syncope often have significant arrhythmia, infrequent recurrences, and sudden loss of consciousness and recover guickly. In such circumstances where the interval between recurrences is measured in months or years, consideration should be given to implantable ECG loop recorder. As a general rule ECG monitoring is indicated only when there is a high pre-test probability of identifying an arrhythmia responsible of syncope. These conditions are those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3.

In-hospital monitoring in syncope

In-hospital monitoring (in bed or telemetric) is warranted only when the patient is at high risk of life-threatening arrhythmias. A few days of ECG monitoring may be of value in patients with clinical features or ECG abnormalities suggesting an arrhythmic syncope such as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.4, especially if the monitoring is applied immediately after a syncopal episode. Although in such circumstances the diagnostic yield of ECG monitoring may be only as high as 16% [145], it is justified by the need to avoid immediate risk to the patient.

Holter monitoring in syncope

Most ECG monitoring in syncope is undertaken with external 24 h Holter recorders connected to the patient via external wiring and adhesive ECG patches.

Advantages include: it is a non-invasive test; there is beat-to-beat acquisition; device costs are low and there is relatively high fidelity over short time-periods.

Limitations include: patients may not tolerate adhesive electrodes or electrodes may not remain adherent throughout monitoring or during an event.

Presenting symptoms may not recur during monitoring. The vast majority of patients have a syncope-free interval measured in weeks, months or years, but not days and, therefore, symptom-ECG correlation can rarely be achieved with Holter monitoring. In an overview [146] of the results of eight studies of ambulatory monitoring in syncope, only 4% of patients (range between 1% and 20%) had correlation of symptoms with arrhythmia. The true yield of conventional ECG monitoring in syncope may be as low as 1-2% in an unselected population [147–149]. Admittedly, in 15% of patients, symptoms were not associated with arrhythmia. Thus in these patients, a rhythm disturbance could potentially be excluded as a cause of syncope.

An asymptomatic arrhythmia detected by Holter monitoring is often used to make a diagnosis by inference, but, without symptom-ECG correlation, there is potential for ECG findings to be inappropriately maximised leading to unnecessary therapy, e.g., pacemaker implantation in a patient with vasodepressor syncope. Alternatively, there is potential for symptoms to be inappropriately minimised by physicians if Holter monitoring fails to yield any evidence of an arrhythmia.

Holter monitoring in syncope is therefore cheap in terms of set-up costs, but expensive in terms of cost-per-diagnosis. Whilst unnecessary analysis of asymptomatic tapes might be avoidable by analysis only of symptomatic tapes. Such a strategy would require further provision of very large numbers of tape-recorders, greatly increasing the cost.

Holter monitoring in syncope may be of more value if symptoms are very frequent. Daily single or multiple episodes of loss-of-consciousness might increase the potential for symptom-ECG correlation. However, experience in these patients suggests that many have psychogenic blackouts. Undoubtedly, in such patients, true negative findings of Holter monitoring may be useful in confirming the underlying cause.

External loop recorder in syncope

Conventional event recorders are external devices equipped with fixed electrodes through which an ECG can be recorded by direct application to the chest wall. Provided the patient can comply at the time of symptoms, a high-fidelity recording can be made. Recordings can be prospective or retrospective (loop recorders) or both. Some recorders have long-term cutaneous patch connections, making a good skin contact for recordings less crucial. Prospective external event recorders have a limited value in syncope because the patient must be able to apply the recorder to the chest during the period of unconsciousness and activate recording. In one study [150], external retrospective loop recorders showed relatively higher diagnostic yield in syncope, 25% of enroled patients having syncope or pre-syncope recorded during the monitoring period up to 1 month, but comparisons with Holter monitoring are not possible because the study used highly selected patients with relatively high recurrence of syncope. However, since patients usually do not comply for more than a few weeks, with this instrument, symptom-ECG correlation cannot be achieved when the syncopal recurrence rate is less frequent. In a recent study [151],

external loop recorder was not useful for diagnosis of syncope in patients with 3 ± 4 episoders (more than 2) of syncope during the previous 6 months, no overt heart disease and negative tilt testing.

Implantable loop recorder in syncope

The implantable ECG event monitor (implantable loop recorder) is placed subcutaneously under local anaesthesia, and has a battery life of 18–24 months. High fidelity ECG recordings can be made. The device has a solid-state loop memory, and the current version can store up to 42 min of continuous ECG. Retrospective ECG allows activation of the device after consciousness has been restored. Automatic activation is also available in case of occurrence of predefined arrhythmias.

Advantages of the implantable loop recorder include: continuous loop high-fidelity ECG recording for up to 24 months; a loop memory which allows activation after consciousness is restored; removal of logistical factors which prevent good ECG recording during symptoms; and a potential for a high yield in terms of symptom-ECG correlation because of the high likelihood of recording during recurrence of presenting symptoms.

Disadvantages include: the need for a minor surgical procedure; the lack of recording of any other concurrent physiological parameter, e.g., blood pressure; the high cost of the implantable device.

The implantable loop recorder carries a high upfront cost. However, if symptom-ECG correlation can be achieved in a substantial number of patients within 12 months of implantation, then analysis of the cost per symptom-ECG yield could show that the implanted device may be more costeffective that a strategy using conventional investigation [152–154].

In the initial clinical experience Implantable Loop recorder was used for diagnosis in patients with unexplained syncope at the end of unsuccessful full conventional work-up. In a small series of highly selected patients, symptom-ECG correlation was achieved in 88% of patients within a mean of 5 months of implantation [152]. In a larger series [153], correlation between symptoms (syncope or pre-syncope) and ECG was achieved in 59% of 85 patients within a mean of 10 months of implantation. Syncope-ECG correlation was achieved in 27% of patients and presyncope-ECG correlation in 32%; presyncope was much less likely to be associated with an arrhythmia than syncope and did not prove to be an accurate surrogate for syncope in establishing a diagnosis (Level B). Pooled data from four studies [139,152,153,155] for a total of 247 patients with unexplained syncope at the end of a complete conventional investigation show that a correlation between syncope and ECG was found in 84 patients (34%); of these 52% had a bradycardia or asystole at the time of the recorded event, 11% had tachycardia and 37% had no rhythm variation.

One further study [154] randomized 60 patients with unexplained syncope to 'conventional' testing with external loop recorder and tilt and electrophysiological testing or to prolonged monitoring with the implantable loop recorder. The results were that a strategy of implantation of the loop recorder in an initial phase of the work-up is more likely to provide a diagnosis than conventional testing (52% vs 20%) (Level B). However, patients at high risk of life-threatening arrhythmias, as were those with an ejection fraction <35%, were excluded.

From the initial experience in patients with unexplained syncope, it appears that the implantable loop recorder might become the reference standard to be adopted when an arrhythmic cause of syncope is suspected but not sufficiently proven to allow treatment based on aetiology. There are several areas of interest that merit further clarification:

- patients in whom epilepsy was suspected but the treatment has proven ineffective [156];
- patients with recurrent unexplained syncope without structural heart disease when the understanding of the exact mechanism of spontaneous syncope may alter the therapeutic approach [139];
- patients who have a diagnosis of neurallymediated syncope when the understanding of the exact mechanism of spontaneous syncope may alter the therapeutic approach [139];
- patients with bundle branch block in whom a paroxysmal AV block is likely despite a complete negative electrophysiological evaluation [157];
- patients with definite structural heart disease and/or non-sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmias in whom a ventricular tachyarrhythmia is likely despite a completed negative electrophysiological study [158];
- patients with unexplained falls [159].

ECG monitoring in syncope – where in the workup?

The role of ECG monitoring in syncope cannot be defined in isolation. Physicians may be guided by the results of clinical history, physical examination and objective testing, for example, by tilt testing. Under some situations where the clinical evidence strongly suggests a diagnosis of reflex syncope, ECG monitoring may be deemed unnecessary. This is especially the case if symptoms are infrequent. Under these circumstances, Holter monitoring is particularly unlikely to yield a diagnosis, and there implantable monitoring is now considered. However, future technology may allow recording of multiple signals in addition to the ECG and will place emphasis on the features of spontaneous episodes as they correlate with cardiac rhythm, rather than provoked syncope. Knowledge of what transpires during a spontaneous syncopal episode is the gold standard for syncope evaluation. For this reason it is likely that implantable monitors will become increasingly important in syncope and that their use will be anticipated in the diagnostic flow instead or before many other conventional investigations. However, in patients with important structural heart disease that expose them to a high risk of life-threatening arrhythmias, an electrophysiological study should precede the use of ECG monitoring systems. Although the documentation of a bradyarrhythmia concurrent with a syncopal episode is considered diagnostic, nevertheless sometimes further evaluation may be necessary in order to discriminate between an intrinsic cardiogenic abnormality and a neurogenic mechanism; this latter seems to be the most frequent cause of paroxysmal bradyarrhythmias [159].

Recommendations	
-----------------	--

Indications	Diagnosis
Class I	Class I

- In-hospital monitoring (in bed or telemetric) is warranted when the patient has important structural heart disease and is at high risk of life-threatening arrhythmias (see section 'Need for hospitalization').
- Holter monitoring is indicated in patients who have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope such as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 and very frequent syncopes or pre-syncopes, (e.g., ≥ 1 per week).
- When the mechanism of syncope remains unclear after full evaluation, implantable loop recorder is indicated in patients who have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope such as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3) or a history of recurrent syncope with injury.

Class II

- Holter monitoring may be useful in patients who have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope such as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 in order to guide subsequent examinations (i.e., electrophysiological study).
- External loop recorder may be indicated in patients who have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope such as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 and inter-symptom interval ≤4 weeks.
- Implantable loop recorder may be indicated:
- In an initial phase of the work-up instead of completion of conventional investigations in patients with preserved cardiac function who have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3.
- To assess the contribution of bradycardia before embarking on cardiac pacing in patients with suspected or certain neurally-mediated syncope presenting with frequent or traumatic syncopal episodes.

Class III

ECG monitoring is unlikely to be useful in patients who do not have the clinical or ECG features suggesting an arrhythmic syncope as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 and therefore it should not be performed.

- ECG monitoring is diagnostic when a correlation between syncope and an electrocardiographic abnormality (brady- or tachyarrhythmia) is detected.
- ECG monitoring excludes an arrhythmic cause when there is a correlation between syncope and no rhythm variation.
- In the absence of such correlations additional testing is recommended with possible exception of:
 - ventricular pauses longer than 3 s when awake
 - periods of Mobitz II or 3rd degree atrioventricular block when awake
 - rapid paroxysmal ventricular tachycardia.

Class II

• Presyncope may not be an accurate surrogate for syncope in establishing a diagnosis and, therefore, therapy should not be guided by presyncopal findings. **Table 2.4**Classification of positive responses to tilttesting (modified from ref. [126])

- *Type 1 Mixed*. Heart rate falls at the time of syncope but the ventricular rate does not fall to less than 40 beats/min or falls to less than 40 beats/min for less than 10 s with or without asystole of less than 3 s. Blood pressure falls before the heart rate falls.
- Type 2A Cardioinhibition without asystole. Heart rate falls to a ventricular rate less than 40 beats/ min for more than 10 s but asystole of more than 3 s does not occur. Blood pressure falls before the heart rate falls.
- Type 2B Cardioinhibition with asystole. Asystole occurs for more than 3 s. Blood pressure fall coincides with or occurs before the heart rate fall
- Type 3 Vasodepressor. Heart rate does not fall more than 10% from its peak at the time of syncope.
- Exception 1. Chronotropic incompetence No heart rate rise during the tilt testing (i.e., less than 10% from the pre tilt rate).
- Exception 2. Excessive heart rate rise (Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome or POTS). An excessive heart rate rise both at the onset of the upright position and throughout its duration before syncope (i.e., greater than 130 beats/min)

Electrophysiological testing

Transoesophageal electrophysiological study

The role of the non-invasive or transoesophageal electrophysiological examination is limited to screening for fast supraventricular tachycardia due to atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia or atrioventricular reentrant tachycardia in patients with normal resting ECG and a history of syncope associated with palpitations and to the evaluation of sinus node dysfunction in patients with syncope suspected to be due to bradycardia. It can also be used for risk evaluation in patients with pre-excitation, although a normal refractory period of the accessory pathway cannot rule out a risk of atrial fibrillation with a fast ventricular response [161].

Invasive electrophysiological study

The diagnostic efficacy of the invasive electrophysiological study is — like all test procedures highly dependent on the degree of suspicion of the abnormality (pre-test probability), but also on the applied protocol, and the criteria used for diagnosing the presence of clinically significant abnormalities.

The diagnostic yield

Electrophysiological studies use endocardial and (in the coronary sinus) epicardial electrical

stimulation and recording to disclose abnormalities that suggest a primary arrhythmia as the cause of syncope. However, only few studies have used Holter monitoring or implantable devices to confirm the results of the electrophysiological study. The true diagnostic yield of the electrophysiological study is therefore only partly known.

Four studies [160,162-164] have compared the findings of a positive electrophysiological study with the arrhythmia documented during a spontaneous syncopal episode by ECG monitoring. In the study by Fujimura et al. [162], the utility of electrophysiological study was questioned because its result suggested the correct diagnosis only in 15% of patients, who had syncope due to transient bradycardia. However, in that study pharmacological provocation was not used, a very conservative criterion for significant sinus node dysfunction (SNRT > 3000 ms) was used, and bradycardiac syncope due to an abnormal vagal reflex was not excluded. Indeed, when neurally-mediated syncope was excluded, Brignole et al. [160] showed that the presence of abnormal sinus node or His-Purkinje function (at baseline or after ajmaline provocation) disclosed the correct diagnosis in 86% of cases with spontaneous syncope due to sinus arrest or paroxysmal AV block, respectively. The results of the latter study have been corroborated in subsequent reports on patients with either electrocardiographic monitoring performed before electrophysiological study or by a bradycardia detecting pacemaker after an electrophysiological study [165,166]. Importantly, unrelated ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation and atrial tachyarrhythmias were induced in 24% and in 20% of patients in the Fujimura and Brignole studies, tachycardias that mistakenly might have been designated as the cause of syncope. In patients with syncope due to atrial or ventricular tachyarrhythmias, Lacroix et al. [163] showed that, while an electrophysiological study reproduced the spontaneous arrhythmia in 13 of 17 cases, a non-specific atrial or ventricular arrhythmia was also induced in 31 of 44 cases. Finally, Moasez et al. [164] showed that sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia on Holter monitoring was a strong predictor of induction of the same arrhythmia by electrophysiological study in syncopal patients, in concordance with many other studies on monomorphic ventricular tachycardia in patients with ischaemic heart disease (see below).

Predictors of positive results

In an overview of eight studies including 625 patients with syncope undergoing electrophysiological study Linzer et al. [167] assessed the association between organic heart disease and an abnormal test result. Ventricular tachycardia was induced in 21%, and abnormal indices of bradycardia were found in 34% of patients with organic heart disease or an abnormal standard ECG. The corresponding figures were 1 and 10%, respectively, in patients with an apparently normal heart (p<0.001 for both comparisons). Thus, positive results at electrophysiological study occur predominantly in patients with evidence of organic heart disease (Level B).

Suspected intermittent bradycardia

The pre-test probability of a transient symptomatic bradycardia is relatively high when there is an asymptomatic sinus bradycardia (<50 beats/min) or sinoatrial block and syncope is occurred suddenly, without premonitory symptoms, is independent of posture and physical activity, is shortlasting, and is followed by rapid recovery. Sinus node disease/sick sinus syndrome is present when symptoms and sinus bradycardia or pauses occur simultaneously as proven by ECG monitoring ('gold standard'). Sinus node dysfunction can be demonstrated by abnormal sinus cycle variations on resting ECG, chronotropic incompetence on exercise testing, and by prolonged sinus node recovery time (SRT or SNRT) or sino-atrial conduction time (SACT) on electrophysiological study. The assessment of sinus node refractoriness is clinically not yet proven useful [168,169]. The major concern lies in limited sensitivity with all above mentioned methods, while specificity is high. There is no generally accepted protocol for evaluating sinus node function. SACT cannot always be assessed in patients with proven sinus node disease [170], and recovery time assessment is therefore usually preferred. A prolonged sinus node recovery time reflects abnormal sinus node automaticity, sinoatrial conduction, or both [171]. The sensitivity of SNRT >1500-1720 ms and/or CSNRT (SNRT corrected for heart rate) > 525 ms is approximately 50-80%, while the specificity is >95% [169]. The value of including assessment also after administration of atropine and propranolol for inhibition of autonomic tone is accepted for distinguishing between intrinsic and extrinsic sinus node dysfunction [169], but its diagnostic value is still debated. According to two studies [165,172] pharmacological challenge has a place in increasing the sensitivity of the electrophysiological study, when the baseline study is inconclusive. Complete autonomic blockade of the sinus node activity can be achieved by administration of intravenous propranolol (0.2 mg/kg body weight) and intravenous atropine sulphate (0.04 mg/kg body weight) according to the seminal work by Jose and Collison,

defining the so-called intrinsic heart rate [173]. Normal values for intrinsic heart rate can be determined by using a linear regression equation, which relates predicted intrinsic heart rate (IHRp) to age; IHRp = $118.1 - (0.57 \times \text{age})$ [173]. The sensitivity of IHRp is very low for diagnosing sinus node dysfunction. Initially the same dosages were used for distinguishing between intrinsic and extrinsic sinus node dysfunction when assessing sinus node recovery time [174,175], and later modified to 75% by Tonkin et al. [176]. From a diagnostic point of view it seems sufficient to use propranolol 0.1 mg/kg body weight and atropine 0.02 mg/kg body weight, since higher doses might cause adverse effects, at least in patients older than 60 years [165].

The prognostic value of a prolonged sinus node recovery time is largely unknown. One observational study, however, showed a relationship between the presence of prolonged recovery time at electrophysiological study and the effect of pacing on symptoms [177]. Recently Menozzi et al. [178] addressed a related issue in a small prospective study, showing that the patients with a CSNRT of \geq 800 ms had an eight times higher risk of syncope than patients with a CSNRT below this value. The panel discussed the criteria for SNRT as a diagnostic tool for syncope but could not arrive at a consensus because of the lack of other prospective data evaluating the diagnostic value of this test. The following diagnostic criteria are widely used for defining sinus node dysfunction: 1.6 or 2 s for SNRT [171,179] or 525 ms for CSNRT [177]. In one study [179], marked prolongation of SNRT (longer than 3 s) was suggested to increase the possibility that sinus node dysfunction may be responsible for syncope. It is opinion of the panel that, in presence of a SNRT >2 s or CSNRT >1 s, sinus node dysfunction may be the cause of syncope.

Syncope in patients with bundle branch block (impending high degree AV block)

The most alarming ECG sign in a patient with syncope is probably alternating complete left and right bundle branch block, or alternating right bundle branch block with left anterior or posterior fascicular block, suggesting trifascicular conduction system disease and intermittent or impending high degree AV block. The 'trifascicular' concept, introduced by Rosenbaum [180], is still the most clinically useful, albeit a simplification. Also patients with bifascicular block (right bundle branch block plus left anterior or left posterior fascicular block, or left bundle branch block) are at higher risk of developing high degree AV block. A significant problem in the evaluation of syncope and bifascicular block is the transient nature of high degree AV block and, therefore, the long periods required to document it by ECG [181].

Two factors were shown to increase the risk for AV block: a history of syncope and a prolonged HV interval. The risk of developing AV block increased from 2% in patients without syncope to 17% in patients with syncope [182]. The prognostic value of the HV interval was prospectively studied by Scheinman et al. [183]; the progression rate to AV block at 4 years was 4%, 2%, and 12%, respectively, for patients with an HV interval of <55 ms (normal), 55–69 ms, and \geq 70 ms; in patients with an HV interval \geq 100 ms it was even higher, 24%. This pioneering work on bundle branch block, published in the 1980s, did not use pharmacological stress testing and the progression to high degree AV block was not followed by sensitive detectors of AV block progression such as a bradycardia detecting pacemaker. The figures provided are, therefore, likely to represent estimates at the lower end of the range.

In order to increase the diagnostic yield of the electrophysiological evaluation incremental atrial pacing and pharmacological provocation were added. The development of intra- or infra His block at incremental atrial pacing [181,184-187] is highly predictive of impending AV block, but is rarely observed and has low sensitivity. For example, in the study by Gronda et al. [188] on 131 patients, an HV prolongation of >10 ms was observed in 6% and 2nd degree AV block in 5% of cases. Complete AV block developed in 40% of these patients during a mean follow-up of 42 months. In the study by Dini et al. [189], on 85 patients, pacing induced AV block in 7% with progression to complete AV block in 30% within 2 years. Acute intravenous pharmacological stress testing of the His-Purkinje system has been performed with several class IA antiarrhythmic substances: ajmaline, at a dosage of 1 mg/kg [188-190], procainamide at a dosage of 10 mg/ kg [191], and disopyramide at a dosage of 2 mg/kg [166]. Importantly, not only should the occurrence of high degree AV block during spontaneous rhythm be sought, but also any intra- or infra- His block at incremental atrial pacing or after short sequences of ventricular pacing [166]. In five studies [181,188,189] evaluating the diagnostic value of pharmacological stress testing for a total of 333 patients, high-degree AV block was induced in 50 (15%) of the patients. During the follow-up ranging between 24 and 63 months, 68% (range 43–100) of these patients developed spontaneous AV block. Thus, the induction of AV block during the test is highly predictive of subsequent development of AV block. The prognostic value of a pharmacologically prolonged HV interval to a value of \geq 120 ms or > 50% of the baseline value without induction of AV block has also been evaluated but its utility is less certain. In three studies [181,188,189] AV block progression was observed in 18%, 29% and 75% of positive patients. Untreated high degree AV block carries an adverse prognosis. It is, therefore, important to reach a high diagnostic accuracy. By combining the above mentioned parts of the electrophysiological protocol, it was possible to identify most of the patients who developed high degree AV block; for example, the positive predictive value was 87% in the study of Gronda et al. [188] and 80% in that of Bergfeldt et al. [181] (Level B). On the other hand, in patients with negative electrophysiological studies, Link et al. [192] observed development of permanent AV block in 18% (after 30 months) and Gaggioli et al. [193] in 19% (at 62 months) and intermittent or stable atrioventricular block was documented by an implantable loop recorder in 33% of patients (within 15 months) [157]. Finally, pacemaker therapy resulted in effective suppression of syncopal recurrences in almost all patients and was significantly better than no pacing, thus indirectly confirming the usefulness of the electrophysiological study [183,184,190].

Importantly, a high incidence of total deaths and sudden death was observed in patients with bundle branch block. In pooled data from 9 studies for a total of 1761 patients the total mortality was 28% at 40 months and 32% of deaths were sudden [181-183,187,190,193-195]. However, neither syncope nor a prolonged HV interval was associated with a higher risk of death [182,194], and pacemaker therapy did not decrease this risk [183]. The mechanism of sudden death is therefore supposedly due to a ventricular tachyarrhythmia or electromechanical dissociation rather than a bradyarrhythmia. A sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmia is frequently inducible in patients with bundle branch block by means of programmed ventricular stimulation, having been observed in 32% of a total of 280 patients (pooled data from four studies [187,190,195,196]. In one study [195], sustained monomorphic ventricular tachyardia was exclusively induced in patients with previous myocardial infarction. Nevertheless, inducibility was of the same magnitude in patients with and without a history of syncope and clinical events during follow-up were not predicted by programmed ventricular stimulation [155–196].

In conclusion, in patients with syncope and bifascicular block, an electrophysiological study is highly sensitive in identifying patients with intermittent or impending high degree AV block (Level B) though a negative electrophysiological investigation cannot rule-out paroxysmal AV block as the cause of syncope (Level B). This block is the likely cause of syncope in most cases, but not of the high mortality rate observed in these patients. Indeed, the high total and sudden mortality seems mainly related to underlying structural heart disease and ventricular tachyarrhythmias (Level B). Unfortunately, ventricular programmed stimulation does not seem to be able correctly to identify these patients and the finding of inducible ventricular arrhythmia should therefore be interpreted with caution.

Suspected tachycardia

Supraventricular tachycardia presenting as syncope without accompanying palpitations is probably rare [187]. Both non-invasive (transoesophageal) and invasive electrophysiological studies may be used to evaluate the haemodynamic effects of an induced tachycardia, especially if combined with administration of isoprenaline or atropine.

Ventricular tachycardia may present as syncope with or without palpitations or other accompanying symptoms. The major concern with programmed electrical stimulation as part of an electrophysiological study for inducing clinically significant ventricular arrhythmia is its varying sensitivity (and specificity) in different clinical settings [198] and the lack of a standard protocol [199] (Table 2.5). Generally speaking, programmed electrical stimulation is thought to be a sensitive tool in patients with chronic ischaemic heart disease (previous myocardial infarction) and susceptibility for a spontaneous monomorphic ventricular tachycardia. Applying the opposite perspective, the induction of a monomorphic ventricular tachycardia is thought to be a specific event that should guide therapy. For example, in the ESVEM trial [200], syncope, associated with induced ventricular tachyarrhythmias at electrophysiological testing, indicated high risk of death, similar to that of patients with documented spontaneous ventricular tachyarrhythmias. The specificity of induction of ventricular tachycardia has been questioned in patients with syncope and bifascicular block [195]. The specificity of the induction of polymorphic ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation probably depends on the clinical setting. On one hand, in coronary artery disease and syncope, the follow-up of patients with and without inducible ventricular fibrillation demonstrated no difference in survival between the two groups [201]. On the other hand, the induction of polymorphic ventricular Table 2.5Minimal suggested electrophysiologicalprotocol for diagnosis of syncope

- Measurement of sinus node recovery time and corrected sinus node recovery time by repeated sequences of atrial pacing for 30–60 s with at least one low (10–20 beats/min higher than sinus rate) and two higher pacing rates^a
- Assessment of the His-Purkinje system includes measurement of the HV interval at baseline and His-Purkinje conduction with stress by incremental atrial pacing. If the baseline study is inconclusive, pharmacological provocation with slow infusion of ajmaline (1 mg/kg i.v.), procainamide (10 mg/kg i.v.), or disopyramide (2 mg/kg i.v.) is added unless contraindicated
- Assessment of ventricular arrhythmia inducibility performed by ventricular programmed stimulation at two right ventricular sites (apex and outflow tract), at two basic drive cycle lengths, (100 or 120 beats/min and 140 or 150 beats/min), with up to two extrastimuli^b
- Assessment of supraventricular arrhythmia inducibility by any atrial stimulation protocol

^a When sinus node dysfunction is suspected autonomic blockade may be applied, and measurements repeated.

^b A third extrastimulus may be added. This may increase sensitivity, but reduces specificity. Ventricular extrastimulus coupling intervals below 200 ms also reduce specificity.

arrhythmias seems to have a predictive value in patients with the Brugada syndrome [202,203], in survivors of cardiac arrest with significant coronary artery disease undergoing coronary by-pass surgery and in idiopathic ventricular fibrillation [204,205].

The predictive value of non-inducibility depends on the aetiology and severity of the underlying heart disease, e.g., ischaemic or non-ischaemic heart disease. In patients with coronary artery disease and preserved cardiac function, non-inducibility at electrophysiological study predicted a low risk of sudden death and ventricular arrhythmias [192]. A study [158] has evaluated the predictive value of a negative electrophysiological study in 35 patients with overt heart disease at risk of ventricular arrhythmia, as these were patients with previous myocardial infarction or cardiomyopathy with moderately low values of ejection fraction (mean 47 ± 17) or non-sustained ventricular tachycardia who had received the implantation of a loop recorder. During the follow-up, syncopal recurrences never were due to tachyarrhythmia which was documented only in one patient and caused presyncope. Interestingly, the induction of polymorphic ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation during electrophysiological study (that was considered as a negative result) was of no value for

predicting syncopal events and, in particular, ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Thus, in the absence of a severe pump dysfunction, the negativity of the electrophysiological study, predicts a low risk of ventricular tachyarrythmias.

Conversely, programmed ventricular stimulation has a low predictive value in patients with nonischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy [31] and one study [206] of patients with unexplained syncope treated with implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICD) showed a high incidence of tachyarrhythmic episodes during the follow-up despite an initial negative electrophysiological study. In another study [207] of selected patients affected by idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy who received an ICD, there was a high incidence of appropriate shocks both in the inducible and in non-inducible sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia groups.

The advent of ICDs with improved documentation of arrhythmic events offers a safe and sensitive tool for the follow-up in different high-risk populations. Eight studies [206-213] have evaluated the utility of ICDs in highly selected patients with syncope. Link et al. [208] reported on 50 patients who had an appropriate - due to ventricular tachycardia/fibrillation - device discharge rate of 22% at 1 year and 50% at 3 years' followup. Among the 33 patients of the study by Militianu et al. [209], an appropriate discharge of the device occurred in 36% over a period of 17 months. In these two studies, the population was heterogeneous, including patients with ischaemic and nonischaemic cardiomyopathy, and the induction of ventricular fibrillation was also considered a positive result. In three studies concerning patients affected by coronary artery disease programmed ventricular stimulation was useful in risk stratification [210–212]. In the study by Mittal et al. [210], which evaluated 67 consecutive patients with coronary artery disease, mostly with a prior myocardial infarction and a depressed ejection fraction (mean $37 \pm 13\%$), sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia was inducible in 43% of cases. During a follow-up of more than 1 year, 41% of inducible patients received an appropriate device discharge, and only one had a syncopal relapse, which was not related to the ventricular arrhythmia. However, the total mortality for patients with inducible tachycardia was significantly higher than for non-inducible patients, the actuarial 2-year survival rates being 84% and 45% respectively. Andrews et al. [211], performed a retrospective case-control study in which 22 patients with unexplained syncope and inducible ventricular tachycardia were compared with a matched group of 32 patients with documented

syncopal ventricular tachycardia. Almost all the patients had coronary artery disease with severe systolic dysfunction (mean ejection fraction 30%). After 1 year, a similar incidence of ICD discharges occurred in the 2 groups (57% vs 50%), suggesting that electrophysiological testing can identify patients with severe coronary artery disease at risk of life-threatening arrhythmias. Pires et al. [212] observed, in 178 patients with unexplained syncope, inducible ventricular tachycardia/fibrillation for the most part and coronary artery disease, who were treated with ICDs, a high recurrence of ventricular tachyarrhythmias (55% at 2 years), high correlation (85%) between recurrent syncope and ventricular arrhythmia and low mortality, which was comparable with the results in similar patients with documented sustained ventricular tachycardia/fibrillation. Conversely, in three other studies concerning patients affected by non-ischaemic dilated cardiopathy programmed ventricular stimulation was not useful in risk stratification [206,207,213]. Knight et al. [206], in patients with non-ischaemic dilated cardiopathy with severe systolic dysfunction (mean ejection fraction of 26%), performed a similar small retrospective case-control study. Fourteen consecutive patients with unexplained syncope and a negative electrophysiological study were compared with a matched group of 19 patients with a documented cardiac arrest due to ventricular tachyarrhythmia. After 2 years, the same incidence of ICD discharges occurred in the 2 groups (50% vs 42%) and the relapses of syncope or presyncope were primarily due to ventricular fibrillation. The patients with more severe cardiomyopathy (ejection fraction of 20%) were more likely to receive an appropriate shock. Thus, in patients with very severe nonischaemic cardiomyopathy, risk stratification on a clinical basis seems superior to that based on the results of an electrophysiological study. Improved survival with ICD in respect of conventional therapy has been observed in the study of Fonarow et al. [213] in patients with non-ischaemic advanced heart failure referred for heart transplantation (mean ejection fraction of 21%). Actuarial survival at 2 years was 85% in the 25 patients managed with an ICD and 67% in the 122 patients without. No patient with an ICD had sudden death and an appropriate shock discharge occurred in 40% of these. Finally, Brilakis et al. [207], in a selected group of 17 patients of a total of 54 affected by idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy who received an ICD, the incidence of appropriate shocks at 1 year was 47% and 40%, respectively, in the inducible and in non-inducible sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia.

In conclusion, the outcome largely depends on the clinical features of the patients. It seems that only the inducibility of sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia and/or very depressed systolic function can predict a life-threatening arrhythmic syncope and, conversely, their absence may predict a more favourable outcome. Electrophysiological study with programmed electrical stimulation is an effective diagnostic test in patients with coronary artery disease, markedly depressed cardiac function and unexplained syncope (Level B). Its utility is more questionable in patients with non-ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy (Level B). Patients who undergo implantation of an automatic defibrillator have a high incidence of spontaneous ventricular arrhythmia requiring device therapy, and suppression of syncopal recurrences (Level B). However, these results applied to a highly selected, highrisk population that might be not representative of the patients encountered in clinical practice.

Indications	Diagnosis
Class I • An invasive electrophysiological procedure is indicated when the initial evaluation suggests an arrhythmic cause of syncope such as those listed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 (in patients with abnormal electrocardiography and/or structural heart disease or syncope associated with palpitations or family history of sudden death).	 Class I Normal electrophysiological findings cannot completely exclude an arrhythmic cause of syncope; when an arrhythmia is likely, further evaluations (for example loop recording) are recommended. Depending on the clinical context, abnormal electrophysiological findings may not be diagnostic of the cause of syncope. An electrophysiological study is diagnostic, and usually no additional tests are required, in the following cases: sinus bradycardia and a very prolonged CSNRT (as discussed in the text) bifascicular block and: a baseline HV interval of ≥ 100ms, or 2nd or 3rd degree His-Purkinje block is demonstrated during incremental atrial pacing, or (if the baseline electrophysiological study is inconclusive) high-degree His-Purkinje block is provoked by intravenous administration of ajmaline, procainamide, or disopyramide induction of rapid supraventricular arrhythmia which reproduces hypotensive or spontaneous symptoms.
 Class II Diagnostic reasons: to evaluate the exact nature of an arrhythmia which has already been identified as the cause of the syncope. Prognostic reasons: in patients with cardiac disorders, in which arrhythmia induction has a bearing on the selection of therapy; and in patients with high-risk occupations, in whom every effort to exclude a cardiac cause of syncope is warranted. 	 Class II The diagnostic value of an electophysiological study is less well established in case of: HV interval of >70 ms but <100 ms. Induction of polymorphic ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation in patients with Brugada syndrome, arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia and patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest.
 Class III In patients with normal electrocardiograms and no heart disease and no palpitations an electrophysiological study is not usually undertaken. 	Class III The induction of polymorphic ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation in patients with ischaemic or dilated cardiomyopathy has a low predictive value.

ATP test

Intravenous injection of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) has recently been proposed as a tool in the investigation of patients with unexplained syncope [214,215]. In predisposed patients with unexplained syncope, the stimulation of purinergic receptors, with a powerful dromotropic effect on the atrioventricular node [216], causes prolonged ventricular pauses due to atrioventricular block, which are considered as possibly responsible for spontaneous attacks. The action of ATP is due to its rapid catabolism to adenosine and the subsequent action of adenosine at purinoceptor sites.ATP and adenosine have similar effects in humans [216].

Protocol of the ATP test

The protocol proposed by Flammang [214] consists of the injection in a brachial vein of a bolus (<2 s) of 20 mg of ATP followed by a 20 ml flush of dextrose solution or dissolved in 10 ml of saline solution. During injection, patients remain supine with continuous electrocardiographic recordings just before and 2 min after drug administration. Blood pressure is monitored noninvasively. Due to possible bronchospastic reactions, the ATP test is contraindicated in patients with known asthma. Due to the risk of coronary steal, the test is also contraindicated in the patients with significant coronary disease. Other side effects are generally mild. Facial flush, shortness of breath, and chest pressure are the most frequently reported effects. Lightheadedness or syncope may also occur but are 'expected'. Rarely, short-duration self-limiting atrial fibrillation is initiated [215].

Interpretation of the result of the test is exclusively based on the duration of the cardiac 'pause'. A value of >6 s [215] or >10 s even if interrupted by some escape beats [204] is defined as abnormal (Level B). Such pauses were observed in about 5% of control subjects without syncope.

In patients with abnormal responses, reproducibility was roughly 80% both in the short and the long-term period [215,217].

Relationship between ATP test and spontaneous syncope

In patients with syncope of unknown origin, the ATP-test was abnormal in 28% and 41% of the patients in two series [214,215]. Moreover, in a small group of patients with syncope electro-cardiographically documented to be caused by

497

transient pause, Brignole et al. [215] found that ATP test reproduced atrioventricular block with a pause >6 s in 53% of the patients with documented spontaneous atrioventricular block but in none of those with sinus arrest. The interpretation of these studies is that some patients with unexplained syncope show an increased susceptibility to ATP testing in comparison with those without syncope and ATP testing is able to reproduce atrioventricular block (and suggest the mechanism) in patients with spontaneous paroxysmal atrioventricular block. However, the results were not confirmed in a small prospective follow-up study [218] which used an implantable loop recorder as an outcome measure. In that study indeed the mechanism of syncope was heterogeneous and an ATP-induced AV block predicted AV block as the mechanism of the spontaneous syncope only in a few patients; the outcome was benign and patients did not experience complications. The favourable outcome suggests implantation of a pacemaker or a loop recorder only when the clinical presentation is severe enough to require treatment.

Relationship between ATP and tilt testing

Both ATP and tilt testing were performed in patients with unexplained syncope in two studies [219,220]. Although some overlap of positive responses was observed, this was limited to no more than 20% of cases. Moreover, compared with the patients with isolated positive tilt test, those with isolated positive ATP were older, had a lower number of syncopal episodes, a shorter history of syncopal episodes, a lower prevalence of situational, vasovagal or triggering factors and a lower prevalence of warning symptoms. The results suggest that these two tests explored two different 'susceptibilities' leading to syncope under certain conditions. In a recent study [221], endogenous adenosine plasma levels were higher in patients with a positive tilt test than in patients with a negative test and they increased during tilt-induced syncope. These observations suggest that adenosine release may be involved in the trigger mechanism of syncope induced during tilt testing.

Other authors [222,223] have used adenosine as an alternative drug challenge during tilt testing based on the hypothesis that adenosine could be an important modulator in triggering a vasovagal response in susceptible patients but apparently without significant improvement over usual pharmacological challenges.

Recommendations

The test requires the rapid injection of a 20 mg bolus of ATP during electrocardiographic monitoring. Asystole lasting more than 6 s, or AV block lasting more than 10 s, is considered abnormal. ATP testing produces an abnormal response in some patients with syncope of unknown origin, but not in controls. ATP testing identifies a group of patients with otherwise unexplained syncope with definite clinical features and benign prognosis but possibly heterogeneous mechanism of syncope. Thus, specific treatment should be postponed until a definite mechanism of syncope can be obtained (Class II).

Ventricular signal-averaged electrocardiogram, T wave alternans

Ventricular late potentials represent areas of slow conduction that can promote the occurrence of ventricular arrhythmias. These low-amplitude signals can be detected on the surface electrocardiogram using a signal averaging technique if the area of slow conduction is activated late during ventricular depolarization [224].

It has been shown that the signal-averaged electrocardiogram might be useful (sensitivity 70-82%, specificity 55-91%) in identifying those patients with recurrent syncope in whom ventricular tachycardia may be the underlying mechanism [225,228]. Even if not specifically evaluated in patients with syncope, T-wave alternans seems to be a stronger predictor of ventricular tachyarrhythmias [229]. Therefore, the signal-averaged electrocardiogram and T wave alternans can serve as a non-invasive screening test for selecting patients with syncope who should undergo programmed ventricular stimulation. However, such patients are likely to need an electrophysiological study regardless of the results of the signal-averaged electrocardiogram because of a high risk of sudden death. Thus, the additional diagnostic benefit provided by the signal-averaged electrocardiogram or T-wave alternans may in fact be rather low.

The signal-averaged electrocardiogram may also be used as a non-invasive tool for detection of cardiac abnormality. An abnormal result of the test may indicate cardiomyopathy (arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia or dilated cardiomyopathy) or cardiac involvement in systemic disorders (amyloidosis, systemic sclerosis, muscular dystrophy). The signal-averaged electrocardiogram may be particularly useful in the early stages of these diseases in those patients in whom other routine tests such as ECG or echocardiography are normal [230]. The methodology of signal-averaged electrocardiographic recording and analysis in patients with syncope is identical to that in patients with other conditions and should be performed according to the published standards [230].

Brugada syndrome is frequently associated with syncopal ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Some studies suggested that the presence of ventricular late potentials identifies those patients who have inducible ventricular tachyarrhythmias [231] or who have a history of syncope or aborted sudden death [232]. Two case reports suggested that Twave alternans may identify patients with Brugada syndrome who are at risk of ventricular fibrillation [233,234]. However, a larger study did not confirm these preliminary findings [232].

Recommendations

There is general agreement that ventricular signalaveraged electrocardiogram and T-wave alternans are not diagnostic of the cause of syncope. In patients with syncope and no evidence of structural heart disease, these techniques may be useful for guiding the use of electrophysiological studies. Their systematic use is not recommended (Class III).

Exercise testing

Exercise-induced syncope is a rare finding, occurring in up to 5% of patients with unexplained syncope [45]. Exercise testing should be performed in patients who have experienced episodes of syncope during or shortly after exertion. It is generally recommended that exercise testing should be symptom-limited. However, some authors showed that a modified treadmill test with abrupt termination has a high diagnostic value (sensitivity 78%, specificity 95%, total predictive accuracy 86%) in disclosing the mechanism of exercise-related syncope [235]. Echocardiographic evaluation should precede the exercise test. Careful electrocardiographic and blood pressure monitoring should be performed during both the test and the recovery phase as syncope can occur during or immediately after exercise. These two situations should be separately considered. Indeed, syncope occurring during exercise may be cardiac, even if some case reports showed that it might be a manifestation of an exaggerated reflex vasodilatation [236,237]. Reflex syncope occurring during exercise is caused by marked hypotension without bradycardia [236,237]. By contrast, postexertional syncope is almost invariably due to autonomic failure or to a neurally-mediated mechanism [238,240,249] and is characterised by hypotension which can be

associated with marked bradycardia or asystole; it typically occurs in subjects without heart disease (Level B). It has been supposed that adrenaline plays an important role in the mechanisms leading to neurally mediated syncope associated with exercise [241]. Tilt testing has been used to diagnose neurally-mediated syncope, which may manifest as postexertional syncope [242]. The diagnostic yield of tilt testing is equally high in patients with exercise-related and exercise-unrelated neurally mediated syncope [235]. A failure of reflex vasoconstriction during exercise in splanchnic capacitance vessels and in forearm resistance vessels has been shown in patients with vasovagal syncope [236]. Syncope in athletes may be an important problem. However, in the absence of structural heart disease, syncope occurring during or immediately after exercise in athletes is a benign condition, with a good long-term outcome. The likely final diagnosis is neurally-mediated [243].

Tachycardia-related (phase 3) exercise-induced 2nd and 3rd degree atrioventricular block has been shown to be invariably located distal to the atrioventricular node and is an ominous finding of progression to stable chronic atrioventricular block. Resting electrocardiogram frequently shows an intraventricular conduction abnormality [244–246] (Level B).

Exercise testing is not particularly cost-effective when used in a general population with syncope. Its diagnostic yield was less than 1% in a population study [29]. However, when its use is limited to selected patients with exertional syncope, it may represent an important diagnostic test.

Recommendations

Indications	Diagnosis
Class I Patients who experience an episode of syncope during or shortly after exertion.	 Class I Exercise testing is diagnostic when ECG and haemodynamic abnormalities are present and syncope is reproduced during or immediately after exercise. Exercise testing is diagnostic if Mobitz 2 second degree or 3rd degree AV block develop during exercise even without syncope.
Class III Use of exercise testing is not recommended in patients who do not experience syncope during exercise.	

Cardiac catheterization and angiography

Cardiac catheterization may consist of ventriculography to assess cardiac chambers morphology, coronary arteriography to visualise coronary anatomy and haemodynamics to assess blood flow and intravascular and intracardiac pressures. Because this is an invasive technique, it is rarely used as a screening test to detect cardiac disease in patients presenting with syncope.

The test may reveal coronary lesions causing ischaemia which may lead to syncope due to: wall motion disturbances and decrease in myocardial contractility; ischaemia-induced cardiac arrhythmias, asystole or complete heart block [247]; and ischaemia-induced vasovagal reaction [248]. It may also reveal coronary artery spasm or congenital abnormalities (single coronary artery, anomalous origin of right coronary artery or coronary arteriovenous fistula as a cause of syncope [249,250]. In case of suspected coronary spasm, the ergometrine test during coronary angiography may be indicated [251].

Recommendations

Indications

Class I

In patients with syncope suspected to be due, directly or indirectly, to myocardial ischaemia, coronary angiography is recommended in order to confirm the diagnosis and to establish optimal therapy.

Class III

Angiography alone is rarely diagnostic of the cause of syncope.

Neurological and psychiatric evaluation

Neurological evaluation

Neurological disorders feature in the diagnosis of syncope in three ways. Firstly, they may cause syncope as a result of a diseased and insufficient autonomic nervous system: autonomic failure. Secondly, some cerebrovascular disorders also cause syncope (mostly the 'steal' syndromes). Thirdly, several disorders feature in the differential diagnosis because they can cause a transient loss of consciousness (other than syncope), or because they cause 'attacks' that resemble loss of consciousness. These groups will be separately discussed.

Autonomic failure

In autonomic failure, the autonomic nervous system is incapable of meeting the demands of upright posture, causing orthostatic hypotension and syncope. Its severity may be expressed as the length of time patients can remain standing before they have to sit down. There may be signs and symptoms showing autonomic malfunction of other organ systems. Impotence in men and disturbed micturition occur often, and can be assessed easily through history-taking. There are three groups of autonomic failure [252–253].

- Primary autonomic failure comprises primary degenerative diseases of the central nervous system. Three are numerically important; all three occur in middle age or later. In pure autonomic failure (PAF) other neurological systems are never affected, but in multiple system atrophy (MSA) Parkinsonian, pyramidal and/or cerebellar symptoms occur at some stage in the disease. Note that 'MSA' supplants three other disorders: Shy-Drager syndrome, striatonigral degeneration and olivopontocerebellar degeneration [253]. Finally, there may be a form of Parkinson's disease with autonomic failure, but the overlap with MSA makes recognition difficult. Although there are diagnostic guidelines or hints towards the clinical recognition of MSA [254-256] only pathological studies can reveal the true diagnosis.
- Secondary autonomic failure indicates damage to the autonomic nervous system caused by other diseases. This can occur through many disorders [252] but in numerical terms the most important disorders are probably diabetes mellitus, kidney or liver failure, and alcohol abuse.
- Drug-induced autonomic failure is important in terms of prevalence; main culprits are tricyclic antidepressives, phenothiazines, antihistamines, levodopa (Parkinson's disease) and MAO-inhibitors.

Generally, the pattern of autonomic failure does not depend in a clear manner on the primary disorder. Neurological evaluation is warranted in case of autonomic failure, apparent as orthostatic hypotension on its own or when accompanied by other autonomic signs or symptoms, such as impotence or disturbed micturition. The presence of other neurological signs, particularly Parkinsonism, that of sytemic diseases such as diabetes, or of certain drugs (antidepressives) help to distinguish between causes.

Cerebrovascular disorders These are listed below.

• Steal syndromes occur when the arterial circulation to the arm is blocked, resulting in

a shunt of blood though the cerebrovascular system, which then has to supply both (part of) the brain and the arm. This may cause insufficient perfusion of the brain stem (causing loss of consciousness) when the demands of the circulation in the arm exhaust the supply, i.e., during strenuous physical activity of the arm. Transient ischaemic attacks in a patient with steal only occur if there is atherosclerosis in other extracranial arteries as well. Symptoms attributed to vertebro-basilar steal include vertigo, diplopia, blurred vision and cranial nerve dysfunction as well as syncope and drop attacks. The chances that a transient loss of consciousness without any brainstem signs are due to subclavian steal are probably very small. A blood pressure difference between the arms may point towards the presence of a steal phenomenon. Complaints may be ascribed to steal with more likelihood if they are clearly associated with exercise of one arm. However, the presence of steal does not mean that any episode of loss of consciousness may be ascribed to it. Syncope may also occur during exertion due to cardiac causes, so care must be taken to assess whether the syncope in a steal syndrome is linked to activity of one arm.

- Transient ischaemic attacks (TIAs) in the territory of one carotid artery do not cause loss of consciousness. Only TIAs in the vertebrobasilar circulation may theoretically do so, but other signs, such as ataxia, eye movement disorders, and vertigo then predominate. True loss of consciousness without any such features makes a TIA unlikely, and does not warrant ancillary investigation into the vertebrobasilar circulation.
- *Migraine* is probably associated with syncope, both outside attacks [257] and during an attack [258]. There is, however, little recent epidemiological research in this area, and the frequency of both disorders might cause a bias. It is not known whether the association has consequences for treatment of either condition. Vertebrobasilar migraine does cause a disturbance of consciousness, but attacks last too long to be confused with syncope, and they are accompanied by other neurological signs.

Non-syncopal attacks

The third group concerns disorders with nonsyncopal or only apparent loss of consciousness.

• *Epilepsy* can (depending on the type) cause loss of consciousness. When witnessed by an

expert, tonic-clonic attacks are easy to recognize. Questions to distinguish between tonicclonic seizures and syncope should be directed separately at patients and eye-witnesses (Table 2.6). The patient should be asked whether there were any promonitory signs. The typical textbook aura, consisting of a rising sensation in the abdomen, and/or an unusual unpleasant smell, are relatively rare [259]. Aura patterns are usually repetitive over time in patients, who will, therefore, learn to recognise them as such. The patient should be asked how he/she felt on regaining consciousness: confusion or sleepiness lasting more than a few minutes point to epilepsy, as do tongue biting, or muscle pains lasting for hours or days. Urinary incontinence is not useful for distinction. Witnesses should be asked to describe any movements. Unconsciousness without any movement makes epilepsy unlikely, but movements certainly do not exclude syncope (also improperly called 'convulsive syncope') [4], although the presence of any movement is often interpreted by both medical personnel and laymen as indicative of epilepsy. Syncopal movements are typically asynchronous and limited in scope (called 'myoclonic' in neurology), while a tonic posture concerns forceful extension of the extremities, and clonic movements (not called myoclonus) concern massive synchronous jerks of the arms and/or legs [4,5]. Mimicking the movements helps to make witnesses choose between the options. In syncope, movements occur as a result of brain ischaemia, and, therefore, occur after the patient has slumped to the floor. In epilepsy, clonic movements can occur before the fall, whereas the tonic posture can cause the patient to keel over like a falling log. In other forms of epilepsy, such as absence epilepsy in children and partial complex epilepsy in adults, consciousness is not so much lost as altered, and this does not lead to falls.

In general, the symptoms surrounding the loss of consciousness accurately discriminate between seizures and syncope [48]. Sometimes, in clinical practice, it is difficult to differentiate epilepsy from cardiovascular syncope occurring with myoclonic movements. Zaidi et al. [156] investigated the value of cardiovascular tests to diagnose

Table 2.6When to suspect seizure at initial evaluation—the value of history for distinguishing seizure fromsyncope (adapted from ref. [5])

Clinical findings that su	iggest the diagnosis	
	Seizure likely	Syncope likely
Findings during loss of consciousness (as observed by an eyewitness)	 Tonic-clonic movements are usually prolonged and their onset coincides with loss of consciousness Hemilateral clonic movement Clear automatisms such as chewing or lip smacking or frothing at the mouth (partial seizure) Tongue biting Blue face 	• Tonic-clonic movements are always of short duration (<15 s) and they start after the loss of consciousness
Symptoms before the event	• Aura (such as funny smell)	 Nausea, vomiting, abdominal discomfort, feeling of cold, sweating (neurally-mediated)^a Lightheadedness, blurring of the vision
Symptoms after the event	 Prolonged confusion Aching muscles	 Usually short duration Nausea, vomiting, pallor (neurally-mediated)

Other clinical findings of less value for suspecting seizure (low specificity)

- Family history
- Timing of the event (night)
- "Pins and needle" before the event
- Incontinence after the event
- Injury after the event
- Headache after the event
- Sleepy after the event

^a Nausea and abdominal discomfort may be present also in partial complex seizure.

myoclonic syncope in 78 patients with apparent treatment-resistant epilepsy by means of tilt test, carotid sinus massage and long-term ECG monitoring with an implantable loop recorder. In total, an alternative diagnosis was found in 42% of cases: 19 developed profound hypotension or bradycardia during the tilt test, 1 had a typical vasovagal reaction during intravenous cannulation, 2 developed psychogenic symptoms during the tilt test, 7 had significant pauses during carotid sinus massage and 2 had prolonged bradycardia correlated precisely with seizures according to the implantable ECG loop recorder. They conclude that a cardiovascular evaluation may identify an alternative diagnosis in many patients with apparent epilepsy and should be considered early in the management of patients with convulsive blackouts. Conversely, from the loop recorder experience [139,153,154,158] a diagnosis of epilepsy was finally made even in a few patients in whom epilepsy had been excluded at the end of the conventional work-up.

- There are many neurological reasons to fall, but only rarely are such falls accompanied by loss of consciousness. *Cataplexy* is an example: a partial or complete loss of muscular control occurs triggered by emotions, usually laughter [260]. Even when the patient appears to be wholly unconscious, there is a later full recollection of all events. Cataplexy most often occurs as part of narcolepsy; in fact, the combination of cataplexy with daytime sleepiness ensures the diagnosis of narcolepsy.
- 'Drop attack' is an unclear entity. Definitions vary from the very expansive, encompassing syncope and most other causes to the more restrictive. The clearest use of the term concerns 'cryptogenic drop attacks' [261] describing middle-aged women (very rarely men) who suddenly drop on their knees without any apparent reason and warning, after which patients can get up immediately; because of this the disorder is also known as 'maladie des genoux bleus'. There is no loss of consciousness, or this is so short that it cannot be ascertained with certainty by patient or doctor. Commonly, patients remember landing on the floor. There are no associated signs or symptoms or signs of any kind. The disorder can exist unaltered for many years. There is no specific known cause for it. If used in this strict sense, the term has a specific meaning. The term is also used to describe atonic epileptic seizure in young children, but in such case the

attack may be longer. Drop attacks was used also to describe episodes of falling in patients with Menière's disease. Short-lived disturbances of the vestibular system may have caused sudden disequilibrium, described as being 'pushed' by the patient. Finally some authors appear to use drop attack simply as a substitute for unexplained falling. If it is used in the wide sense, it obscures rather than elucidates a variety of diverse disorders, and hampers understanding.

Psychiatric evaluation

Psychiatric illness features in the discussion of syncope in two ways. Firstly, psychiatric drugs may cause orthostatic failure and thereby true syncope (phenothiazines, tricyclic antidepressives, monoamine oxidase inhibitors). These drugs are prescribed for major diseases such as schizophrenia and depression. If this is the cause of syncope, a change in drugs may be needed, to be overseen by a psychiatrist. Secondly, psychogenic pseudosyncope (simply put, pretended unconsciousness) may occur in completely different disorders, e.g., factitious disorder, malingering, panic attack and conversion. It should not be assumed that this second group of disorders (with pseudosyncope) occurs more often in patients with other psychiatric disease, prone to drug-induced true syncope. When pseudosyncope is witnessed by experts, attacks can easily be recognised as such. Otherwise, a careful search for other causes of syncope is needed since the presence of psychiatric disorders does not exclude other causes. Patients with pseudosyncope associated with psychiatric illnesses are young, with low prevalence of heart disease and have frequent recurrent syncope. Patients with conversion reactions (hysteria) may faint in the presence of a witness and may not have injury.

A high prevalence of psychiatric disorders (24%), especially anxiety and depressive states, is now suspected to play a role in the differential diagnosis of syncope based on findings in one study of patients with syncope referred to a tertiary medical centre [262]. Syncope had been unexplained in many of the patients and a large proportion of the patients who received treatment for their psychiatric disorder showed a marked diminution in syncope. More recently, a populationbased study [42] showed a 35% prevalence of psychiatric disorders. The most common disorders were generalized anxiety (8.6%), panic disorder (4.3%) and major depression (12.2%). Psychiatric conditions such as conversion reactions can be reproduced by a psychosomatic response to tilttable testing (apparent syncope with normal vital signs) [263,264]. Two referral studies [263,264] showed a significant correlation between hyperventilation manoeuvres (resulting in near-syncope or syncope) and psychiatric causes of syncope. Unfortunately, 'syncope' was not always clearly defined, and psychiatric diagnoses were not always arrived at using predefined psychiatric criteria, leaving doubts as to the conclusions to be drawn.

Electroencephalography

In the early 1980s, electroencephalography (EEG) was one of the cornerstones of the workup for patients with syncope [265]. The possible contribution of the EEG is to disclose epileptiform abnormalities; there are no specific EEG findings for any loss of consciousness other that epilepsy. Accordingly, several studies [28,45,50,265-267] conclusively showed that electroencephalographic monitoring was of little use in unselected patients with syncope (Level B). Thus, electroencephalography is not recommended for patients in whom syncope is the most likely cause for a transient loss of consciousness; however, in patients in whom no likely cause was found (TLOC proper), or in whom epilepsy was the likely cause, an EEG is indicated.

Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging

No identifiable studies have specifically evaluated the use of brain imaging for patients with syncope. Early case series of such patients [19,28,45,50,251] found that computed tomography produced new information only in patients with focal neurological signs. Of 195 patients who were studied, the average yield of computed tomography was 4%; all patients who had positive scans had focal neurological findings or a witnessed seizure. It is therefore likely that at least some of these attacks did not concern syncope as used in these guidelines, but TLOC or probable epilepsy. The diagnostic utility of magnetic resonance imaging in syncope has not been studied. Thus, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in uncomplicated syncope should be avoided (Level B). When physical or historical features of central nervous system dysfunction are present, imaging may be needed, based on a clinical neurological evaluation.

Neurovascular studies

Carotid TIAs are not accompanied by loss of consciousness. Therefore, no studies suggest that

carotid Doppler ultrasonography is beneficial for patients with syncope.

Recommendations

Indications

Class I

- Neurological referral is indicated in patients in whom loss of consciousness cannot be attributed to syncope.
- In case of unequivocal syncope neurological referral is warranted when syncope may be due to autonomic failure or to a cerebrovascular steal syndrome.
- Psychiatric evaluation is recommended when symptoms suggest psychogenic pseudo-syncope or if true syncope is due to psychiatric medication, which may need to be altered.

Class III

 In all other patients with syncope, neurological and psychiatric investigations are not recommended.

Part 3. Treatment

General principles

The principal goals of treatment of the 'syncope patient' may be broadly classified into prevention of syncopal recurrences, and diminution of mortality risk. The need for initiating prophylactic treatment, and the relative importance of addressing one or both of these goals varies depending on many specific clinical circumstances, including:

- the level of certainty that the aetiology of the symptoms is known (see Part 2),
- an estimate of the likelihood that syncope will recur,
- the individual's anticipated syncope-associated mortality risk which is, for the most part, determined by the nature and severity of underlying cardiac and cardiovascular disease (see Part 1),
- the occurrence of, or potential risk for, physical or emotional injury associated with recurrent faints,
- the implications of syncope recurrence on occupation and avocation (i.e., individual economic and life-style issues),
- the public health risk, such as in the case of motor vehicle operators, pilots, etc., and
- an assessment of the effectiveness, safety, and potential adverse effects associated with

proposed therapies (in particular existing comorbidities in the patient being evaluated).

Neurally-mediated (reflex) syncope

Treatment goals: primarily prevention of symptom recurrence and associated injuries; improved quality of life.

In general, initial 'treatment' of all forms of neurally-mediated reflex syncope comprises education regarding avoidance of triggering events (e.g., hot crowded environments, volume depletion, effects of cough, tight collars, etc.), recognition of premonitory symptoms, and manoeuvres to abort the episode (e.g., supine posture). Additionally, if possible, strategies should address trigger factors directly (for example, suppressing the cause of cough in cough syncope). Despite the absence of randomized controlled trials for the treatment strategies outlined above, the value of these treatments is supported by basic physiological knowledge and small studies.

Additional treatment may be necessary in high risk or high frequency settings when:

- syncope is very frequent, e.g., alters the quality of life
- syncope is recurrent and unpredictable (absence of premonitory symptoms) and exposes patients at 'high risk' of trauma
- syncope occurs during the prosecution of a 'high risk' activity (e.g., driving, machine operator, flying, competitive athletics, etc.).

Treatment is not necessary in patients who have sustained a single syncope and are not having syncope in a high risk setting.

Vasovagal syncope

Despite the fact that vasovagal syncope is probably the most frequent of all causes of fainting, treatment strategies are as yet still based on an incomplete understanding of the pathophysiology of the faint. On the other hand, given the frequency with which the vasovagal syncope occurs, there is a wealth of clinical experience from which to draw. In the vast majority of cases, patients who seek medical advice after having experienced a vasovagal faint require, principally, reassurance and education regarding the nature of the condition. This assumption is derived from the knowledge of the benign nature of the disease. In particular, based on review of their medical history, patients should be informed of the likelihood of syncope recurrence. Initial advice should also include review of typical premonitory symptoms which may permit many individuals to recognize an impending episode and thereby avert a frank faint. Thus, avoiding venipuncture may be desirable when possible (e.g., not volunteering for blood donation), but psychological deconditioning may be necessary [268]. Additional common sense measures such as avoidance of volume depletion and prolonged exposure to upright posture and/or hot confining environments should also be discussed. In regard to these latter treatment concepts, formal randomized studies are not available, but physiological evidence and clinical experience are sufficient to warrant their inclusion here. Chronic vasodilator therapy given for concomitant conditions has been shown to enhance susceptibility to vasovagal syncope [269]. Thus, discontinuation or reduction of these drugs is advisable in susceptible patients.

When a more aggressive treatment strategy is needed, 'volume expanders' (e.g., increased dietary salt/electrolyte intake with fluids (e.g., 'sport' drinks, salt tablets)) or moderate exercise training [270–274] appear to be among the safest initial approaches (Level B).

Non-pharmacological 'physical' treatments are arising as a new front line treatment of vasovagal syncope. In highly motivated patients with recurrent vasovagal symptoms, the prescription of progressively prolonged periods of enforced upright posture (so-called 'tilt-training') may reduce syncope recurrence. However, this treatment is hampered by the low compliance of the patients to continue the training programme for a long period [275-278] (Level B). Two recent clinical trials [128,279] have shown that isometric counterpressure manoeuvres of the legs (leg crossing) or of the arms (hand grip and arm tensing) are able to induce a significant blood pressure increase during the phase of impending vasovagal syncope, which allows the patient to avoid or delay losing consciousness in most cases. This effect seems to be mediated largely by sympathetic nerve discharge and vascular resistance increase during manoeuvres and to mechanical compression of the venous vascular bed in the legs and abdomen. In the acute tilt study, both studies showed that the manoeuvres, initiated at the time of impending syncope, caused an abrupt rise in systemic blood pressure, which was already evident after a few seconds. Consequently, symptoms of impending syncope disappeared in many patients and remained unchanged in others, and syncope was aborted. This approach seems to be very helpful in real life. Indeed, during the clinical follow-up study, the patients were able to enact a counter-pressure manoeuvre and to relieve symptoms in the vast majority of cases. The treatment is therefore easy to perform, reliable, safe and well accepted by the patients, who expressed good satisfaction (Level B).

Many drugs have been used in the treatment of vasovagal syncope (beta-blockers, disopyramide, scopolamine, clonidine, theophilline, fludrocortisone, ephedrine, etilefrine, midodrine, clonidine, serotonin reuptake inhibitors, etc.). In general, while the results have been satisfactory in uncontrolled trials or short-term controlled trials [280–293] with few exceptions [136,294], several long-term placebo-controlled prospective trials have been unable to show a benefit of the active drug over placebo [137–138,295–299] with one exception [300].

In vasovagal syncope beta-blockers, owing to their negative inotropic effect, have been supposed to lessen the degree of mechanoreceptor activation associated with abrupt fall in venous return and block the effects of elevated circulating adrenaline, but this theory has not been supported by facts. A rationale for use of betablockers is lacking in the other forms of neurallymediated syncope and they may be detrimental in the dysautonomic syndromes. Beta-blockers may enhance bradycardia in the carotid sinus syndrome and in all other cardioinhibitory forms of neurallymediated syncope. Beta-adrenergic blocking drugs have been claimed to be useful in many uncontrolled studies [280,282-286] or in one short-term controlled study [281], but have failed to be effective in five of six long-term follow-up controlled studies [295-299,301] and in one shortterm controlled study [293]. Atenolol proved to be ineffective in preventing syncopal recurrences in a well designed double blind randomized controlled trial [299]: in the intention-to-treat analysis there was a trend towards a better outcome in patients treated with placebo (p = 0.09), especially in the tilt-negative subgroup and adverse events occurred more likely in the active arm patients (p = 0.05). Thus the evidence fails to support betablocker efficacy (Level A).

Since failure to achieve proper vasoconstriction of the peripheral vessels is common to all of these disorders, vasoconstrictive substances can be employed. Vasoconstrictor drugs are potentially more effective in orthostatic hypotension caused by autonomic dysfunction than in the neurally-mediated syncopes. Although effective, vasoconstrictor drugs used in the past (namely amphetamine-like methylphenidate and catecholamines) had several major adverse effects due to their potent effect on the central nervous system. Alternatives are the new alpha stimulating agents, midodrine and etilefrine. Etilefrine was studied as a segment of the randomized placebo-controlled double-blind VASIS trial [138]. The 126 patients had had a median of 4 syncopal episodes during the previous 2 years and had a positive response to tilt test. During the follow-up the patients were treated with etilefrine or placebo 25 mg twice a day; syncope recurred in 24% of patients and in 24% of controls and the time to first syncopal recurrence was also similar (106 days etilefrine versus 112 days placebo). These negative results were confirmed by another open label clinical randomized trial [297]; finally, a randomized acute tilt study [136] also failed to show a pathophysiological background for the efficacy of etilefrine. Thus, the evidence fails to support etilefrine efficacy (Level B).

Midodrine seemed to be effective in reducing symptoms (syncope and presyncope) and improving quality of life (evaluated by standardized questionnaires) during the short term in 2 small open label randomized trials [287,302] performed in patients affected by very frequent 'hypotensive' symptoms (>1 syncope/month); the spontaneous symptoms were reproduced during tilt test which showed a dominant vasodepressor response. Even if defined as 'neurocardiogenic', the clinical features of the patients of these studies seem different from those of the typical vasovagal syncope and of the VASIS-like patients and probably overlap with some forms of orthostatic hypotension. Vasoconstrictor drugs are potentially more effective in orthostatic hypotension than in the neurally-mediated syncopes. Midodrine was thoroughly investigated for orthostatic hypotension and was shown to be an effective treatment in some trials (see next section); the data to support the use of midodrine in vasovagal syncope are far less compelling.

Paroxetine has been shown to be effective in one placebo-controlled trial [300] which included a very large number of highly symptomatic patients in one institution, but failed to show a significant effect on baroreflex control of sympathetic nerve activity in a double-blind randomized 6-month follow study performed in healthy subjects [302]. Until the study is confirmed by others, use of this drug cannot be recommended.

Head-up tilt laboratory findings have generally reported that pacing fails to prevent syncope, although it may prolong the premonitory warning phase [303–307]. Nevertheless, pacing has been the subject of a number of both small single/ multiple-centre observational studies [303–309]

demonstrating effectiveness in highly select patient populations. Pacing has been the subject of five major multicentre randomized controlled trials [140,310-313]: three unblinded gave positive results and two blinded gave negative results. In this regard, the strongest supportive evidence is provided in the published report of the North American Vasovagal Pacemaker Study (VPS) [310], and the pacemaker arm of the European VASIS trial [140]. In the randomized controlled Syncope Diagnosis and Treatment Study (SYDIT) [311], pacemaker was superior to the beta-blocker atenolol in preventing syncopal recurrences. The Second Vasovagal Pacemaker Study (VPS II) [312] and the Vasovagal Syncope and Pacing Trial (Synpace) [313] differed from the previous trials because the patients in the control arm had received a pacemaker implant that was switched off. Although there was a 30% reduction in syncope recurrence rate (95% CI -33% to 63%), the VPS II study failed to prove a significant superiority of pacemaker therapy. In the Synpace study syncope recurred in 50% of patients assigned to active pacemaker and in 38% of patients assigned to inactive pacemaker. Putting together the results of the five trials, 318 patients were evaluated; syncope recurred in 21% (33/156) of the paced patients and in 44% (72/162)of not paced patients (p < 0.000). However, all the studies have weaknesses and further follow-up studies addressing many of these limitations (particularly the pre-implant selection criteria of the patients who might benefit from pacemaker therapy) need to be completed before pacing can considered an established therapy in other than a select group of patients with recurrent vasovagal syncope (Level B). It seems that pacing therapy might be effective in some but not in all patients. This is not surprising if we consider that pacing is probably efficacious for asystolic reflex but has no role to combat hypotension which is frequently the dominant reflex in neurally-mediated syncope. How to stratify the patients is still uncertain. A recent study using the implantable loop recorder as reference standard [139] showed that only about half of the patients had an asystolic pause recorded at the time of spontaneous syncope. The role of the implantable loop recorder for selecting patients who may benefit from cardiac pacing is presently under evaluation. Anyway, it must be underlined that the decision to implant a pacemaker needs to be kept in the clinical context of a benign condition which frequently affects young patients. Thus, cardiac pacing should be limited as a choice of last resort choice to a very selected small proportion of patients affected by severe vasovagal syncope.

Carotid sinus syndrome

Carotid sinus syndrome has long been recognized as a potential cause of syncope. However, in current clinical practice its importance is probably often underestimated. Controversy exists as to the frequency with which carotid sinus hypersensitivity is responsible for spontaneous syncopal episodes (i.e., carotid sinus syndrome). In part this controversy may be resolved by considering both 'spontaneous' and 'induced' carotid sinus syndrome separately. Thus, 'spontaneous carotid sinus syndrome' may be defined as syncope which, by history, seems to occur in close relationship with accidental mechanical manipulation of the carotid sinuses, and which can often be reproduced by carotid sinus massage. Spontaneous carotid sinus syndrome is rare and accounts for only about 1% of all causes of syncope [80]. On the other hand, 'induced carotid sinus syndrome', is more broadly defined, and may be accepted as being present even though a close relationship between manipulation of the carotid sinus and the occurrence of syncope is not demonstrated. Thus, induced carotid sinus syndrome is diagnosed in patients who are found to have an abnormal response to carotid sinus massage and an otherwise negative work-up for syncope. Regarded in this way, carotid sinus syndrome is much more frequent, being found in 26-60% of patients affected by unexplained syncope [72-75,83,84] (see Part 2). Moreover, carotid sinus syndrome may be responsible for many cases of syncope or unexplained 'falls' in older persons (see Part 4).

Treatment must be guided by the results of the carotid sinus massage. Cardiac pacing appears to be beneficial in carotid sinus syndrome (Level B) and is acknowledged to be the treatment of choice when bradycardia has been documented [71,81,92,314–319]. For the most part, dual-chamber cardiac pacing is preferred (Level B) [316–318], although it has been argued that single-chamber ventricular pacing may be sufficient in those relatively infrequent cases in which there is absence of both a marked vasodepressor component to the hypotension and so-called 'ventricular pacing effect' [71]. Medical therapy for carotid sinus syndrome has largely been abandoned [320, 321]. There are as yet no randomized studies examining treatment of carotid sinus syncope in which hypotension is predominantly of vasodepressor origin. Certain therapies used for vasovagal syncope may be expected to be of some benefit; vasoconstrictors and salt are the most likely in this regard, but supine hypertension is a concern. Chronic vasodilator therapy given for concomitant conditions has been shown to enhance susceptibility to carotid sinus syndrome [308]. Thus, discontinuation or reduction of these drugs is advisable in susceptible patients.

Situational syncope

Situational syncope refers to those forms of neurally-mediated syncope associated with specific scenarios (e.g., micturition, coughing, defaecating, arising from squatting etc.). In one way or another the mechanisms of the hypotension differ in each case. In certain cases (e.g., cough syncope, and syncope following micturition (so-called postmicturition syncope)) the condition appears to be primarily neural reflex mediated. In other conditions (e.g., straining, squatting) the mechanism appears to be largely unrelated to neural reflex activity. Nevertheless, since treatment strategies are similar it is reasonable to combine them here.

Treatment of most forms of neurally-mediated situational syncope relies heavily on avoiding or ameliorating the trigger event. In the case of 'trumpet blower's' syncope, identifying the trigger is straightforward, although its avoidance may have important economic and life-style implications for a dedicated musician. Similarly, the 'cough' trigger in cough syncope (for example, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma) is readily recognized, but suppressing it (the ideal treatment) is not easily accomplished. In other instances, it is impossible to avoid exposure to the trigger situation (e.g., unpredictable emotional upset or painful stimuli, bowel movement (defaecation syncope), bladder emptying (post-micturition syncope)). In conditions where trigger avoidance is not entirely feasible, certain general treatment strategies may be advocated, including: maintenance of central volume; protected posture (e.g., sitting rather than standing); slower changes of posture (e.g., waiting after a bowel movement before arising); recognition of increased risk when getting out of a warm bed. In specific conditions, certain additional advice may be helpful, such as use of stool softeners in patients with defaecation syncope, avoidance of excessive fluid intake (especially alcohol) just prior to bedtime in post-micturition syncope, and elimination of excessive cold drinks or large boluses of food or oesophageal spasm in 'swallow' syncope.

Patients with situational syncope often have a positive response to carotid sinus massage and/ or tilt testing. In one study [83] the correspondence was 33% and 49% of cases, respectively. Consequently, it has been suggested that treatment of situational syncope can be guided by the responses of these tests, especially for the decision to implant a pacemaker. However, further study is needed to determine whether this is the case.

Recommendations

In general, initial treatment, e.g., education and reassurance, is sufficient.

- Additional treatment may be necessary in high risk or high frequency settings when:
- syncope is very frequent, e.g., alters the quality of life
- syncope is recurrent and unpredictable (absence of premonitory symptoms) and exposes patients at 'high risk' of trauma
- syncope occurs during the prosecution of a 'high risk' activity (e.g., driving, machine operator, flying, competitive athletics, etc.)

Treatment is not necessary in patients who have sustained a single syncope and are not having syncope in a high risk setting.

It is valuable to assess the relative contribution of cardioinhibition and vasodepression before embarking on treatment as there are different therapeutic strategies for the two aspects. Even if evidence of utility of such an assessment exists only for the carotid sinus massage, it is recommended to extend this assessment also by means of tilt testing or implantable loop recorder.

Class I

- Explanation of the risk, and reassurance about the prognosis in vasovagal syncope.
- Avoidance of trigger events as much as possible and reducing magnitude of potential triggers when feasible (e.g., emotional upset) and causal situation in situational syncope.
- Modification or discontinuation of hypotensive drug treatment for concomitant conditions.
- Cardiac pacing in patients with cardioinhibitory or mixed carotid sinus syndrome.

Class II

- Volume expansion by salt supplements, an exercise programme or head-up tilt sleeping (>10°) in posture-related syncope.
- Tilt training in patients with vasovagal syncope
- Isometric leg and arm counter-pressure manoeuvres in patients with vasovagal syncope.
- Cardiac pacing in patients with cardioinhibitory vasovagal syncope with a frequency > 5 attacks per year or severe physical injury or accident and age > 40.

Class III

 The evidence fails to support the efficacy of betaadrenergic blocking drugs. Beta-adrenergic blocking drugs may aggravate bradycardia in some cardioinhibitory cases.

Orthostatic hypotension

Treatment goals: prevention of symptom recurrence and associated injuries; improved quality of life.

Establishing the underlying diagnosis is crucial in patients with orthostatic hypotension [323]. The classification and the diagnosis of the syndromes of orthostatic hypotension have been treated in Part 2.

Drug-induced autonomic failure is probably the most frequent cause of orthostatic hypotension. The principal treatment strategy is elimination of the offending agent. Only in occasional patients is this not possible due to the essential nature of the responsible medication. Diuretics and vasodilators are the most important agents in this setting. Alcohol, apart from inducing an autonomic as well a somatic neuropathy, is also commonly associated with orthostatic intolerance. The mechanisms of the latter effect include both direct acute actions on central nervous system as well as central volume depletion. The principal treatment strategy is avoidance of the offending agent.

A working knowledge of the physiology and pathophysiology of blood pressure control is crucial in the management of patients with primary and secondary autonomic failure [11]. The main target for therapy should be reducing symptoms indicative of hypoperfusion of the brain (e.g., syncope, near-syncope, confusion, etc.). Treatment can improve orthostatic symptoms markedly even though the rise in systolic arterial blood pressure is relatively small (10–15 mmHg); bringing the mean arterial pressure up just enough to be once again within the auto regulatory zone can make a substantial functional difference [324]. In this regard, it is reasonable for all patients to receive advice and education on factors that influence systemic blood pressure, such as avoiding sudden head-up postural change (especially on waking), standing still for a prolonged period of time, prolonged recumbence during daytime, straining during micturition and defaecation, hyperventilation, high environmental temperature (including hot baths, showers, and saunas), severe exertion, large meals (especially with refined carbohydrates), alcohol and drugs with vasodepressor properties. Ambulatory blood pressure recordings may be helpful in identifying circumstances (e.g., time of the day) when blood pressure fluctuation is most severe. These recordings may also help identify supine/nocturnal hypertension in treated patients.

Additional treatment principles, used alone or in combination, are appropriate for consideration on an individual patient basis:

- chronic expansion of intravascular volume by encouraging a higher than normal salt intake and fluid intake of 2–2.5 litres per day [323,324]. Additional options include use of fludrocortisone in low dose (0.1–0.2 mg/day), and raising the head of the bed on blocks to permit gravitational exposure during sleep [324,329]. By way of a cautionary note, it is desirable to avoid supine/nocturnal hypertension as much as possible (Level B)
- reduce vascular volume into which gravitation induced pooling occurs by use of abdominal binders and/or waist height support stockings or garments [323,325]
- make use of portable chairs [326]
- small frequent meals with reduced carbohydrate content [323]
- introduce physical counter manoeuvres such as leg crossing and squatting [327,328]
- judicious exercise of leg and abdominal muscles, especially swimming [323].

In those circumstances when non-pharmacological methods are unsuccessful, drug treatment may be indicated as an additional measure. Drugs, however, may aggravate supine hypertension. Additionally, drug therapy is often less useful in the setting of hypotension during physical exercise or in warm surroundings [323]. The use of salt retaining steroids (i.e., principally fludrocortisone) is usually considered first [323,324,329]. Additional benefit may then be achieved with agents which increase peripheral resistance and reduce the tendency for gravitational downward displacement of central volume. Midodrine appears to be of particular interest given the rapidly expanding and generally positive experience (Level B) [325-332]. If the combination of fludrocortisone and sympathetic vasoconstrictor drugs does not produce the desired effect, then referral to medical centres specializing in the evaluation and treatment of autonomic failure should be considered. These centres may have access to investigational agents and/or may be more experienced in the use of drug combinations. Thus, desmopressin may be of value in those patients with nocturnal polyuria, octreotride in those with postprandial hypotension and erythropoietin in those with anaemia [323]. Cardiac pacing at relatively rapid rates has been reported, but has not been subject to rigorous study and

is not currently considered to be of value in treatment.

Recommendations

Class I

 Syncope due to orthostatic hypotension should be treated in all patients. In many instances treatment entails only modification of drug treatment for concomitant conditions.

Cardiac arrhythmias as primary cause

Treatment goals: prevention of symptom recurrence, improved quality of life, reduction of mortality risk.

Primary cardiac arrhythmias imply rhythm disturbances associated with intrinsic cardiac disease or other structural anomalies (e.g., accessory conduction pathways) and are among the most frequent causes of syncope. Intrinsic sinus node dysfunction (brady- and tachyarrhythmias), conduction system disturbances, and both supraventricular and ventricular tachycardias are included. The basis of syncope in these situations is multifactorial, including the rate of the arrhythmia, the status of left ventricular function, and the adequacy of vascular compensation (including the potential impact of neural reflex effects).

Sinus node dysfunction (including

bradycardia/tachycardia syndrome)

Decisions regarding treatment strategy must of necessity consider the severity and nature of symptomatic arrhythmias, as well as the disease setting.

Recent insights suggest that, when syncope occurs in patients with sinus bradycardia, a disturbance of the autonomic nervous system is often a cause [15,84]. Thus, increased susceptibility to neurally-mediated bradycardia/hypotension, alone or in association with the intrinsic sinus-node dysfunction, is necessary to cause syncope. A reflex mechanism of syncope fits well with the unpredictable natural history of syncopal recurrences, and may in part explain why syncope recurs in about 20% of sick sinus syndrome patients during long-term follow-up despite adequate pacing [333].

In general, cardiac pacemaker therapy is indicated and has proved highly effective in patients with sinus node dysfunction when bradyarrhythmia has been demonstrated to account for syncope [334–339] (Class I, Level B). Permanent pacing will frequently relieve symptoms but may not affect survival, which is not related to the arrhythmia. Further, since a diagnosis of sinus node dysfunction is inherently associated with an inappropriate chronotropic response, the use of rate-adaptive pacing (especially atrial-based rate-responsive pacing) may be warranted for purposes of both minimizing exertion related lightheadedness or syncope.

In sinus node dysfunction, physiological pacing (atrial or dual-chamber) has been definitely shown to be superior to VVI pacing. Physiological pacing lowers risk of developing atrial fibrillation and systemic embolism (Class I, Level A) [337,338]. It may also improve quality of life by reducing symptoms of congestive heart failure, low cardiac output and angina pectoris, and thereby perhaps improve survival [335–338] (Class I, Level A). VVI or VVIR pacing should therefore be avoided in sick sinus syndrome.

Patients with sinus node dysfunction are often exposed to a wide range of drugs that may exacerbate or unmask underlying susceptibility to bradycardia and create pauses of sufficient duration to result in syncope. For example, cardiac glycosides, beta-adrenergic blockers, calcium channel blockers, and membrane-active antiarrhythmic agents (especially sotalol and amiodarone) are used to treat coexisting paroxysmal atrial tachyarrhythmias. Some of these same drugs, and many other bradycardia-promoting sympatholytic agents, are used to treat hypertension, a common problem in the generally older sinus node dysfunction population. Elimination of offending agents is an important element in preventing syncope recurrence. However, when substitution is not feasible, cardiac pacing may be necessary. Percutaneous cardiac ablative techniques for atrial tachyarrhythmia control have become of increasing importance in selected patients with the bradycardia-tachycardia form of the sick sinus syndrome, but are only infrequently used primarily for prevention of syncope.

AV conduction system disease

As a rule, it is the more severe forms of acquired AV block (that is, Mobitz type II block, 'high grade' and complete AV block) which are most closely associated with syncope. In these cases, the cardiac rhythm may become dependent on subsidiary (often unreliable) pacemaker sites. Syncope (reported in 38–61 percent [340,341]) occurs due to the often long delay before these pacemakers begin to 'fire'. In addition these subsidiary pacemaker sites typically have relatively slow rates (typically 25–40 beats/min); consequently, syncope or pre-syncope may be due to inadequate cerebral perfusion. Bradycardia also prolongs repolarization and predisposes to polymorphic

ventricular tachycardia, especially of the torsade de pointes type.

Apart from the use of atropine (or isoprenaline) in certain forms of transient AV block (e.g., that associated with neurally-mediated events including acute inferior wall myocardial infarction), cardiac pacing has replaced medical interventions in the treatment of syncope with symptomatic AV block. Although formal randomized controlled trials have not been performed, it is clear from several observational studies that pacing is able to improve survival in patients with heart block as well as prevent syncopal recurrences (Class I, Level B) [342–344]. A logical inference, but not proven, is that pacing may also be life-saving in patients with bundle branch block and syncope in whom the mechanism of the faint is suspected to be intermittent AV block. However, it is also critical to consider the possibility that ventricular tachyarrhythmias are responsible for loss of consciousness, since many patients who present with varying degrees of conduction system disease have significant concomitant left ventricular dysfunction.

Paroxysmal supraventricular and ventricular tachycardias

As a rule, supraventricular tachyarrhythmias are less frequently implicated as causes of syncope among patients referred for electrophysiological assessment of syncope of unknown origin. Conversely, the ventricular tachyarrhythmia tends to be a much more frequent and serious cause of syncope. The rate of the tachycardia, the volume status and posture of the patient at time of onset of the arrhythmia, the presence of associated structural cardiopulmonary disease, and the integrity of reflex peripheral vascular compensation are key factors determining whether hypotension of sufficient severity to cause syncope occurs. As a rule, if symptoms of syncope or near syncope do develop, it is at the onset of a paroxysmal tachycardia, before vascular compensation (i.e., vasoconstriction) can evolve. However, syncope may also occur at the termination of tachycardia if a pause ensues prior to restoration of a stable atrial rhythm. An important example of the latter scenario is in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation and sinus node dysfunction. A neural reflex component (preventing or delaying vasoconstrictor compensation) may play an important role when syncope occurs in association with supraventricular tachyarrhythmias, especially when heart rate is not particularly high [13,14]. Similarly, drug effects may affect vascular compensation.

In the case of paroxysmal supraventricular tachyarrhythmias, there is little in the way of long-term follow-up studies examining the efficacy

of conventional antiarrhythmic drug treatment when the presenting feature was syncope. Transcatheter ablation has become a very cost-effective treatment option and in paroxysmal supraventricular arrhythmia associated with syncope is probably the treatment of choice (Class I).

Syncope due to torsades de pointes is not uncommon and is, in its acquired form, the result of drugs which prolong the QT interval. Some of these drugs are listed in Table 3.1. Treatment is the immediate discontinuation of the suspected drug (Class I).

In the case of syncope due to ventricular tachycardia (VT), drug therapy may be useful in the setting of a normal heart or of heart disease with mild cardiac dysfunction. Early consideration is usually given to class 3 agents (particularly amiodarone), given its low proarrhythmic risk and generally well tolerated haemodynamic impact. However, in patients with depressed cardiac function, given the difficulty of assuring effective prophylaxis in this often high-risk patient population, the use of implantable pacemaker cardioverter-defibrillators (ICDs) is warranted.

Currently, ablation techniques are appropriate first choices in only a few forms of ventricular tachycardia, specifically right ventricular outflow tract tachycardia, bundle-branch reentry tachycardia, and so-called verapamil sensitive left ventricular tachycardias. Although multicentre trials of this strategy have not been undertaken, the evidence is compelling for pursuing ablation in the former tachycardia (i.e., right ventricle outflow tract), and reasonably strong in bundlebranch reentry (where an ICD may also be warranted in the setting of severe left ventricular dysfunction) and verapamil sensitive left ventricular tachycardia (fascicular tachycardia).

With regard to implantable devices for symptomatic ventricular tacharrhythmias, several prospective treatment trials provide evidence favouring ICD efficacy in terms of mortality risk compared with conventional pharmacological approaches. Although these studies did not directly target syncope patients, it is reasonable to extend the observations to those syncope patients in whom ventricular tachyarrhythmias and poor left ventricular function are identified. Furthermore, reports examining this issue in syncopal patients provide support for early ICD implantation [206-213]; their results are discussed in Part 2, electrophysiological study section. There are some situations, which are consistent with those reports, in which ICD therapy has been suggested to be useful to interrupt syncopal ventricular tachyarrhythmias and perhaps to increase survival (Table 3.2).

511

Table 3.1	Drugs that can	prolong the QT in	terval and
cause torsa	des de pointes	(modified from re	ef. [345])

Antiarrhythmic agents Class I Ajmaline ^a Disopyramide ^a Quinidine ^a Procainamide ^a Propafenone ^a
Class III Amiodarone ^a Azimilide ^a Dofetilide ^a Ibutilide ^a <i>N</i> -Acetylprocainamide (NAPA) ^a Sematilide ^a Sotalol ^a
Vasodilators/antianginal agents Bepridil ^a Lipoflazine ^a Prenylamine ^a
Psychoactive agents Amitryptiline ^a Clomipramine Cloral hydrate ^a Chlorpromazine ^a Citalopram ^a Desipramine ^a Doxepin ^a Droperidol ^a Fluphenazine Haloperidol ^a Imipramine ^a Lithium ^a Maprotiline Mesoridazine Nortryptiline Pericycline ^a Pimozide Prochlorperazine ^a Sertindole ^a Sultopride ^a Thioridazine ^a Timiperone Trifluoperazine ^a
Antimicrobial Amantadine ^a Clarythromycin ^a Chloroquine ^a Cotrimoxazole ^a Erythromycin ^a Fluconazole Grepafloxacin ^a Halofantrine ^a Ketoconazole ^a

Pentamidine^a

Table 3.1 (continued)

Quinine ^a
Spiramycine ^a
Sparfloxacine

- Non-sedating antihistamines
- Astemizole^a Diphenhydramine^a Ebastine Hydroxyzine Terfenadine^a

Others Cisapride^a

Probucol^a Terodiline^a Vasopressin

These data derive from what is effectively a non-controlled review of the literature. Hence, some of these drugs have profound effects on QT prolongation and on induction of torsades de pointes, and others have minor effects whose documentation is questionable.

^a Torsades de pointes reported.

Implanted device (pacemaker, ICD) malfunction

Infrequently, implantable pacing systems have been associated with provoking near-syncope or syncope. More often, however, syncope in such patients is unrelated to the device [345].

Table 3.2Situations in which ICD therapy is likelyto be useful

- Documented syncopal ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation without correctable causes (e.g., drug-induced) (Class I, Level A)
- Undocumented syncope likely to be due to ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation:
 - Inducible sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia with severe haemodynamic compromise, in the absence of another competing diagnosis as a cause of syncope (Class I, Level B)
 - Very depressed left ventricular systolic function in the absence of another competing diagnosis as a cause of syncope (Class II, Level B)
 - Established long QT syndrome, Brugada syndrome, arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, or hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, with a family history of sudden death, in the absence of another competing diagnosis for the cause of syncope (Class II)
 - Brugada syndrome or arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia and inducible ventricular tachyarrhythmias with severe haemodynamic compromise in the absence of another competing diagnosis for the cause of syncope (Class II)

When syncope is attributable to the implanted device, it may occur as a result of pulse generator battery depletion or failure, or lead failure, in a pacemaker dependent patient. Device/lead replacement is indicated and eliminates the problem. Alternatively, certain patients may experience such symptoms as a result of 'pacemaker syndrome', a condition which itself incorporates many possible mechanisms for inducing hypotension. In the case of pacemaker syndrome [346], device re-programming to eliminate the problem is usually feasible although replacement is occasionally needed (e.g., replace a single chamber ventricular pulse generator with an atrial-based pacing system). ICDs may also be associated with syncope if they fail to diagnose and/or treat a symptom producing arrhythmia, or if effective treatment is delayed. Re-programming of the device generally resolves the problem. There are no large studies examining the effectiveness of the above noted treatments, but clinical experience suggests their adequacy (Class I).

Recommendations

Class I

• Syncope due to cardiac arrhythmias must receive treatment appropriate to the cause in all patients in whom it is life-threatening and when there is a high risk of injury.

Class II

- Treatment may be employed when the culprit arrhythmia has not been demonstrated and a diagnosis of life-threatening arrhythmia is presumed from surrogate data.
- Treatment may be employed when a culprit arrhythmia has been identified but is not lifethreatening or presenting a high risk of injury.

Structural cardiac or cardiopulmonary disease

Treatment goals: prevention of symptom recurrence, reduction of mortality risk.

Structural cardiac or cardiopulmonary disease is often present in older syncope patients. However, in these cases it is more often the arrhythmias associated with structural disease that are the cause of the symptoms. In terms of syncope directly attributable to structural disease, probably the most common is that which occurs in conjunction with acute myocardial ischaemia or infarction. Other relatively common acute medical conditions associated with syncope include pulmonary embolism, and pericardial tamponade. The basis of syncope in these conditions is multifactorial, including both the haemodynamic impact of the specific lesion as well as neurally-mediated reflex effects. The latter is especially important in the setting of acute ischaemic events, exemplified by the atropine-responsive bradycardia and hypotension often associated with inferior wall myocardial infarction. Syncope is of considerable concern when it is associated with conditions in which there is fixed or dynamic obstruction to left ventricular outflow (e.g., aortic stenosis, hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy). In such cases symptoms are often provoked by physical exertion, but may also develop if an otherwise benign arrhythmia should occur (e.g., atrial fibrillation). The basis for the faint is in part inadequate blood flow due to the mechanical obstruction. However, especially in the case of valvular aortic stenosis, neural reflex disturbance of vascular control is an important contributor to hypotension [12]. In hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, (with or without left ventricle outflow obstruction) neural reflex mechanisms may also play a role, but occurrence of atrial tachyarrhythmias (particularly atrial fibrillation) or ventricular tachycardia (even at relatively modest rates) are particularly important causes of syncopal events [65]. Other less common causes of syncope in this class include left ventricular inflow obstruction in patients with mitral stenosis or atrial myxoma, right ventricular outflow obstruction, and right-to-left shunting secondary to pulmonary stenosis or pulmonary hypertension. The mechanism of the faint may once again be multifactorial, with haemodynamic, arrhythmic, and neurally-mediated origins in need of evaluation.

In syncope associated with myocardial ischaemia, pharmacological therapy and/or revascularization is clearly the appropriate strategy in most cases. Similarly, when syncope is closely associated with surgically addressable lesions (e.g., valvular aortic stenosis, atrial myxoma, congenital cardiac anomaly), a direct corrective approach is often feasible. On the other hand, when syncope is caused by certain difficult to treat conditions such as primary pulmonary hypertension or restrictive cardiomyopathy, it is often impossible adequately to ameliorate the underlying problem. There are no data on the effect of reducing outflow gradient on relief of syncopal relapses in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy.

Recommendations

Class I Treatment is best directed at amelioration of the specific structural lesion or its consequences.

Vascular steal syndromes

Subclavian steal is rare but is the most commonly recognized condition in this group. This may occur on a congenital [347] or acquired basis [348], with low pressure within the subclavian artery causing retrograde flow to occur in the ipsilateral vertebral artery (especially during upper arm exercise). The result is a diminution of cerebral blood flow. Syncope associated with upper extremity exercise in the setting subclavian steal syndrome (may warrant surgery or angioplasty). Direct corrective angioplasty or surgery is usually feasible and effective (Class I).

Metabolic

Metabolic disturbances are relatively infrequent causes of true loss of consciousness. More often these conditions may be responsible for confusional states or behavioural disturbances, lasting much longer than syncope. Nevertheless, making a clearcut distinction between such symptoms and syncope may not be possible by history alone.

Hyperventilation resulting in hypocapnia and transient alkalosis may be the most important clinical condition associated with impaired consciousness in this category, but it is in fact not known whether or not consciousness can be lost through hyperventilation. Cerebral vasoconstriction caused by the hypocapnia and alkalosis, with consequent diminished cerebral perfusion has been commonly accepted as the cause of the faint [5]. On the other hand, hyperventilation alone does not seem capable of inducing faints in supine subjects. Consequently, whether or not hyperventilation is actually the cause of the faint, the frequent clinical association with panic attacks warrants its being considered in the differential diagnosis of true syncope. Patients with recurrent faints associated with panic attacks warrant psychiatric consultation (see Part 2).

Sleep-disordered breathing, which includes obstructive sleep apnoea as its most extreme variant, is characterized by intermittent episodes of partial or complete obstruction of the upper airway during sleep that disrupts normal ventilation and sleep architecture and is typically associated with snoring and daytime sleepiness. Repetitive episodes of airway occlusion with hypoxia, hypercapnia, and the dramatic changes in intrathoracic pressures result in diverse autonomic, humoral, neuroendocrine, and haemodynamic responses. An apnoeic episode associated with hypoxia induces a substantial increase in vagal tone which can result in bradycardia. Differentiating sleep apnoea from true syncope occurring during sleep - which may be due to arrhythmia or vasovagal reflex - is sometimes difficult [349–350].

Part 4. Special issues in evaluating patients with syncope

Need for hospitalization

The admission decision can be considered with two different objectives: for diagnosis or for therapy. In patients with syncope in whom the aetiology remains unknown after the initial baseline evaluation a risk stratification can be used for hospitalization decision. In patients in whom the aetiology of syncope has been diagnosed after the initial clinical evaluation, the hospitalization decision depends on the prognosis of the underlying aetiology and/or the treatment that these patients need.

There are several prognostic markers that must be considered in patients with syncope which have been discussed in the previous sections. The presence of underlying structural heart disease and abnormalities of the baseline ECG are important marker for cardiac syncope. An important, but less frequent, prognostic marker is the family history of sudden death. Rarely, have malignant ventricular arrhythmias a genetic basis. In some of these cases, baseline ECG can be, permanently or transiently, normal. These entities have already been discussed. A summary of recommendations is shown in Table 4.1.

When is it safe not to hospitalize?

Patients with isolated or rare syncopal episodes, in whom there is no evidence of structural heart disease and who have a normal baseline ECG, have a high probability of having a neurally-mediated syncope and a low risk of cardiac syncope. These patients have a good prognosis in terms of survival irrespective of the results of head up tilt test. The evaluation of these patients generally can be completed entirely on an ambulatory basis. Patients with neurally-mediated syncope, in the absence of structural heart disease and normal ECG, have a good prognosis in terms of survival, and generally do not need specific treatment apart from counselling and general measures already defined. If treatment is needed because of recurrences it can be initiated on an ambulatory basis. If syncope evaluation is to be completed outside hospital, cautionary advice regarding driving, occupations, and/or avocation restrictions should be provided at such time.

Table 4.1When to hospitalize a patient withsyncope

For diagnosis

- Suspected or known significant heart disease
- Those ECG abnormalities suspected of arrhythmic syncope listed in Table 2.3
- Syncope occurring during exercise
- Syncope causing severe injury
- Family history of sudden death
- Other categories that occasionally may need to be admitted:
 - patients without heart disease but with sudden onset of palpitations shortly before syncope, syncope in the supine position and patients with frequent recurrent episodes
 - patients with minimal or mild heart disease when there is high suspicion of cardiac syncope

For treatment

- Cardiac arrhythmias as cause of syncope (see Recommendations for initial evaluation, Part 2)
- Syncope due to cardiac ischaemia (see Recommendations for initial evaluation, Part 2)
- Syncope secondary to the structural cardiac or cardiopulmonary diseases (listed in Table 1.1)
- Cardioinhibitory neurally-mediated syncope when pacemaker implantation is planned

Syncope in the elderly

Background

In the Framingham study [17], the incidence of syncope was 11 per 1000 person-years for both men and women at the age of 70-79 and 17 per 1000 person-years for men and 19 per 1000 personyears for women at the age \geq 80. The incidence of syncope in an elderly instituzionalized population is 6% per year, with a 10% prevalence and 30% 2 year recurrence rate [18]. These data are probably underestimates because of the exclusion of syncopal episodes which present as falls. Morbidity related to syncope is more common in older persons and ranges from loss of confidence, depressive illness and fear of falling to fractures and consequent institutionalization [351]. Age associated physiological changes in heart rate, blood pressure, cerebral blood flow, baroreflex sensitivity and intravascular volume regulation, combined with comorbid conditions and concurrent medications, account for the higher incidence of syncope in the elderly [6].

Causes

The commonest causes of syncope in older adults are orthostatic hypotension, carotid sinus hypersensitivity, neurally-mediated syncope and cardiac arrhythmias [352,353]. The prevalence of orthostatic hypotension varies from 6% in community dwelling elderly [354], to 33% in hospital inpatients [355]. Orthostatic hypotension is an attributable cause of syncope in up to 30% of older patients [352]. In symptomatic patients 25% have 'agerelated' orthostatic hypotension, in the remainder orthostatic hypotension is predominantly due to culprit medications, primary autonomic failure, secondary autonomic failure (diabetes), Parkinson's disease and multisystem atrophy. Supine systolic hypertension is often present in older patients with orthostatic hypotension [356-358]. Hypertension not only blunts the capacity of cerebral autoregulation and increases the risk of cerebral ischaemia from sudden declines in blood pressure [359], but it also complicates treatment, given that most agents used for treatment of orthostatic hypotension will exacerbate supine hypertension [358,360].

Carotid sinus hypersensitivity rarely occurs before age 40; the prevalence increases with advancing years and with cardiovascular, cerebrovascular and neurodegenerative co-morbidity [76,77,83,361].Cardioinhibitory carotid sinus syndrome is an attributable cause of symptoms in up to 20% of elderly patients with syncope [352]; further studies will assess the true frequency, but it is fair to point out that it is likely to be more common than previously thought. Carotid sinus hypersensitivity of predominantly vasodepressor form is equally prevalent [361], but its potential role in causing syncope in this population is much less certain [362–364].

Up to 15% of syncope is vasovagal [352]. In over half, episodes are related to prescription of cardiovascular medications [352,364]. The pattern of blood pressure and heart rate responses during testing is similar to that described in younger patients (see Part 2) but the prevalence of patterns differs. Bradyarrhythmic responses (VASIS 2B) are less common and progressive hypotensive responses (VASIS 3) and chronotropic incompetence are more common [364] although patterns reflecting autonomic failure are more common in drug related episodes [126].

Up to 20% of syncope in older patients is due to cardiac arrhythmias [352] (see Part 2).

Diagnostic evaluation

History

Some additional components in history taking are of relevance in older patients. The time when events occur can be helpful for diagnosis. Events due to orthostatic hypotension usually occur in the mornings. The history should include

any association with meals (post prandial) [365], ingestion of medications, nocturnal micturition, etc. One third of over 65 year olds are taking three or more prescribed medications. Medications frequently cause or contribute to syncope. Details of the medication history should include duration of treatment and time-relationship of this to the onset of events. The history should include details of comorbid diagnoses, in particular associations with physical frailty and locomotor disability (for example arthritis, Parkinson's disease and cerebrovascular disease) and diagnoses which increase the likelihood of cardiovascular syncope, for example diabetes, anaemia, hypertension, ischaemic heart disease and heart failure. In the older patients the common prodromic warning symptoms suggestive of vasovagal syncope are less frequent than in the younger, so that neuroautonomic assessment (i.e., carotid sinus massage and tilt test) became more relevant for diagnosis [366].

Aspects of history taking may vary in emphasis and clinical details from younger adults. This is explained in some by amnesia for loss of consciousness [362]. Gait and balance instability and slow protective reflexes are present in 20–50% of community dwelling elderly [351,367]. In these circumstances moderate haemodynamic changes insufficient to cause syncope may result in falls. Therefore, it is important to pursue a witness account of episodes, although this is not available in up to 40–60% [352,365]. For these reasons, up to one quarter of events will present as falls [159,351,368].

Cognitive impairment is present in 5% of 65 year olds and 20% of 80 year olds. Cognitive status will influence the accuracy of recall for events [366,368]. Indeed, when taking the history, the cognitive status should be determined in addition to details of social circumstances, injurious events, impact of events on confidence and the ability to carry out activities of independent daily living.

Examination

Assessment of the neurological and locomotor systems, including observation of gait and standing balance (eyes open, eyes closed) are recommended. If cognitive impairment is suspected, this should be formally determined. The mini mental state examination [369] is a 30 item internationally validated tool, adequate for this purpose. Otherwise the clinical examination is as for younger adults.

Investigations

In cognitively normal older patients with syncope or unexplained falls the diagnostic work-up is the same

as for younger adults with the exception of routine supine and upright carotid sinus massage at the first assessment of older patients, given the high prevalence of carotid sinus syndrome as a cause of syncope and unexplained falls in this age group [79].

At the first assessment, a detailed history, clinical examination, orthostatic blood pressure measurement and supine and upright carotid sinus massage will achieve a diagnosis in over 50% [340]. In up to a third of older patients a diagnostic cardioinhibitory response is only present when upright, reasons for this are unclear but may relate to technique or changes in reflex sensitivity with postural change [79]. For the evaluation of vasovagal syncope in the older patients the tilt table test is well tolerated and safe with sensitivity and positivity values similar to those observed in the younger patients [114].

Orthostatic hypotension is not always reproducible in older adults. This is particularly so for medication related or age related orthostatic hypotension. Repeated morning measurements are recommended [370] if this is suspected as the cause of syncope.

Twenty-four hour ambulatory blood pressure recordings may be helpful if culprit medication or post prandial hypotension is suspected as a cause of symptoms.

Over one third of older persons will have more than one possible attributable cause [352,364]. If symptoms continue or more than one diagnosis is suspected further evaluation is necessary.

Evaluation of the frail elderly

Age per se is not a contraindication to assessment and intervention. However, in frailer patients, the rigor of assessment will depend on compliance with tests and on prognosis.

Orthostatic blood pressure measurements, carotid sinus massage and head up tilt studies are well-tolerated tests, even in the frail elderly with cognitive impairment [370]. If patients have difficulty standing unaided, head up tilt can be used to assess orthostatic blood pressure changes [57].

Multiple risk factors are more common in the frail elderly and the boundaries between falls and syncope are poorly delineated. In one recent study, symptomatic elderly patients with cognitive impairment had a median of five risk factors for syncope or falls [371]. Risk factor stratification, and the contribution of individual abnormalities to symptom reproduction are more complex. There is some evidence that modification of cardiovascular risk factors for falls/syncope reduces the incidence of subsequent events in community dwelling frail elderly, even those with dementia [371], but

no evidence of benefit for institutionalized elderly. Whether or not treatment of hypotension or arrhythmias decelerates cognitive decline in patients with dementia is not known, and is not recommended at present for this indication.

If invasive diagnostic procedures and repeated hospital attendances are deemed inappropriate it may be necessary to treat 'blind' using limited clinical data i.e., by altering possible culprit medication, prescribing anti-arrhythmic agents and/or cardiac pacing. Thus, in the frail elderly, physicians should make clinical judgements after a comprehensive examination about the benefits to the individual of a syncope evaluation.

Recommendations

- Class I
- Accurate history, where possible, with witness observation, and details of medications.
- Morning orthostatic blood pressure measurements and supine and upright carotid sinus massage are integral to the initial evaluation unless contraindicated.
- The evaluation of mobile, independent, cognitively normal older adults is as for younger individuals.
- In frailer older adults evaluation should be modified according to prognosis.

Syncope in paediatric patients

Background

The incidence of syncope coming to medical attention in childhood and adolescence was 126/100,000 population in the single available population based study [372]. As many as 15 percent of children may, however, experience at least one episode before the age of 18 [22]. Moreover, up to 5% of toddlers undergo a similar syndrome, called breath-holding spells [373]. Neurally-mediated (reflex) syncope is by far the most frequent (61–71%), followed by cerebrovascular and psychogenic syncope (11–19%) and cardiac syncope (6%) [260,372,374].

Differential diagnosis

Careful personal and family history and standard ECG is most important in distinguishing the benign neurally-mediated syncopes (also-called reflex anoxic seizure or breath holding spells in infants and children) from other causes. Most children with neurally-mediated syncope have a first degree relative who faints, which may be used in differential diagnosis [375]. In young patients, syncope may, however, also be an initial manifestation of rare but life-threatening conditions like the long QT syndrome [376], Kearns–Sayre syndrome (external ophthalmoplegia and progressive heart block), Brugada syndrome [203], atrial fibrillation in patients with the Wolff–Parkinson–White syndrome [377], catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia [378], right ventricular dysplasia [379], arrhythmias after repair of congenital heart disease [380], hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, anomalous coronary artery, pulmonary arterial hypertension or myocarditis. There are numerous 'warning bells' from the history that should indicate a potentially life-threatening cause [381,382]. These are:

- syncope in response to loud noise, fright, or extreme emotional stress
- syncope during exercise
- syncope while supine
- family history of sudden death in young person <30 years old.

An appropriate and extensive diagnostic work-up should then be started.

Diagnostic work-up

In the case of a history typical for neurallymediated syncope, the absence of abnormalities on physical examination and ECG are usually sufficient to make a diagnosis and stop investigations. Tilt testing seems to have a high falsenegative and false-positive rate and should be used with caution for primary identification of with neurally-mediated patients syncope [17,383,384]. A remarkably high incidence of near-fainting (40%) was reported during a headup tilt test after placement of a simple intravenous line in healthy children and teenagers [17]. Tilt protocols commonly used in adults lack specificity in teenage patients. In order to obtain acceptable specificity tilt test duration should be shorter in teenage than in adults; in one study [385] specificity was > 85% by performing the tilt test at 60° or 70° for no longer than 10 min. Regardless of the results of the tilt test, almost all patients with neurally-mediated syncope have improved or resolved symptoms with simple interventions during long-term follow-up [386].

Diagnostic work-up for other than neurallymediated syncopes is case specific. Twenty-four hour Holter monitor or loop-recording event monitor should be used in patients with a history of palpitations associated with syncope. Cardiology consultation including echocardiography should be obtained in case of heart murmur. Electrophysiological study has a minor role in paediatric patients. Electroencephalography is indicated in patients showing prolonged loss of consciousness, seizure activity and a postictal phase of lethargy and confusion.

Therapy

The mainstay of management of neurally-mediated syncope in childhood includes reassurance, education, behaviour modification [381,382], salt and increased fluids [384,386]. Drinking enough salty or sweet liquid without caffeine, ruling out salt avoidance and performing 'anti-gravity manoeuvres' at the earliest recognition of presyncope [328,387] is helpful in many patients (Level B). Pharmacological therapy should be reserved for patients with continued symptoms despite behaviour modification. In uncontrolled studies, beta-[383,386,388], alpha-fludrocortisone blockers [383,386] and alpha-agonists [389] have been supposed be efficacious in the paediatric age group (Level B). Even in the instance of cardioinhibitory syncope with an asystolic response (VASIS 2B), pacemakers should be avoided whenever possible; as an alternative, effective management with pharmacological therapy without need for pacemaker implantation has been shown [390].

Recommendations

Class I

- Syncope in childhood is common. The vast majority of episodes are benign and are due to neurally-mediated syncope. Only a minority are due to some potentially life-threatening causes.
- The diagnosis and differentiation of benign from more serious causes is made primarily by the history and standard ECG.
- The mainstay of management of neurally-mediated syncope in childhood includes reassurance, education, behaviour modification, salt and increased fluid. Even in the instance of cardioinhibitory syncope with an asystolic response, pacemakers should be avoided whenever possible.

Syncope management facilities

A proposed model of organization for the evaluation of the syncope patient in a community is as follows.

Background

Given that syncope is a common symptom, the following considerations are important when developing local strategies for the management of the patient with syncope.

• The model of care delivery should be that which is most appropriate to existing practice

and will maximize resources and local expertise while ensuring implementation of published practice guidelines.

- Models of care delivery will vary from a single 'one site, one stop' syncope facility to a wider based multi-faceted practice where several specialists are involved in syncope management. The management strategy should be agreed upon and practised by all practitioners involved in syncope management.
- The age range and symptom characteristics of patients appropriate for syncope investigation should be determined in advance. Some facilities investigate paediatric and adult patients while others limit practice to adult or paediatric cases.
- The referral sources should also be taken into consideration. Referral can be directly from family practitioners, from the accident and emergency department, from acute hospital in-patients, or from patients in institutional settings. The scope of referral source has implications for resources and skill mix.
- In a single dedicated facility the skill mix will depend on the speciality designated to take a lead in the development of the facility. There are existing models where cardiologists (commonly with an interest in cardiac pacing and electrophysiology), neurologists (commonly with an interest in autonomic disorders and/ or epilepsy), general physicians and geriatricians (with an interest in age-related cardiology or falls) have lead syncope facilities. There is no evidence for superiority of any model.
- One factor which will influence the skill mix (i.e., the types of professionals/expertise required to staff the facility) is the extent to which screening of referrals occurs prior to presentation at the facility. If referrals hail directly from the community and/or from the accident and emergency department, a broader skill mix is required. Under these circumstances, other differential diagnoses such as epilepsy, neurodegenerative disorders, metabolic disorders and falls are more likely to be referred.
- Regular communication with all stakeholders (i.e., patients, referring physicians, staff in the accident and emergency department, neurology, general medicine, orthopaedic surgery, geriatric medicine, psychiatry and ear nose and throat departments, hospital/clinic management, nurses and other allied medical professionals) should ensure a consensus for and understanding of proposed management strategies. This includes the implications of and implementation of published guidelines.

Need for coordinating the syncope evaluation

Emerging data suggest that up to 20% of cardiovascular syncopes in older patients (over 70 years) presents as non-accidental falls. There is also evidence from the 'falls' literature that multifactorial intervention, which includes cardiovascular interventions (treatment of arrhythmias, orthostatic hypotension, carotid sinus hypersensitivity, and vasovagal susceptibility) significantly reduces subsequent events in fallers with recurrent episodes-even if these are accidental falls. This has enormous implications for the volume of patients seen. It requires access to, or incorporation of, assessments and interventions for other common co-morbid risk factors such as gait and balance instability, cerebrovascular disease, home hazard modifications etc. An example of the scope of this issue is illustrated in a study in the accident and emergency department from Newcastle. Fortyfour per cent of accident and emergency attendees over 65 years attended because of a fall or syncopal event. Of these patients, 35% had accidental falls, 25% were patients who had cognitive impairment or dementia (therefore a clear distinction between falls/syncope was often not possible), 22% had a medical explanation for the event, and 18% had unexplained falls or syncope [47,159,371].

Present syncope management (diagnosis and treatment) situation

Syncope is a common symptom in the community and in emergency medicine. For example, in the UK, syncope and collapse (ICD code 10) are the sixth commonest reason for admission of adults aged over 65 years to acute medical hospital beds. Given that half of all emergency admissions are over 65 years, this constitutes a large volume of activity. The average length of stay for these admissions is 5–17 days—emphasizing the diversity of syncope management strategies and availability of existing investigations [400]. Hospital admission alone accounted for 74% of the cost of investigating syncope [47].

Currently, the strategies for assessment for syncope vary widely among physicians and among hospitals and clinics. More often than not, the evaluation and treatment of syncope is haphazard and unstratified. The result is a wide variation in the diagnostic tests applied, the proportion and types of attributable diagnoses and the proportion of syncope patients in whom the diagnosis remains unexplained [47,53,391–393]. For example, in a prospective registry [391] enroling patients referred to the emergency department from 28 general hospitals in Italy, carotid sinus massage was performed in from 0% to 58% and head up tilt tests in from 0% to 50% syncopal patients. Consequently, the final diagnosis for neurally-mediated syncope ranged from 10% to 79%. These disparate patterns of assessment can explain why pacing rates for carotid sinus syndrome vary, even within countries, from 1% to 25% of implants, depending on whether carotid sinus hypersensitivity is systematically assessed in the investigation profile. Some authors have evaluated the impact of the introduction of in-hospital protocols [53,393]. These studies showed that it is possible to improve diagnostic rates and the use of appropriate investigations. However, significant numbers of inappropriate investigations and hospital admissions still occurred. As a consequence, costs of investigations and costs per diagnosis increased rather than decrease.

If the status quo for the evaluation of syncope is unchanged, diagnostic and treatment effectiveness is unlikely to show substantial improvement. Furthermore, the implementation of the published syncope management guidelines will be diverse and incomplete. Thus, to maximize implementation of the guidelines it is mandatory that models of care for assessment and management of syncope are in place and that information about the models within each organization is adequately communicated to all parties involved with syncope patients.

It is the view of the European Society of Cardiology Syncope Task Force that a cohesive, structured care pathway – either delivered within a single syncope facility or as a more multi-faceted service – is the optimal for quality service delivery. Furthermore, considerable improvement in diagnostic yield and cost effectiveness (i.e., cost per reliable diagnosis) can be achieved by focusing skills and following well defined up-to-date diagnostic guidelines.

Some existing syncope management unit models

The service model adopted by the Newcastle group is a multidisciplinary approach to referrals with syncope or falls. All patients attend the same facility (with access to cardiovascular equipment, investigations and trained staff) but are investigated by a geriatrician or cardiovascular physician according to the dominant symptom cited in referral correspondence—falls or syncope. Recently, this group showed that activity at the acute hospital at which the day case syncope evaluation unit was based, experienced in 1 year 6116 fewer bed days for the diagnostic categories comprising syncope and collapse, compared with peer teaching hospitals in the UK. This reduction translated into a significant saving in emergency hospital costs (4 million euros). The savings were attributed to a combination of factors—reduced re-admission rates, rapid access to day case facilities for accident and emergency staff and community physicians, and reduced event rates because of effective targeted treatment strategies for syncope and falls [47].

The service model adopted in some Italian hospitals [394] is a functional unit managed by cardiologists inside the department of cardiology, with dedicated medical and support personnel. The patients attending this Syncope Unit have preferential access to all the other facilities and investigations within the department including admission to cardiology wards or the intensive care unit if indicated. Where appropriate, patients are jointly managed with other specialists, i.e., neurologists. The patients are referred to the unit from the emergency department as well from inpatient or out-patient clinics but the personnel of the unit is not usually involved in the initial evaluation of the patient. This model substantially improved the overall management of syncope compared with peer hospitals without such a facility [394] and reduced the number of unnecessary investigations in addition to increasing the appropriateness of indications and the diagnostic yield of the tests: in 66% of the patients, less than two tests were necessary for diagnosis [145].

Professional skill mix for the syncope evaluation facility

It is probably not appropriate to be dogmatic regarding the training needs of personnel responsible for a dedicated syncope facility. These skills will depend on the pre-determined requirements of local professional bodies, the level of screening evaluation provided prior to referral, and the nature of the patient population typically encountered in a given setting. In general, experience and training in key components of cardiology, neurology, emergency and geriatric medicine are pertinent to the assessment and diagnosis of syncope, in addition to access to other specialities such as psychiatry, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, ear nose and throat specialities and clinical psychology.

Core medical and support personnel should be involved full time or most of the time in the management of the unit and should interact with all other stakeholders in the hospital and in the community.

Staff responsible for the clinical management of the facility should be conversant with the recent syncope guidelines. A structured approach to the management of syncope also expedites clinical audit, patient information systems, service developments, and continuous professional development.

Equipment

Core equipment for the syncope evaluation facility include: surface ECG recording, phasic blood pressure monitoring, tilt table testing equipment, external and internal (implantable) ECG loop recorder systems, 24 h ambulatory blood pressure monitoring, 24 h ambulatory ECG monitoring, and autonomic function testing. The facility should also have access to echocardiography, intracardiac electrophysiological studies, stress testing, cardiac imaging, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging head scans and electroencephalography.

Patients should have preferential access to hospitalization and to any eventual therapy for syncope, namely pacemaker and defibrillator implantation, catheter ablation of arrhythmias, etc.

Dedicated rooms for assessment and investigation are required.

Setting

The majority of syncope patients can be investigated as out-patients or day cases. Indications for hospital admission are defined in another section (see Part 4 'Need for hospitalization').

The role of a local integrated syncope service is to set standards for the following in keeping with the objectives of the Guidelines on Syncope of the European Society of Cardiology and other appropriate guideline publications:

- the diagnostic criteria for causes of syncope
- the preferred approach to the diagnostic workup in subgroups of patients with syncope
- risk stratification of the patient with syncope
- treatments to prevent syncopal recurrences.

A major objective of the syncope facility is to reduce the number of hospitalizations by offering the patient a well defined, quick, alternative evaluation pathway. An example of a possible model of organization for the evaluation of the syncope patient in a community is shown in the Fig. 3.

When establishing a newly structured service, current experience suggests that careful audit of the syncope unit activity and performance will rapidly justify the initial resource allocation and requests for additional funding, further enhancing service development, and providing a legitimate magnet for increasing patient referrals.

Recommendations

- A cohesive, structured care pathway either delivered within a single syncope facility or as a more multi-faceted service — is recommended for the global assessment of the patient with syncope.
- Experience and training in key components of cardiology, neurology, emergency and geriatric medicine are pertinent.
- Core equipment for the facility include: surface ECG recording, phasic blood pressure monitoring, tilt table testing equipment, external and internal (Implantable) ECG loop recorder systems, 24 h ambulatory blood pressure monitoring, 24 h ambulatory ECG and autonomic function testing.
- Preferential access to other tests or therapy for syncope should be guaranteed and standardized.
- The majority of syncope patients should be investigated as out-patients or day cases.

Driving and syncope

General comments

First it should be emphasised that all available evidence suggests that the medical condition of a driver, with the exception of the effect of alcohol is not an important factor in road accidents causing injury to other road users. Secondly most medical causes for road accidents occur in drivers who are already known to have pre-existing disease. Thirdly, sudden driver incapacity has been reported with an incidence approximating one per thousand of all traffic accidents only [395]. The most common causes of road accidents, involving loss of consciousness at wheel are listed in Table 4.2 [396]. In an anonymous survey [397], 3% of patients with syncope reported ever having had syncope while driving, but only 1% reported having had a car crash; only 9% of those who received driving abstinence recommendation stopped driving because of syncope. Among patients with lifethreatening ventricular arrhythmias enroled in the AVID trial [398], symptoms suggestive of tachyar-



Figure 3 A proposed model of organization for the evaluation of the syncope patient in a community.

rhythmia recurred frequently while the patients were driving, but such symptoms were unlikely to lead to motor vehicle accidents (0.4 percent per patient-year); the probability of an accident was lower than the annual accident rate in the general population and was independent of the duration of abstinence from driving.

In 1995 the Board of the European Society of Cardiology formed a task force on driving and heart disease. In the report driving and syncope especially neurally mediated syncope is discussed [396]. In a AHA/NASPE medical/scientific statement dealing with personal and public safety issues related to arrhythmias that may affect consciousness, driving regulations and syncope are also briefly discussed [399]. The following recommendations on driving and syncope are put forward and are based on the two above mentioned reports (Table 4.3). The level of evidence in these two reports is Level C with a few exceptions.

Recommendations

An ESC Task Force report on driving and heart disease was published in 1998 which is the present reference standard for Europe (Table 4.3). Two groups of drivers are defined. Group one comprises drivers of motorcycles, cars and other small vehicles with and without a trailer. Group two includes drivers of vehicles over 3.5 metric tonnes (3500 kilo) or passenger carrying vehicles exceeding eight seats excluding the driver. Drivers of taxicabs, small ambulances and other vehicles form an intermediate category between the ordinary private driver and the vocational driver.

The guidelines listed in Table 4.3 aim at being practical and enforceable. The guidelines reflect a combination of clinical judgement in addition to some individual technical measurements. Each case needs to be considered on its merits and in relation to local regulations. In any case group 2 drivers with severe heart disease and syncope of any cause should not be allowed to drive on a professional basis.

For group 1 drivers the task force advises minimal restrictions and, thus, only temporarily should patients with heart disease and syncope in this group be advised not to drive.

Table 4.2 Causes of 2000 road accidents involving loss of consciousness at the wheel, based on reports by the police to driver vehicle licensing agency

Epilepsy	38%
Syncope	21%
Diabetes (on insulin)	18%
Heart condition	8%
Stroke	7%
Others	7%

Table 4.3 Cardiology o	Suggested recommendations for driving rules in patients su on Driving and Heart Disease [408])	iffering from syncope (modified after Task Force Report of the European Society of
Diagnosis	Group 1 (private drivers)	Group 2 (vocational drivers)

Diagnosis	Group 1 (private drivers)		Group 2 (vocational drivers)	
	Disqualifying criteria according to 1998 ESC document	Modified disqualifying criteria according to 2004 Syncope Task Force	Disqualifying criteria according to 1998 ESC document	Modified disqualifying criteria according to 2004 Syncope Task Force
Cardiac arrhythmias Cardiac arrhythmias, medical treatment	Any disturbance of cardiac rhythm which is likely to cause syncope	Until successful treatment is established	Driving will not be permitted if the arrhythmia (i.e., non-sinus bradycardia, significant conduction defect, atrial flutter or fibrillation narrow or broad complex tachycardia) has caused or is likely to cause syncope. Once the arrhythmia has been controlled (re-) licensing may be permitted provided that left ventricular ejection fraction is >0.40, ambulatory electrocardiography excludes ventricular tachycardia, and exercise requirements can be met ^a	Until successful treatment is established
Pacemaker implant; successful catheter ablation	Within 1 week	No change	Any persistent symptoms. (Re-) licensing may be permitted after at least 6 weeks has elapsed, and provided that there is no disqualifying condition	For pacemaker, until appropriate function is established. For ablation, until long-term success is confirmed, usually 3 months
ICD implant	Within 6 months if no arrhythmia recurrence and no disabling symptoms at time of ICD discharge. For drivers receiving prophylactic ICD implant no restrictions are imposed	Low risk, controversial opinions, tendency to shorten the time of restriction	Permanent	No change
				(continuea on next page)

Diagnosis	Group 1 (private drivers)		Group 2 (vocational drivers)	
	Disqualifying criteria according to 1998 ESC document	Modified disqualifying criteria according to 2004 Syncope Task Force	Disqualifying criteria according to 1998 ESC document	Modified disqualifying criteria according to 2004 Syncope Task Force
Neurally-mediated syncope				
– Single/mild	No restrictions	No change	Specialist evaluation including neurological review	No restriction unless it occurred during high risk activity ^a
— Severe ^a	Until symptoms controlled	No change	Until symptoms controlled. (Re-) licensing after three months and possibly negative tilt-test; careful follow-up mandatory	Permanent restriction unless effective treatment has been established
(b) Carotid sinus:				
 Single/mild 	No restrictions	No change	No restrictions	No restriction unless it occurred during high risk activity ^a
– Severe ^a	Until symptoms controlled	No change	Until symptoms controlled	Permanent restriction unless effective treatment has been established
(c) Situational: — Single/mild	No restriction	No restrictions	No restrictions	No restriction unless it occurred during high risk activitv ^a
– Severe ^a	_	Until appropriate therapy is established	-	Permanent restriction unless effective treatment has been established
Syncope of uncertain cause				
— Single/mild	-	No restrictions unless it occurred during high risk activity ^a	-	Until diagnosis and appropriate therapy is established
– Severe ^a	In case of severe syncope until cause identified especially in patients with heart disease or at least 3 months without symptoms before (re-) licensing	Until diagnosis and appropriate therapy is established	Requires specialist evaluation including a neurological review if appropriate. Following unexplained syncope, provocation testing and investigation for arrhythmia must be implemented, especially also in patients with heart disease. If the results are satisfactory (re-) licensing may be permitted after 3 months. Careful follow-up is mandatory	Until diagnosis and appropriate therapy is established

^a Neurally-mediated syncope is defined as severe if it is very frequent, or occurring during the prosecution of a 'high risk' activity, or recurrent or unpredictable in "high risk" patients (see Part 3, treatment).

Comment

This task force has the benefit of further publications that are relevant. Data suggest that the risk for car accident related to syncope is low. Repeat tilt testing to assess any therapy probably has no predictive value. There is no evidence that allowing three asymptomatic months to elapse provides any confirmation that attack will not recur. To date, the evidence in favour of drug therapy remains unconvincing. Neurological review in syncopal patients is of little value. Modified disqualifying criteria according to 2004 Syncope Task Force are also reported in Table 4.3.

Glossary of terms

The literature on syncope and associated conditions can be very confusing because of a lack of consistency in use of terms rendering them uncertain. For some terms an originally clear meaning has become obscured over time, because the term was later used in a different context or in a different meaning. Other terms were introduced as neologisms to compete with older, often equally adequate terms. This glossary is provided in an attempt to clarify the nomenclature. The choice, which terms are approved and which are controversial, is to some extent arbitrary.

Breath holding spells

Breath holding spells concern attacks of transient loss of consciousness in infants. Two types are usually recognised: 'pallid' and 'cyanotic'. In all likelihood attacks of the pallid type are nothing other than vasovagal syncope, meaning that 'breath holding' has nothing to do with bringing on the attacks. A Valsalva manoeuvre has been implied in the pathophysiology of the more common cyanotic type, so 'breath holding' may be of importance in this type. Both types may well occur in the same child, implying that the pathophysiology may be very similar. In either case, it seems safe to state that both types concern syncope.

• The panel stresses that 'breath holding spells' concern a form of syncope affecting infants and younger children. As the name is probably a misnomer, 'infantile vasovagal syncope' is to be preferred.

Classical vasovagal syncope

The two parts of the word 'vasovagal' would be eminently suited to describe neurally-mediated syncope, as they stress both the vasodepressor sympathetic part of the efferent part of the reflex ('vaso...') as well as the cardioinhibitory part ('...vagal'). As such, the term might be used as a third synonym, but this is excessive, and in practice the term seems to be used preferentially for those forms of reflex syncope in which pain and/or anxiety act as the main trigger to evoke the reflex.

• The panel advocates that the term 'vasovagal syncope' is reserved for description of neurally-mediated/reflex syncope in which pain, emotional distress, instrumentation or prolonged standing trigger syncope.

Convulsive syncope

The pathogenesis of involuntary jerking movements of the limbs during syncope is unclear. There is no evidence that distinguishing between syncope with and syncope without movements helps refine the diagnosis or helps guide treatment. Myoclonic jerks are often interpreted as epileptic by physicians and eyewitnesses alike, but not all that moves is epilepsy. As distinguishing between epilepsy and syncope is extremely important, care must be taken to avoid confusion. 'Convulsions' are often used by neurologists to indicate either the movements in an epileptic fit ('seizure') or sometimes seizures themselves.

• The panel advises use of 'convulsive syncope' only as a short form for 'syncope accompanied by myoclonic jerks and other involuntary movements'; the term does not imply epilepsy.

Drop attacks

'Drop attacks' was originally used to indicate a very specific and benign syndrome, describing how middle-aged and elderly women suddenly fell to their knees without loss of consciousness. Later use included grouping all possible causes of falls with or without loss of consciousness under this heading. It is sometimes used as a synonym for Adams—Stokes attacks. Over time, the term has become so unclear that its use is now more likely to cause confusion than to increase understanding. If medical practitioners feel a need for a phrase to describe the problem of frequent falls, 'falling' is clear, simple, and does not carry any false sense of a medically meaningful content.

• The panel feels that the use of 'drop attacks' should be restricted strictly to the original meaning.

Dysautonomia/dysautonomic

When used as part of 'familial dysautonomia' (Riley-Day syndrome) the term has a specific and clear meaning. When used in a different context, the meaning is less clear. 'Dysautonomic' may then refer to abnormal functioning of the autonomic nervous system, or to a specific heart rate and blood pressure response pattern during tilt testing. If used in the first sense, it should be understood that the term does not discriminate between the types of abnormality in autonomic failure and in reflex syncope, which are of a fundamentally different nature (the first involves normal attempts at maintaining cardiac output that are ineffective due to damage to the autonomic nervous system, and the second implies a improper reflex by an otherwise normal autonomic nervous system). To use 'dysautonomic' as a term for a response pattern during tilt testing carries the risk of making it ever more vague.

• The panel suggests that 'dysautonomia' is reserved for the Riley—Day syndrome; 'dysautonomic' may be used as a name indicating any type of dysfunction of the autonomic nervous system, but the panel prefers the use of terms that specify the nature of the dysfunction.

Hyperventilation syncope

Hyperventilation reduces cerebral blood flow through vasoconstriction. Unconsciousness abolishes voluntary influence over respiration, thereby restoring autonomic control over respiration. The time course of events and the level of impairment of consciousness needed to normalize ventilation are imperfectly known. At present, it is not known whether or not consciousness can be lost through hyperventilation. Note that hyperventilation as such is not featured in the DSM-IV (psychiatric diagnostic classification system); the symptoms usually attributed to hyperventilation fall under the heading 'panic attacks'.

• The panel stresses that it is not certain whether or not hyperventilation can cause loss of consciousness.

Neurally-mediated syncope

This is a synonym for 'reflex syncope' that emphasises the role of the nervous system. The word 'reflex' in fact implies the same, but with less emphasis for some. The advantage of 'reflex syncope' is that is stresses the role of a trigger in eliciting syncope.

• The panel recognizes 'neurally-mediated syncope' and 'reflex syncope' as synonyms.

Neurocardiogenic syncope

The term is in use as an alternative for 'neurally-mediated/reflex syncope', or sometimes as an alternative for 'vasovagal' syncope. As an alternative to 'vasovagal' that term is preferable, as it is older and simpler. As an alternative for 'reflex syncope' that term is preferred for similar reasons. 'Neurocardiogenic' has the disadvantage of emphasizing the heart, and in so doing draws attention away from the fall in systemic vascular resistance, that, in the absence of a clear cause-effect relationship, is at least as important as bradycardia in reflex syncope. 'Neurocardiogenic' has also been used in a more specific sense, referring to a type of reflex syncope in which the trigger for syncope originated in the heart itself. But in that sense the wording is unfortunate, as 'cardiogenic reflex syncope' would convey the intended content with more clarity.

• The panel advocates conserving 'neurocardiogenic syncope' strictly for a putative type of reflex syncope in which the reflex trigger originates in the heart.

Neurogenic syncope

This too is a synonym for 'reflex syncope', but there is no need for various alternatives.

• The panel regards 'neurogenic syncope' as a superfluous alternative for 'reflex syncope'.

Orthostatic intolerance

When used to describe only what the words imply, i.e., the occurrence of symptoms associated with the upright position, the meaning of the term isunambiguous. It may for instance be used to describe the symptoms in orthostatic hypotension or in the Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome (POTS). The term is however not useful to indicate a specific type of syncope, because suitable other terms already exist, and because the phrase carries no specific meaning as to the pathophysiological mechanism involved. • The panel advocates restriction of the use of 'orthostatic intolerance' to summarize a patient's complaints.

Pre-syncope

When cerebral blood flow stops or diminishes, patients may be aware that something is amiss before consciousness is lost altogether (near-syncope). They describe lightheadedness or dizziness. Sensations that are specific to diminished cortical functioning have been evoked experimentally, and consist among others of a loss of control over eye and other movements, blurring of vision, and constriction of the field of vision. These feelings may justifiably be called 'pre-syncope' or 'near-syncope'. Symptoms of another kind may also occur before syncope that are related to the mechanism causing syncope rather than to decreased cerebral blood flow itself. These may include pain in the head and shoulder region in autonomic failure, sweating and nausea in reflex syncope, and tingling in hyperventilation. Note that these sensations occur close in time to syncope, although they are only indirectly linked to the loss of consciousness.

• The panel advises use of 'pre- syncope' as an imprecise descriptive term for all sensations directly preceding syncope whether or not they are followed by complete loss of consciousness.

Psychogenic syncope

Patients may pretend to be unconscious when they are not. Although this state often lasts longer than syncope, and therefore may resemble coma more than syncope, it may also resemble syncope. This condition can be seen in the context of factitious disorders, malingering and conversion. In the past, 'psychogenic syncope' was used to describe it, but the addition of 'cerebral hypoperfusion' to the definition of syncope makes this impossible, as there would otherwise be a way to shut down the cerebral circulation through a mental process.

• The panel recommends use of 'pseudo-syncope' or 'psychogenic pseudo-syncope' to describe patients pretending to be unconscious, and no longer use 'psychogenic syncope'.

Reflex anoxic seizure

This term designates syncopal attacks in infants and children, and particularly those associated with convulsive movements. It has been used as a synonym for breath holding spells. The use of 'seizure' in 'reflex anoxic seizures' was never intended to imply epilepsy, but simply to describe an 'attack' without any pathophysiological connotation. However, for many physicians the word 'seizure' is strongly associated with epilepsy, and such attacks in children are often mistaken for epilepsy. The phrase 'reflex anoxic seizures' therefore carries the risk of obscuring the distinction between syncope and epilepsy, contrary to that needed.

• The panel advises not to use 'reflex anoxic seizures', but to use 'infantile vasovagal syncope' instead.

Seizures

For some, the word 'seizure' may be used for a variety of attacks, including epilepsy but also syncope, particularly if accompanied by myoclonic jerks (for instance, 'reflex anoxic seizures' refers to vasovagal syncope, a type of neurally-mediated syncope). For probably more people, the meaning of 'seizures' is restricted to epileptic attacks. When used in the first sense, there is a risk that syncope is mistaken for epilepsy because of differences in interpretation of the word.

• The panel advocates use of 'seizures' is reserved exclusively for epileptic attacks.

Transient loss of consciousness

The English language lacks a word to encompass the syndrome representing the group of disorders that may mimic syncope. Its four common features are loss of consciousness, that is transient in nature, self-limited, and not due to a trauma of the head and brain. These features are meant to exclude conditions with only impaired consciousness, exclude coma (implying a longer duration for 'coma'), and to exclude the vast majority of cases of concussion, in which trauma is usually evident. Note that unconsciousness by itself implies 'loss of postural control', i.e., falling, which does not therefore have to be included as a separate item in the definition. The phrase 'transient loss of consciousness' (TLOC) only includes two of these features, but lacking a term including all four it will have to suffice. Note that TLOC should be used when no probable cause can yet be identified. Other terms should only be used when a specific cause of TLOC, such as syncope or epilepsy, is at least

probable. The probability derives from other features than the four items mentioned here, such as a specific trigger or typical epileptic phenomena.

• The panel advises that use of 'transient loss of consciousness' (TLOC) to designate, firstly, a group of disorders with four common presenting features, and secondly, for individual attacks or patients when no probable cause can be established.

Vasodepressor syncope

The term is in use as an alternative for 'vasovagal' syncope. As an alternative for 'vasovagal ' that term is preferable, as it is older, simpler, and emphasizes both the sympathetic ('vaso...') and parasympathetic aspects ('...vagal') of the syncope. 'Vasodepressor' has the disadvantage of emphasizing the fall in systemic vascular resistance, that, in the absence of a clear cause-effect relationship, is at least as important as bradycardia in reflex syncope.

• The panel advises that conserving 'vasodepressor syncope' is reserved strictly for a type of reflex syncope in which the vasodepressor reflex is documented to occur in absence of reflex bradycardia.

Appendix A

ESC Task Force on Guidelines on Management (Diagnosis and Treatment) of Syncope

Task Force members

Michele Brignole, MD, FESC, Department of Cardiology and Arrhythmologic Centre, Ospedali del Tigullio, Lavagna, Italy (*Chair*)

Paolo Alboni, MD, Divisione di Cardiologia, Ospedale Civile, Cento, Italy

David Benditt, MD, Cardiac Arrhythmia Service, Cardiovascular Division, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, USA

Lennart Bergfeldt, MD, FESC, Electrophysiology & Arrhythmia Service, Department of Cardiology, Thoracic Clinics, Karolinska Hospital Stockolm, Sweden

Jean Jacques Blanc, MD, FESC, Departement de Cardiologie, Hopital de la Cavale Blanche, CHU de Brest, France **Paul Erik Bloch Thomsen**, MD, Department of Cardiology, Gentofte Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Hellerup, Denmark

J. Gert van Dijk, MD, Department of Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology, Leiden University Medical Centre, Leiden, The Netherlands

Adam Fitzpatrick, MD, Manchester Heart Centre, Royal Infirmary Manchester, UK

Stefan Hohnloser, MD, FESC, Medizinische Klinik IV, Kardiologie Klinicum der JW Goethe University, Frankfurt, Germany

Jan Janousek, MD, Kardiocentrum, University Hospital Motol, Prague, Czech Republic

Wishwa Kapoor, MD, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburg, Pittsburg, Pennsylvania, USA

Rose-Anne Kenny, MD, Institute for the Health of the Elderly, University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle upon Tyne UK

Piotr Kulakowski, MD, FESC, Department of Cardiology, Med. Centre of Postgraduate Education, Grochowski Hospital, Warsaw, Poland

Giulio Masotti, MD, Department of Geriatrics, Azienda Ospedaliera Careggi, University of Firenze, Firenze, Italy (representative of the European Union Geriatric Medicine Society)

Angel Moya, MD, FESC, Department of Cardiology, Hospital General Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain

Antonio Raviele, MD, FESC, Divisione di Cardiologia, Ospedale Umberto I, Mestre-Venice, Italy

Richard Sutton, DScMed, FESC, Department of Cardiology, Royal Brompton Hospital, London, UK

George Theodorakis, MD, FESC, 2° Department of Cardiology, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens, Greece

Andrea Ungar, MD, Department of Geriatrics, Azienda Ospedaliera Careggi, University of Firenze, Firenze, Italy

Wouter Wieling, MD, Academic Medical Centre, University of Amsterdam, Department of Internal Medicine, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

References

- Brignole M, Alboni P, Benditt D, et al. Guidelines on management (diagnosis and treatment) of syncope. Eur Heart J 2001;22:1256-306.
- [2] Rossen R, Kabat H, Anderson JP. Acute arrest of cerebral circulation in man. Arch Neurol Psychiatr 1943;50: 510-28.

- [3] Lieshout JJ, van Wieling W, Karemaker JM, et al. Syncope, cerebral perfusion and oxygenation. J Appl Physiol 2003; 94:833-48.
- [4] Lempert T, Bauer M, Schmidt D. Syncope: a videometric analysis of 56 episodes of transient cerebral hypoxia. Ann Neurol 1994;36:233-7.
- [5] Hoefnagels WAJ, Padberg GW, Overweg J, et al. Transient loss of consciousness: the value of the history for distinguishing seizure from syncope. J Neurol 1991;238: 39–43.
- [6] Rowell LB. Human cardiovascular control. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [7] Scheinberg P, Blackburn I, Rich M, et al. Effects of aging on cerebral circulation and metabolism. Arch Neurol Psych 1953;70:77-85.
- [8] Dandona P, James IM, Newbury PA, et al. Cerebral blood flow in diabetes mellitus: evidence of abnormal cerebral vascular reactivity. Br Med J 1978;2:325–6.
- [9] Hainsworth R. Syncope and fainting: classification and pathophysiological basis. In: Mathias CJ, Bannister R, editors. Autonomic failure. A textbook of clinical disorders of the autonomic nervous system. 4th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 428–36.
- [10] Smit AAJ, Halliwill JR, Low PA, et al. Topical Review. Pathophysiological basis of orthostatic hypotension in autonomic failure. J Physiol 1999;519:1–10.
- [11] Sheldon R, Killam S. Methodology of isoproterenol-tilt table testing in patients with syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;19:773–9.
- [12] Johnson AM. Aortic stenosis, sudden death, and the left ventricular baroreceptors. Br Heart J 1971;33:1–5.
- [13] Leitch JW, Klein GJ, Yee R, et al. Syncope associated with supraventricular tachycardia: an expression of tachycardia or vasomotor response. Circulation 1992;85:1064–71.
- [14] Brignole M, Gianfranchi L, Menozzi C, et al. Role of autonomic reflexes in syncope associated with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;22:1123–9.
- [15] Alboni P, Menozzi C, Brignole M, et al. An abnormal neural reflex plays a role in causing syncope in sinus bradycardia. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;22:1130–4.
- [16] Dermkasian G, Lamb LE. Syncope in a population of healthy young adults. JAMA 1958;168:1200-7.
- [17] Soteriades ES, Evans JC, Larson MG, et al. Incidence and prognosis of syncope. N Engl J Med 2002;347:878-85.
- [18] Lipsitz LA, Pluchino FC, Wei JY, et al. Syncope in an elderly instituzionalized population: prevalence, incidence and associated risk. Q J Med 1985;55:45–54.
- [19] Day SC, Cook EF, Funkenstein H, et al. Evaluation and outcome of emergency room patients with transient loss of consciousness. Am J Med 1982;73:15–23.
- [20] Silverstein MD, Singer DE, Mulley A, et al. Patients with syncope admitted to medical intensive care units. JAMA 1982;248:1185–9.
- [21] Morichetti A, Astorino G. Epidemiological and clinical findings in 697 syncope events. Minerva Medica 1998;89: 211–20.
- [22] Lewis DA, Dhala A. Syncope in pediatric patient. Pediatr Clin North Am 1999;46:205–19.
- [23] Murdoch BD. Loss of consciousness in healthy South African men: incidence, causes and relationship to EEG abnormality. SA Med J 1980;57:771–4.
- [24] Lamb L, Green HC, Combs JJ, et al. Incidence of loss of consciousness in Air Force personnel. Aerospace Med 1960;12:973–88.
- [25] Ganzeboom KS, Colman N, Reitsma JB, et al. Prevalence and triggers of syncope in medical students. Am J Cardiol 2003;91:1006-8.

- [26] Feruglio GA, Perraro F. Rilievi epidemiologici sulla sincope nella popolazione generale e come causa di ricovero. G Ital Cardiol 1987;17(suppl I):11–3.
- [27] Martin GJ, Adams SL, Martin HG, et al. Prospective evaluation of syncope. Ann Emerg Med 1984;13:499–504.
- [28] Kapoor W, Karpf M, Wieand S, et al. A prospective evaluation and follow-up of patients with syncope. N Engl J Med 1983;309:197–204.
- [29] Kapoor W. Evaluation and outcome of patients with syncope. Medicine 1990;69:169-75.
- [30] Kapoor WN, Hanusa B. Is syncope a risk factor for poor outcomes? Comparison of patients with and without syncope. Am J Med 1996;100:646-55.
- [31] Middlekauff H, Stevenson W, Stevenson L, et al. Syncope in advanced heart failure: high risk of sudden death regardless of origin of syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;21: 110-6.
- [32] Ross J, Braunwald E. Aortic stenosis. Circulation 1968;38: 61-7.
- [33] McKenna W, Deanfield J, Faraqui A, et al. Prognosis in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: role of age and clinical, electrocardiographic and hemodynamic features. Am J Cardiol 1981;47:532-8.
- [34] Dalal P, Fujisic K, Hupart P, et al. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia: a review. Cardiology 1994;85: 361-9.
- [35] The Multicenter Postinfarction Research Group. Risk stratification and survival after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1983;309:331-6.
- [36] Martin TP, Hanusa BH, Kapoor WN. Risk stratification of patients with syncope. Ann Emerg Med 1997;29: 459–66.
- [37] Kapoor WN, Smith M, Miller NL. Upright tilt testing in evaluating syncope: a comprehensive literature review. Am J Med 1994;97:78–88.
- [38] Raviele A, Proclemer A, Gasparini G, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients with unexplained syncope and negative electrophysiologic study. Eur Heart J 1989;10: 127–32.
- [39] Kapoor W, Peterson J, Wieand HS, et al. Diagnostic and prognostic implications of recurrences in patients with syncope. Am J Med 1987;83:700-8.
- [40] Oh JH, Hanusa BH, Kapoor WN. Do symptoms predict cardiac arrhythmias and mortality in patients with syncope? Arch Intern Med 1999;159:375–80.
- [41] Kapoor WN, Fortunato M, Hanusa SH, et al. Psychiatric illnesses in patients with syncope. Am J Med 1995;99: 505–12.
- [42] Rose MS, Koshman ML, Spreng S, et al. The relationship between health related quality of life and frequency of spells in patients with syncope. J Clin Epidemiol 2000;35: 1209–16.
- [43] Sheldon R, Rose S, Flanagan P, et al. Risk factors for syncope recurrence after a positive tilt-table test in patients with syncope. Circulation 1996;93:973–81.
- [44] Linzer M, Pontinen M, Gold DT, et al. Impairment of physical and psychosocial function in recurrent syncope. J Clin Epidemiol 1991;44:1037–43.
- [45] Kapoor W, Karpf M, Maher Y, et al. Syncope of unknown origin: the need for a more cost-effective approach to its diagnostic evaluation. JAMA 1982;247:2687–91.
- [46] Nyman J, Krahn A, Bland P, et al. The costs of recurrent syncope of unknown origin in elderly patients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1999;22:1386–94.
- [47] Kenny RA, O'Shea D, Walker HF. Impact of a dedicated syncope and falls facility for older adults on emergency beds. Age Ageing 2002;31:272–5.

- [48] Sheldon R, Rose S, Ritchie D, et al. Historical criteria that distinguish syncope from seizures. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 40:142–8.
- [49] Alboni P, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. The diagnostic value of history in patients with syncope with or without heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:1921–8.
- [50] Eagle KA, Black HR. The impact of diagnostic tests in evaluating patients with syncope. Yale J Biol Med 1983; 56:1-8.
- [51] Ben-Chetrit E, Flugeiman M, Eliakim M. Syncope: a retrospective study of 101 hospitalized patients. Isr J Med Sci Med 1985;21:950–3.
- [52] Blanc JJ, L'Her C, Touiza A, et al. Prospective evaluation and outcome of patients admitted for syncope over 1 year period. Eur Heart J 2002;23:815–20.
- [53] Ammirati F, Colivicchi F, Santini M. Diagnosing syncope in the clinical practice. Implementation of a simplified diagnostic algorithm in a multicentre prospective trial—the OESIL 2 study (Osservatorio Epidemiologico della Sincope nel Lazio). Eur Heart J 2000;21:935–40.
- [54] Sarasin F, Louis-Simonet M, Carballo D, et al. Prospective evaluation of patients with syncope: a population-based study. Am J Med 2001;111:177–84.
- [55] Calkins H, Shyr Y, Frumin H, et al. The value of clinical history in the differentiation of syncope due to ventricular tachycardia, atrioventricular block and neurocardiogenic syncope. Am J Med 1995;98:365–73.
- [56] Wieling W, Harms MPM, Kortz RAM, et al. Initial orthostatic hypotension as a cause of recurrent syncope: a case report. Clin Autonom Res 2001;11:269–70.
- [57] The Consensus Committee of the American Autonomic Society and the American Academy of Neurology. Consensus statement on the definition of orthostatic hypotension, pure autonomic failure, and multiple system atrophy. Neurology 1996;46:1470.
- [58] Recchia D, Barzilai B. Echocardiography in the evaluation of patients with syncope. J Gen Intern Med 1995;10: 649-55.
- [59] Panther R, Mahmood S, Gal R. Echocardiography in the diagnostic evaluation of syncope. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 1998;11:294–8.
- [60] Krumholz HM, Douglas PS, Goldman L, et al. Clinical utility of transthoracic two-dimensional and Doppler echocardiography. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;24:125–31.
- [61] Sarasin FP, Junod AF, Carballo D, et al. Role of echocardiography in the evaluation of syncope: a prospective study. Heart 2002;88:363–7.
- [62] Hoegholm A, Clementsen P, Mortensen SA. Syncope due to right atrial thromboembolism: diagnostic importance of two-dimensional echocardiography. Acta Cardiol 1987;42: 469-73.
- [63] Bogaert AM, De Scheerder I, Colardyn F. Successful treatment of aortic rupture presenting as a syncope: the role of echocardiography in diagnosis. Int J Cardiol 1987; 16:212-4.
- [64] Omran H, Fehske W, Rabahieh R, et al. Valvular aortic stenosis: risk of syncope. J Heart Valve Dis 1996; 5:31-4.
- [65] Nienaber CA, Hiller S, Spielmann RP, et al. Syncope in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: multivariate analysis of prognostic determinants. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;15: 948–55.
- [66] Peters MN, Hall RJ, Cooley DA, et al. The clinical syndrome of atrial myxoma. JAMA 1974;230:695–701.
- [67] Franke H. Uber das karotissinus-syndrome und den sogennanten hyperactiven karotissinus reflex. Stuttgart: Fridrich-Kave Schattaueur Verlag; 1963.

- [68] Blanc JJ, L'heveder G, Mansourati J, et al. Assessment of newly recognized association: carotid sinus hypersensitivity and denervation of sternocleidomastoid muscles. Circulation 1997;95:2548–51.
- [69] O'Mahoney D. Pathophysiology of carotid sinus hypersensitivity in elderly patients. Lancet 1995;346:950–2.
- [70] Tea SH, Mansourati J, L'Heveder G, Mabin D, et al. New insights into the pathophysiology of carotid sinus syndrome. Circulation 1996;93:1411–6.
- [71] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Lolli G, et al. Validation of a method for choice of pacing mode in carotid sinus syndrome with or without sinus bradycardia. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1991;14:196–203.
- [72] McIntosh SJ, Lawson J, Kenny RA. Clinical characteristics of vasodepressor, cardioinhibitory and mixed carotid sinus syndrome in the elderly. Am J Med 1993;95:203–8.
- [73] Graux P, Mekerke W, Lemaire N, et al. Le syndrome du sinus carotidien. Apport de la monitorisation de la pression arterielle a l'exploration electrophysiologique endocavitaire. Arch Mal Coeur 1989;82:193–9.
- [74] Huang SKS, Ezri MD, Honser RG, et al. Carotid sinus hypersensitivity in patients with unexplained syncope: clinical, electrophysiologic, and long-term follow-up observation. Am Heart J 1988;116:989–96.
- [75] Volkmann H, Schnerch B, Kuhnert H. Diagnostic value of carotid sinus hypersensitivity. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1990;13:2065–70.
- [76] Brignole M, Gigli G, Altomonte F, et al. The cardioinhibitory reflex evoked by carotid sinus stimulation in normal and in patients with cardiovascular disorders. G Ital Cardiol 1985;15:514–9.
- [77] Brown KA, Maloney JA, Smith HC, et al. Carotid sinus reflex in patients undergoing coronary angiography: relationship of degree and location of coronary artery disease to response to carotid sinus massage. Circulation 1980;62:697–703.
- [78] Brignole M, Sartore B, Prato R. Role of body position during carotid sinus stimulation test in the diagnosis of cardioinhibitory carotid sinus syndrome. G Ital Cardiol 1983;14:69–72.
- [79] Parry SW, Richardson D, O'Shea D, et al. Diagnosis of carotid sinus hypersensitivity in older adults: carotid sinus massage in the upright position is essential. Heart 2000; 83:22–3.
- [80] Thomas JE. Hyperactive carotid sinus reflex and carotid sinus syncope. Mayo Clin Proc 1969;44:127–39.
- [81] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Lolli G, et al. Long-term outcome of paced and non paced patients with severe carotid sinus syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1992;69:1039–43.
- [82] Brignole M, Menozzi C. Carotid sinus syndrome: diagnosis natural history and treatment. Eur J Cardiac Pacing Electrophysiol 1992;2:247–54.
- [83] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Gianfranchi L, et al. Carotid sinus massage, eyeball compression and head-up tilt test in patients with syncope of uncertain origin and in healthy control subjects. Am Heart J 1991;122:1644-51.
- [84] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Gianfranchi L, et al. Neurally mediated syncope detected by carotid sinus massage and head-up tilt test in sick sinus syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1991;68:1032–6.
- [85] Puggioni E, Guiducci V, Brignole M, et al. Results and complications of the carotid sinus massage performed according to the 'Methods of Symptoms'. Am J Cardiol 2002;89:599–601.
- [86] Gaggioli G, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. Reappraisal of the vasodepressor reflex in carotid sinus syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1995;75:518–21.

- [87] Munro N, McIntosh S, Lawson J, et al. The incidence of complications after carotid sinus massage in older patients with syncope. J Am Geriatr Soc 1994;42: 1248-51.
- [88] Davies AG, Kenny RA. Neurological complications following carotid sinus massage. Am J Cardiol 1998;81: 1256–7.
- [89] Voss DM, Magnin GE. Demand pacing and carotid sinus syncope. Am Heart J 1970;79:544-7.
- [90] Peretz DP, Gerein AN, Miyagishima RT. Permanent demand pacing for hypersensitive carotid sinus syndrome. Can Med Assoc J 1973;108:1131–4.
- [91] Blanc JJ, Boschat J, Penther Ph. Hypersensibilité sinocarotidienne. Evolution à moyen terme en fonction du traitement et de ses symptômes. Arch Mal Cœur 1984;77: 330-6.
- [92] Menozzi C, Brignole M, Lolli G, et al. Follow-up of asystolic episodes in patients with cardioinhibitory, neurally mediated syncope and VVI pacemaker. Am J Cardiol 1993;72:1152–5.
- [93] Van Lieshout JJ, Wie-ling W, Karemaker JM, et al. The vasovagal response. Clin Sci 1991;81:575–86.
- [94] Rea RF, Thames MD. Neural control mechanisms and vasovagal syncope. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1993;4: 587–95.
- [95] Robertson RM, Medina E, Shah N, et al. Neurally mediated syncope: pathophysiology and implications for treatment. Am J Med Sci 1999;317:102–9.
- [96] Schondorf R, Wieling W. Vasoconstrictor reserve in neurally mediated syncope. Clin Autonom Res 2000;10: 53-6.
- [97] Kenny RA, Ingram A, Bayliss J, et al. Head-up tilt: a useful test for investigating unexplained syncope. Lancet 1986; 1:1352-5.
- [98] Fitzpatrick AP, Theodorakis G, Vardas P, et al. Methodology of head-up tilt testing in patients with unexplained syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1991;17:125–30.
- [99] Almquist A, Goldenberg IF, Milstein S, et al. Provocation of bradycardia and hypotension by isoproterenol and upright posture in patients with unexplained syncope. N Engl J Med 1989, 9;320:346–51.
- [100] Waxman MB, Yao L, Cameron DA, et al. Isoproterenol induction of vasodepressor-type reaction in vasodepressor-prone persons. Am J Cardiol 1989;63:58–65.
- [101] Kapoor WN, Brant N. Evaluation of syncope by upright tilt testing with isoproterenol. A nonspecific test. Ann Intern Med 1992;116:358–63.
- [102] Morillo CA, Klein GJ, Zandri S, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of a low-dose isoproterenol head-up tilt protocol. Am Heart J 1995;129:901–6.
- [103] Natale A, Aktar M, Jazayeri M, et al. Provocation of hypotension during head-up tilt testing in subjects with no history of syncope or presyncope. Circulation 1995;92: 54-8.
- [104] Raviele A, Gasparini G, Di Pede F, et al. Nitroglycerin infusion during upright tilt: a new test for the diagnosis of vasovagal syncope. Am Heart J 1994;127:103–11.
- [105] Raviele SA, Menozzi C, Brignole M, et al. Value of head-up tilt testing potentiated with sublingual nitroglycerin to assess the origin of unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1995;76:267-72.
- [106] Oraii S, Maleki M, Minooii M, et al. Comparing two different protocols for tilt table testing: sublingual glyceryl trinitrate versus isoprenaline infusion. Heart 1999;81:603-5.
- [107] Raviele A, Giada F, Brignole M, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of sublingual nitroglycerin test and low-dose isoprotere-

nol test in patients with unexplained syncope. A comparative study. Am J Cardiol 2000;85:1194–8.

- [108] Graham LA, Gray JC, Kenny RA. Comparison of provocative tests for unexplained syncope: isoprenaline and glyceryl trinitrate for diagnosing vasovagal syncope. Eur Heart J 2001;22:497–503.
- [109] Bartoletti A, Gaggioli G, Bottoni N, et al. Head-up tilt testing potentiated with oral nitroglycerin. A randomized trial of the contribution of a drug-free phase and a nitroglycerin phase in the diagnosis of neurally mediated syncope. Europace 1999;1:183–6.
- [110] Del Rosso A, Bartoli P, Bartoletti A, et al. Shortened headup tilt testing potentiated with sublingual nitroglycerin in patients with unexplained syncope. Am Heart J 1998;135: 564-70.
- [111] Natale A, Sra J, Akhtar M, et al. Use of sublingual nitroglycerin during head-up tilt-table testing in patients >60 years of age. Am J Cardiol 1998;82:1210-3.
- [112] Del Rosso A, Bartoletti A, Bartoli P, et al. Methodology of head-up tilt testing potentiated with sublingual nitroglycerin in unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 2000;85: 1007–11.
- [113] Foglia Manzillo G, Giada F, Beretta S, et al. Reproducibility of head-up tilt testing potentiated with sublingual nitroglycerin in patients with unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1999;84:284–8.
- [114] Del Rosso A, Ungar A, Bartoli P, et al. Usefulness and safety of shortened head-up tilt testing potentiated with sublingual glyceryl trinitrate in older patients with recurrent unexplained syncope. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50:1324–8.
- [115] Kumar NP, Youde JH, Ruse C, et al. Responses to the prolonged head-up tilt followed by sublingual nitrate provocation in asymptomatic older adults. Age Ageing 2000;5:419–24.
- [116] Theodorakis G, Markianos M, Zarvalis E, et al. Provocation of neurocardiogenic syncope by clomipramine administration during the head-up tilt test in vasovagal syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:174–8.
- [117] Theodorakis GN, Livanis EG, Leftheriotis D, et al. Head-up tilt test with clomipramine challenge in vasovagal syndrome—a new tilt testing protocol. Eur Heart J 2003; 24:658–63.
- [118] Zeng C, Zhu Z, Hu W, et al. Value of sublingual isosorbide dinitrate before isoproterenol tilt test for diagnosis of neurally mediated syncope. Am J Cardiol 1999;83: 1059–63.
- [119] Ammirati F, Colivicchi F, Biffi A, et al. Head-up tilt testing potentiated with low-dose sublingual isosorbide dinitrate: A simplified time-saving approach for the evaluation of unexplained syncope. Am Heart J 1998;135:671–6.
- [120] Voice RA, Lurie KG, Sakaguchi S, et al. Comparison of tilt angles and provocative agents (edrophonium and isoproterenol) to improve head-upright tilt-table testing. Am J Cardiol 1998;81:346-51.
- [121] Fitzpatrick AP, Lee RJ, Epstein LM, et al. Effect of patient characteristics on the yield of prolonged baseline head-up tilt testing and the additional yield of drug provocation. Heart 1996;76:406-11.
- [122] Benditt DG, Ferguson DW, Grubb BP, et al. Tilt table testing for assessing syncope. ACC expert consensus document. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;28:263–75.
- [123] McIntosh SJ, Lawson J, Kenny RA. Intravenous cannulation alters the specificity of head-up tilt testing for vasovagal syncope in elderly patients. Age Ageing 1994;63:58–65.
- [124] De Jong-de Vos van Steenwijk CCE, Wieling W, Johannes JM, et al. Incidence and hemodynamics of

near-fainting in healthy 6-16 year old subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;25:1615-21.

- [125] Sutton R, Petersen M, Brignole M, et al. Proposed classification for tilt induced vasovagal syncope. Eur J Cardiac Pacing Electrophysiol 1992;2:180–3.
- [126] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Del Rosso A, et al. New classification of haemodynamics of vasovagal syncope: beyond the VASIS classification. Analysis of the presyncopal phase of the tilt test without and with nitroglycerin challenge. Europace 2000;2:66–76.
- [127] Alboni P, Dinelli M, Gruppillo P, et al. Haemodynamic changes early in prodromal symptoms of vasovagal syncope. Europace 2002;4:333–8.
- [128] Brignole M, Croci F, Menozzi C, et al. Isometric arm counter-pressure maneuvers to abort impending vasovagal syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;40:2054–60.
- [129] Wieling W, van Lieshout JJ, ten Harkel ADJ. Dynamics of circulatory adjustments to head up tilt and tilt back in healthy and sympathetically denervated subjects. Clin Sci 1998;94:347–52.
- [130] Grubb BP, Karas B. Diagnosis and management of neurocardiogenic syncope. Curr Opin Cardiol 1998;13:29–35.
- [131] Sheldon R, Splawinski J, Killam S. Reproducibility of isoproterenol tilt-table tests in patients with syncope. Am J Cardiol 1992;69:1300–5, May 15.
- [132] Grubb BP, Wolfe D, Temesy Armos P, et al. Reproducibility of head upright tilt-table test in patients with syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1992;15:1477–81.
- [133] De Buitler M, Grogan Jr EW, Picone MF, et al. Immediate reproducibility of the tilt table test in adults with unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1993;71:304–7.
- [134] Brooks R, Ruskin JN, Powell AC, et al. Prospective evaluation of day-to-day reproducibility of upright tilttable testing in unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1993; 71:1289–92.
- [135] Blanc JJ, Mansourati J, Maheu B, et al. Reproducibility of a positive passive upright tilt test at a seven-day interval in patients with syncope. Am J Cardiol 1993;72:469–71, 15.
- [136] Moya A, Permanyer-Miralda G, Sagrista-Sauleda J, et al. Limitations of head-up tilt test for evaluating the efficacy of therapeutic interventions in patients with vasovagal syncope: results of a controlled study of etilefrine versus placebo. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;25:65–9.
- [137] Morillo CA, Leitch JW, Yee R, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of intravenous and oral disopyramide for prevention of neurally mediated syncope induced by head-up tilt. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;22:1843-8.
- [138] Raviele A, Brignole M, Sutton R, et al. Effect of etilefrine in preventing syncopal recurrence in patients with vasovagal syncope: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. The Vasovagal Syncope International Study. Circulation 1999;99:1452–7.
- [139] Moya A, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. Mechanism of syncope in patients with isolated syncope and in patients with tilt-positive syncope. Circulation 2001;104:1261-7.
- [140] Sutton R, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. Dual-chamber pacing in treatment of neurally-mediated tilt-positive cardioinhibitory syncope. Pacemaker versus no therapy: a multicentre randomized study. Circulation 2000;102: 294-9.
- [141] Maloney J, Jaeger F, Fouad-Tarazi F, et al. Malignant vasovagal syncope: prolonged asystole provoked by headup tilt. Cleve Clin J Med 1988;55:542-8.
- [142] Leman RB, Clarke E, Gillette P. Significant complications can occur with ischemic heart disease and tilt table testing Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1999;22:675–7.

- [143] Gatzoulis KA, Mamarelis IE, Apostolopoulos T, et al. Polymorphic ventricular tachycardia induced during tilt table testing in a patient with syncope and probable dysfunction of the sinus node. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1995;18:1075–9.
- [144] Leitch J, Klein G, Yee R, et al. Neurally-mediated syncope and atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 1991;324:495–6 (letter).
- [145] Croci F, Brignole M, Alboni P, et al. The application of a standardized strategy of evaluation in patients with syncope referred to three Syncope Units. Europace 2002; 4:351-6.
- [146] Kapoor WN. Evaluation and management of the patient with syncope. JAMA 1992;268:2553-60.
- [147] Gibson TC, Heitzman MR. Diagnostic efficacy of 24-hour electrocardiographic monitoring for syncope. Am J Cardiol 1984;53:1013-7.
- [148] DiMarco JP, Philbrick JT. Use of electrocardiographic (Holter) monitoring. Ann Intern Med 1990;113:53–68.
- [149] Bass EB, Curtiss EJ, Arena VC, et al. The duration of Holter monitoring in patients with syncope: is 24 hours enough? Arch Intern Med 1990;150:1073-8.
- [150] Linzer M, Pritchett ELC, Pontinen M, et al. Incremental diagnostic yield of loop electrocardiographic recorders in unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1990;66: 214-9.
- [151] Schuchert A, Maas C, Kretzschmar C, et al. Diagnostic yield of external loop recorders in patients with recurrent syncope and negative tilt table test. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2003;26:1837–40.
- [152] Krahn A, Klein G, Norris C, Yee R. The etiology of syncope in patients with negative tilt table and electrophysiologic testing. Circulation 1995;92:1819–26.
- [153] Krahn AD, Klein GJ, Yee R, et al. Use of an extended monitoring strategy in patients with problematic syncope. Reveal Investigators. Circulation 1999;26:406–10, 99.
- [154] Krahn A, Klein GJ, Yee R, et al. Randomized Assessment of Syncope Trial. Conventional diagnostic testing versus a prolonged monitoring strategy. Circulation 2001;104: 46-51.
- [155] Nierop P, Vam Mechelen R, Elsacker A, et al. Heart rhythm during syncope and presyncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2000;23:1532–8.
- [156] Zaidi A, Clough P, Cooper P, et al. Misdiagnosis of epilepsy: many seizure-like attacks have a cardiovascular cause. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:181–4.
- [157] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Moya A, et al. The mechanism of syncope in patients with bundle branch block and negative electrophysiologic test. Circulation 2001;104: 2045–50.
- [158] Menozzi C, Brignole M, Garcia-Civera R, et al. Mechanism of syncope in patients with heart disease and negative electrophysiologic test. Circulation 2002;105:2741–5.
- [159] Kenny RA, Richardson DA, Steen N, et al. Carotid sinus syndrome: a modifiable risk factor for nonaccidental falls in older adults (SAFE PACE). J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;1: 1491–6.
- [160] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Bottoni N, et al. Mechanisms of syncope caused by transient bradycardia and the diagnostic value of electrophysiologic testing and cardiovascular reflexivity maneuvers. Am J Cardiol 1995;76: 273-8.
- [161] Santini M, Ansalone G, Cacciatore G, et al. Transesophageal pacing. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1990;13: 1298–323.
- [162] Fujimura O, Yee R, Klein G, et al. The diagnostic sensitivity of electrophysiologic testing in patients with

531

syncope caused by transient bradycardia. N Engl J Med 1989;321:1703-7.

- [163] Lacroix D, Dubuc M, Kus T, et al. Evaluation of arrhythmic causes of syncope: correlation between Holter monitoring, electrophysiologic testing, and body surface potential mapping. Am Heart J 1991;122: 1346-54.
- [164] Moazez F, Peter T, Simonson J, et al. Syncope of unknown origin: clinical, noninvasive, and electrophysiologic determinants of arrhythmia induction and symptom recurrence during long-term follow-up. Am Heart J 1991; 121:81–8.
- [165] Bergfeldt L, Vallin H, Rosenqvist M, et al. Sinus node recovery time assessment revisited: role of pharmacological blockade of the autonomic nervous system. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1996;7:95–101.
- [166] Englund A, Bergfeldt L, Rosenqvist M. Pharmacological stress testing of the His-Purkinje system in patients with bifascicular block. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1998;21: 1979–87.
- [167] Linzer M, Yang E, Estes M, et al. Diagnosing syncope. Part II: Unexplained syncope. Ann Intern Med 1997;127: 76–86.
- [168] Bergfeldt L, Rosenqvist M, Vallin H, et al. Screening for sinus node dysfunction by analysis of short-term sinus cycle variations on the surface electrocardiogram. Am Heart J 1995;130:141–7.
- [169] Benditt DG, Gornick C, Dunbar D, et al. Indications for electrophysiological testing in diagnosis and assessment of sinus node dysfunction. Circulation 1987;75(suppl III): 93-9.
- [170] Alboni P, Filippi L, Pirani R, et al. Reproducibility of electrophysiological parameters of sinus node following autonomic blockade. Int J Cardiol 1983;4:431–42.
- [171] Narula O, Samet P, Javier RP. Significance of the sinus node recovery time. Circulation 1972;45:55–61.
- [172] Vallin H, Edhag O, Sowton E. Diagnostic capacity of sinus node recovery time after inhibition of autonomous neural tone. Eur J Cardiol 1980;12:81–93.
- [173] Jose AD, Collison D. The normal range and determinants of the intrinsic heart rate in man. Cardiovasc Res 1970;4: 160-6.
- [174] Jordan JL, Yamaguchi I, Mandel WJL. Studies on the mechanism of sinus node dysfunction in the sick sinus syndrome. Circulation 1978;57:217–23.
- [175] Alboni P, Malacarne C, Pedroni P, et al. Electrophysiology of normal sinus node with and without autonomic blockade. Circulation 1982;65:1236–42.
- [176] Tonkin AM, Heddle WF. Electrophysiological testing of sinus node function. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1984;7: 735–48.
- [177] Gann D, Tolentino A, Samet P. Electrophysiologic evaluation of elderly patients with sinus bradycardia. A longterm follow-up study. Ann Intern Med 1979;90:24–9.
- [178] Menozzi C, Brignole M, Alboni P, et al. The natural course of untreated sick sinus syndrome and identification of the variables predictive of unfavourable outcome. Am J Cardiol 1998;82:1205–9.
- [179] Dhingra R. Sinus node dysfunction. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1983;6:1062–9.
- [180] Rosenbaum MB, Elizari MV, Lazzari JO. Los hemibloqueos. Buenos Aires, Parados; 1968.
- [181] Bergfeldt L, Edvardsson N, Rosenqvist M, et al. Atrioventricular block progression in patients with bifascicular block assessed by repeated electrocardiography and a bradycardia-detecting pacemaker. Am J Cardiol 1994; 74:1129–32.

- [182] McAnulty JH, Rahimtoola SH, Murphy E, et al. Natural history of 'high risk' bundle branch block. Final report of a prospective study. N Engl J Med 1982;307:137–43.
- [183] Scheinman MM, Peters RW, Sauvé MJ, et al. Value of the H-Q interval in patients with bundle branch block and the role of prophylactic permanent pacing. Am J Cardiol 1982;50:1316-22.
- [184] Rosen KM, Rahimtoola SH, Chquimia R, et al. Electrophysiological significance of first-degree atrioventricular block with intraventricular conduction disturbance. Circulation 1971;43:491–502.
- [185] Dhingra RC, Wyndham C, Bauernfeind R, et al. Significance of block distal to the His bundle induced by atrial pacing in patients with chronic bifascicular block. Circulation 1979;60:1455–64.
- [186] Petrac D, Radic B, Birtic K, et al. Prospective evaluation of infrahisian second-degree AV block induced by atrial pacing in the presence of chronic bundle branch block and syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1996;19:679–87.
- [187] Click R, Gersh B, Sugrue D, et al. Role of invasive electrophysiologic testing in patients with symptomatic bundle branch block. Am J Cardiol 1987;59:817–23.
- [188] Gronda M, Magnani A, Occhetta E, et al. Electrophysiologic study of atrio-ventricular block and ventricular conduction defects. G Ital Cardiol 1984;14:768–73.
- [189] Dini P, Iaolongo D, Adinolfi E, et al. Prognostic value of His-ventricular conduction after ajmaline administration. In: Masoni A, Alboni P, editors. Cardiac electrophysiology today. London: Academic Press; 1982. p. 515–22.
- [190] Kaul U, Dev V, Narula J, et al. Evaluation of patients with bundle branch block and 'unexplained' syncope: a study based on comprehensive electrophysiologic testing and ajmaline stress. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1988;11: 289–97.
- [191] Twidale N, Heddle W, Tonkin A. Procainamide administration during electrophysiologic study—Utility as a provocative test for intermittent atrioventricular block. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1988;11:1388–97.
- [192] Link M, Kim KM, Homoud M, et al. Long-term outcome of patients with syncope associated with coronary artery disease and a non diagnostic electrophysiological evaluation. Am J Cardiol 1999;83:1334–7.
- [193] Gaggioli G, Bottoni N, Brignole M, et al. Progression to second or third-degree atrioventricular block in patients electrostimulated for bundle branch block: a long-term study. G Ital Cardiol 1994;24:409–16.
- [194] Dhingra RC, Palileo E, Strasberg B, et al. Significance of the HV interval in 517 patients with chronic bifascicular block. Circulation 1981;64:1265-71.
- [195] Englund A, Bergfeldt L, Rehnqvist N, et al. Diagnostic value of programmed ventricular stimulation in patients with bifascicular block: a prospective study of patients with and without syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;26:1508–15.
- [196] Morady F, Higgins J, Peters R, et al. Electrophysiologic testing in bundle branch block and unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1984;54:587–91.
- [197] Goldreyer BN, Kastor JA, Kershbaum KL. The hemodynamic effects of induced supraventricular tachycardia in man. Circulation 1976;54:783–9.
- [198] Bigger Jr JT, Reiffel JA, Livelli FD, et al. Sensitivity, specificity, and reproducibility of programmed ventricular stimulation. Circulation 1986;73(Suppl II):73-8.
- [199] Wellens HJJ, Brugada P, Stevenson WG. Programmed electrical stimulation of the heart in patients with lifethreatening ventricular arrhythmias: what is the significance of induced arrhythmias and what is the correct stimulation protocol ?. Circulation 1986;72:1–7.

- [200] Olshansky B, Hahn EA, Hartz VL, et al. Clinical significance of syncope in the electrophysiologic study versus electrocardiographic monitoring (ESVEM) trial. Am Heart J 1999; 137:878-86.
- [201] Mittal S, Hao S, Iwai S, et al. Significance of inducible ventricular fibrillation in patients with coronary artery disease and unexplained syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 38:371–6.
- [202] Alings M, Wilde A. 'Brugada' syndrome. Clinical data and suggested pathophysiological mechanism. Circulation 1999;99:666–73.
- [203] Brugada P, Brugada R, Mont L, et al. Natural history of Brugada syndrome: the prognostic value of programmed electrical stimulation of the heart. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2003;14:458–60.
- [204] Kelly P, Ruskin JN, Vlahakes GJ, et al. Surgical coronary revascularization in survivors of prehospital cardiac arrest: its effect on inducible ventricular arrhythmias and long-term survival. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;15:267–73.
- [205] Viskin S, Lesh MD, Eldar M, et al. Mode of onset of malignant ventricular arrhythmias in idiopathic ventricular fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1997;8: 1115–20.
- [206] Knight B, Goyal R, Pelosi F, et al. Outcome of patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy and unexplained syncope treated with an implantable defibrillator. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33:1964–70.
- [207] Brilakis E, Shen W, Hammill S, et al. Role of programmed ventricular stimulation and implantable cardioverter defibrillators in patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy and syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2001; 24:1623–30.
- [208] Link MS, Costeas XF, Griffith JL, et al. High incidence of appropriate implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy in patients with syncope of unknown etiology and inducible ventricular tachycardia. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:370–5.
- [209] Militianu A, Salacata A, Seibert K, et al. Implantable cardioverter defibrillator utilization among device recipients presenting exclusively with syncope or nearsyncope. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1997;8:1087–97.
- [210] Mittal S, Iwai S, Stein K, et al. Long-term outcome of patients with unexplained syncope treated with an electrophysiologic-guided approach in the implantable cardioverter-defibrillator era. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;34: 1082–9.
- [211] Andrews N, Fogel R, Pelargonio G, et al. Implantable defibrillator event rates in patients with unexplained syncope and inducible sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmias. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;34:2023-30.
- [212] Pires L, May L, Ravi S, et al. Comparison of event rates and survival in patients with unexplained syncope without documented ventricular tachyarrhythmias versus patients with documented sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmias both treated with implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. Am J Cardiol 2000;85:725–8.
- [213] Fonarow G, Feliciano Z, Boyle N, et al. Improved survival in patients with nonischemic advanced heart failure and syncope treated with an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. Am J Cardiol 2000;85:981–5.
- [214] Flammang D, Church T, Waynberger M, et al. Can Adenosine 5'triphosphate be used to select treatment in severe vasovagal syndrome? Circulation 1997;96:1201–8.
- [215] Brignole M, Gaggioli G, Menozzi C, et al. Adenosineinduced atrioventricular block in patients with unexplained syncope. The diagnostic value of ATP test. Circulation 1997;96:3921-7.

- [216] Belardinelli L, Linden J, Berne RM. The cardiac effects of adenosine. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 1989;22:73-97.
- [217] Flammang D, Chassing A, Donal E, et al. Reproducibility of the 5'triphosphate test in vasovagal syndrome. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1998;9:1161–6.
- [218] Donateo P, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. Mechanism of syncope in patients with positive ATP test. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:93–8.
- [219] Flammang D, Erickson M, McCarville S, et al. Contribution of head-up tilt testing and ATP testing in assessing the mechanisms of vaso vagal syndrome. Preliminary results and potential therapeutic implications. Circulation 1999; 99:2427–33.
- [220] Brignole M, Gaggioli G, Menozzi C, et al. Clinical features of adenosine sensitive syncope and Tilt-induced vasovagal syncope. Heart 2000;83:24–8.
- [221] Saadjian AY, Levy S, Franceschi F, et al. Role of endogenous adenosine as a modulator of syncope induced during tilt testing. Circulation 2002;106:569–74.
- [222] Shen WK, Hammil S, Munger T, et al. Adenosine: potential modulator for vasovagal syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996; 28:146-54.
- [223] Mittal S, Stein K, Markowitz S, et al. Induction of neurally mediated syncope with adenosine. Circulation 1999;99: 1318–24.
- [224] Berbari EJ, Scherlag BJ, Hope RR, et al. Recording from the body surface of arrhythmogenic ventricular activity during the S-T segment. Am J Cardiol 1978;41: 697–702.
- [225] Kuchar DL, Thorburn CW, Sammel NL. Signal averaged electrocardiogram for evaluation of recurrent syncope. Am J Cardiol 1986;58:949–53.
- [226] Gang ES, Peter T, Rosenthal ME, et al. Detection of late potentials on the Surface electrocardiogram in unexplained syncope. Am J Cardiol 1986;58:1014–20.
- [227] Winters SL, Steward D, Gomes JA. Signal averaging of the surface QRS complex predicts inducibility of ventricular tachycardia in patients with syncope of unknown origin: a prospective study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1987;10: 775–81.
- [228] Steinberg JS, Prystowsky E, Freedman RA, et al. Use of the signal-averaged electrocardiogram for predicting inducible ventricular tachycardia in patients with unexplained syncope: relation to clinical variables in a multivariate analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;23:99–106.
- [229] Gold MR, Bloomfield DM, Anderson KP, et al. A comparison of T-wave alternans, signal averaged electrocardiography and programmed ventricular stimulation for arrhythmia risk stratification. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:2254–6.
- [230] Breithardt G, Cain ME, El-Sherif N, et al. Standards for analysis of ventricular late potentials using high resolution or signal-averaged electrocardiography. A statement by a Task Force Committee between the European Society of Cardiology, the American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 1991;12: 473–80.
- [231] Eckardt L, Bruns HJ, Paul M, et al. Body surface area of ST elevation and the presence of late potentials correlate to the inducibility of ventricular tachyarrhythmias in Brugada syndrome. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2002;13:742-9.
- [232] Ikeda T, Sakurada H, Sakabe K, et al. Assessment of noninvasive markers in identifying patients at risk in the Brugada syndrome: insight into risk stratification. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:1628–34.
- [233] Goldman DS, Zareba W, Moss AJ. Malignant T-wave alternans. Circulation 2000;102:e46–7.

- [234] Morita H, Nagase S, Kusano K, et al. Spontaneous T wave alternans and premature ventricular contractions during febrile illness in a patient with Brugada syndrome. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2002;13:816–8.
- [235] Doi A, Tsuchihashi K, Kyuma M, et al. Diagnostic implications of modified treadmill and head-up tilt tests in exercise-related syncope: Comparative studies with situational and/or vasovagal syncope. Can J Cardiol 2002; 18:960-6.
- [236] Thomson HL, Atherton JJ, Khafagi FA, et al. Failure of reflex venoconstriction during exercise in patients with vasovagal syncope. Circulation 1996;93:953–9.
- [237] Sneddon JF, Scalia G, Ward DE, et al. Exercise induced vasodepressor syncope. Br Heart J 1994;71:554–7.
- [238] Huycke EC, Card HG, Sobol SM, et al. Postexertional cardiac asystole in a young man without organic heart disease. Ann Intern Med 1987;106:844–5.
- [239] Arad M, Solomon A, Roth A, et al. Postexercise syncope: evidence for increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system. Cardiology 1993;83:121–3.
- [240] Osswald S, Brooks R, O'Nunain SS, et al. Asystole after exercise in healthy persons. Ann Intern Med 1994;120: 1008–11.
- [241] Takase B, Kastushika S, Hamabe A, et al. Significance of circulatory epinephrine levels in exercise-induced neurally mediated syncope. Clin Cardiol 2001;24:15–20.
- [242] Sakaguchi S, Shultz JJ, Remole SC, et al. Syncope associated with exercise, a manifestation of neurally mediated syncope. Am J Cardiol 1995;75:476–81.
- [243] Colivicchi F, Ammirati F, Biffi A, et al. Exercise-related syncope in young competitive athletes without evidence of structural heart disease: clinical presentation and longterm outcome. Eur Heart J 2002;23:1125–30.
- [244] Byrne JM, Marais HJ, Cheek GA. Exercise-induced complete heart block in a patient with chronic bifascicular block. J Electrocardiol 1994;27:339–42.
- [245] Woeifel AK, Simpson RJ, Gettes LS, et al. Exerciseinduced distal atrio-ventricular block. J Am Coll Cardiol 1983;2:578-82.
- [246] Barra M, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. Exercise induced intermittent atrio-ventricular block. Three cases report. G Ital Cardiol 1985;15:1051–5.
- [247] Kovac JD, Murgatroyd FD, Skehan JD. Recurrent syncope due to complete atrioventricular block, a rare presenting symptom of otherwise silent coronary artery disease: successful treatment by PTCA. Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn 1997;42:216–8.
- [248] Ascheim DD, Markowitz SM, Lai H, et al. Vasodepressor syncope due to subclinical myocardial ischemia. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1997;8:215–21.
- [249] Havranek EP, Dunbar DN. Exertional syncope caused by left main coronary artery spasm. Am Heart J 1992;123: 792-4.
- [250] Hattori R, Murohara Y, Yui Y, et al. Diffuse triple-vessel coronary artery spasm complicated by idioventricular rhythm and syncope. Chest 1987;92:183–5.
- [251] Watanabe K, Inomata T, Miyakita Y, et al. Electrophysiologic study and ergonovine provocation of coronary spasm in unexplained syncope. Jpn Heart J 1993;34:171–82.
- [252] Bannister R, Mathias C. Introduction and classification of autonomic disorders. In: Mathias CJ, Bannister R, editors. Autonomic failure. 4th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. xvii–xii.
- [253] Tonkin AL, Frewin DB. Drugs, toxins and chemicals that alter autonomic function. In: Mathias CJ, Bannister R, editors. Autonomic failure. 4th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 527–33.

- [254] Gilman S, Low PA, Quinn N, et al. Consensus statement on the diagnosis of multiple system atrophy. J Neurol Sci 1999;163:94–8.
- [255] Wenning GK, Tison F, Shlomo YB, et al. Multiple system atrophy: a review of 203 pathologically proven cases. Mov Dis 1997;12:133–47.
- [256] Mathias CJ, Polinsky RJ. Separating the primary autonomic failure syndromes, multiple system atrophy, and pure autonomic failure from Parkinson's disease. In: Stern GM, editor. Parkinson's disease: Advances in neurology. 80. Philadelphia: Lippincott; 1999.
- [257] Markush RE, Karp HR, Heyman A, et al. Epidemiologic study of migraine symptoms in young women. Neurology 1975;25:430-5.
- [258] McHarg ML, Shinnar S, Rascoff H, et al. Syncope in childhood. Pediatr Cardiol 1997;18:367-71.
- [259] Van Donselaar CA, Geerts AT, Schimsheimer RJ. Usefulness of an aura for classification of a first generalised seizure. Epilepsia 1990;31:529–35.
- [260] Guilleminault C, Gelb M. Clinical aspects and features of cataplexy. In: Fahn S, Hallett M, Luders HO, Marsden CD, editors. Negative motor phenomena, vol. 67; 1995. p. 65–77.
- [261] Stevens DL, Matthew WB. Cryptogenic drop attacks: an affliction of women. Br Med J 1973;1:3439-42.
- [262] Linzer M, Felder A, Hackel A, et al. Psychiatric syncope: a new look at an old disease. Psychosomatics 1990;31: 181–8.
- [263] Grubb BP, Gerard G, Wolfe DA, et al. Syncope and seizure of psychogenic origin: identification with head-upright tilt table testing. Clin Cardiol 1992;15:839–42.
- [264] Konig D, Linzer M, Pontinen M, et al. Syncope in young adults: evidence for a combined medical and psychiatric approach. J Intern Med 1992;232:169–76.
- [265] Gendeiman HE, Linzer M, Gabelman M, et al. Syncope in a general hospital patient population. Usefulness of the radionuclide brain scan, electroencephalogram, and 24-hour Holter monitor. N Y State J Med 1983;83: 1161–5.
- [266] Hoefnagels WA, Padberg GW, Overweg J, et al. Syncope or seizure? The diagnostic value of the EEG and hyperventilation test in transient loss of consciousness. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1991;54:953-6.
- [267] Davis TL, Freemon FR. Electroencephalography should not be routine in the evaluation of syncope in adults. Arch Intern Med 1990;150:2027–9.
- [268] Van Dijk N, Velzeboer S, Destree-Vonk A, et al. Psychological treatment of malignant vasovagal syncope due to bloodphobia. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2001;24: 122-4.
- [269] Gaggioli G, Bottoni N, Mureddu R, et al. Effects of chronic vasodilator therapy to enhance susceptibility to vasovagal syncope during upright tilt testing. Am J Cardiol 1997;80: 1092-4.
- [270] Younoszai AK, Franklin WH, Chan DP, et al. Oral fluid therapy. A promising treatment for vasodepressor syncope. Arch Pediatr Adolescent Med 1998;152:165–8.
- [271] El-Sayed H, Hainsworth R. Salt supplement increases plasma volume and orthostatic tolerance in patients with unexplained syncope. Heart 1996;75:114–5.
- [272] Mtinangi BL, Hainsworth R. Early effects of oral salt on plasma volume, orthostatic tolerance, and baroreceptor sensitivity in patients with syncope. Clin Autonom Res 1998;8:231–5.
- [273] Mtinangi B, Hainsworth R. Increased orthostatic tolerance following moderate exercise training in patients with unexplained syncope. Heart 1998;80:596–600.

- [274] Wieling W, Lieshout JJv, Hainsworth R. Extracellular fluid volume expansion in patients with posturally related syncope. Clin Auton Res 2002;12:242–9.
- [275] Ector H, Reybrouck T, Heidbuchel H, et al. Tilt training: a new treatment for recurrent neurocardiogenic syncope or severe orthostatic intolerance. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1998;21:193-6.
- [276] Di Girolamo E, Di Iorio C, Leonzio L, et al. Usefulness of a tilt training program for the prevention of refractory neurocardiogenic syncope in adolescents. A controlled study. Circulation 1999;100:1798–801.
- [277] Reybrouck T, Heidbüchel H, Van De Werf F, et al. Longterm follow-up results of tilt training therapy in patients with recurrent neurocardiogenic syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2002;25:1441–6.
- [278] Abe H, Kondo S, Kohshi K, et al. Usefulness of orthostatic self-training for the prevention of neurocardiogenic syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2002;25:1454-8.
- [279] Krediet P, van Dijk N, Linzer M, et al. Management of vasovagal syncope: controlling or aborting faints by leg crossing and muscle tensing. Circulation 2002;106: 1684–9.
- [280] Tonnesen G, Haft J, Fulton J, et al. The value of tilt testing with isoproterenol in determining therapy in adults with syncope and presyncope of unexplained origin. Arch Intern Med 1994;154:1613–7.
- [281] Mahanonda N, Bhuripanyo K, Kangkagate C, et al. Randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of oral atenolol in patients with unexplained syncope and positive upright tilt table test results. Am Heart J 1995; 130:1250–3.
- [282] Jhamb DK, Singh B, Sharda B, et al. Comparative study of the efficacy of metoprolol and verapamil in patients with syncope and positive head-up tilt test response. Am Heart J 1996;132:608-11.
- [283] Biffi M, Boriani G, Sabbatani P, et al. Malignant vasovagal syncope: a randomised trial of metoprolol and clonidine. Heart 1997;77:268–72.
- [284] Cohen MB, Snow JS, Grasso V, et al. Efficacy of pindolol for treatment of vasovagal syncope. Am Heart J 1995;130: 786–90.
- [285] Iskos D, Dutton J, Scheinman MM, et al. Usefulness of pindolol in neurocardiogenic syncope. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82:1121-4.
- [286] Muller G, Deal B, Strasburger JF, et al. Usefulness of metoprolol for unexplained syncope and positive response to tilt testing in young persons. Am J Cardiol 1993;71: 592-5.
- [287] Ward CR, Gray JC, Gilroy JJ, et al. Midodrine: a role in the management of neurocardiogenic syncope. Heart 1998; 79:45–9.
- [288] Sra J, Maglio C, Biehl M, et al. Efficacy of midodrine hydrochloride in neurocardiogenic syncope refractory to standard therapy. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1997;8: 42-6.
- [289] Milstein S, Buetikofer J, Dunnigan A, et al. Usefulness of disopyramide for prevention of upright tilt-induced hypotension-bradycardia. Am J Cardiol 1990;65:1339-44.
- [290] Grubb BP, Wolfe D, Samoil D, et al. Usefulness of fluoxetine hydrochloride for prevention of resistant upright tilt induced syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1993;16:458–64.
- [291] Sra J, Anderson A, Sheikh S, et al. Unexplained syncope evaluated by electrophysiologic studies and head-up tilt testing. Ann Intern Med 1991;114:1013–9.
- [292] Lenk M, Alehan , Ozme S, et al. The role of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in preventing recurrent unexplained

childhood syncope – a preliminary report. Eur J Pediat 1997;156:747–50.

- [293] Fitzpatrick AP, Ahmed R, Williams S, et al. A randomized trial of medical therapy in malignant vasovagal syndrome or neurally-mediated bradycardia/hypotension syndrome. Eur J Cardiac Pacing Electrophysiol 1991;1:191–202.
- [294] Kelly PA, Mann DE, Adler SW, et al. Low dose disopyramide often fails to prevent neurogenic syncope during head-up tilt testing. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1994;17: 573–6.
- [295] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Gianfranchi L, et al. A controlled trial of acute and long-term medical therapy in tiltinduced neurally mediated syncope. Am J Cardiol 1992; 70:339-42.
- [296] Sheldon R, Rose S, Flanagan P, et al. Effects of beta blockers on the time to first syncope recurrence in patients after a positive isoproterenol tilt table test. Am J Cardiol 1996;78:536-9.
- [297] Di Girolamo E, Di Iorio C, Sabatini P, et al. Effects of different treatments vs no treatment on neurocardiogenic syncope. Cardiologia 1998;43:833–7.
- [298] Flevari P, Livanis E, Theodorakis G, et al. Vasovagal syncope: a prospective, randomized, cross-over evaluation of the effects of propranolol, nadolol and placebo on syncope recurrence and patients' well-being. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;40:499–504.
- [299] Madrid A, Ortega I, Rebollo GJ, et al. Lack of efficacy of atenolol for the prevention of neurally-mediated syncope in highly symptomatic population: a prospective doubleblind, randomized and placebo-controlled study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:554–7.
- [300] Di Girolamo E, Di Iorio C, Sabatini O, et al. Effects of paroxetine hydrochloride, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, on refractory vasovagal syncope: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33:1227–30.
- [301] Ventura R, Maas R, Zeidler D, et al. A randomized and controlled pilot trial of b-blockers for the treatment of recurrent syncope in patients with a positive or negative response to head-up tilt test. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2002;25:816–21.
- [302] Perez-Lugones A, Schweikert R, Pavia S, et al. Usefulness of midodrine in patients with severely symptomatic neurocardiogenic syncope: a randomized control study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2001;12:935–8.
- [303] Takata T, Wasmund S, Smith M, et al. Serotonin reuptake inhibitor (Paxil) does not prevent the vasovagal reaction associated with carotid sinus massage and/or lower body negative pressure in healthy volunteers. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2002;106:1500–4.
- [304] Fitzpatrick A, Theodorakis G, Ahmed R, et al. Dual chamber pacing aborts vasovagal syncope induced by head-up 60 degree tilt. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1991;14:13–9.
- [305] Sra J, Jazayeri MR, Avitall B, et al. Comparison of cardiac pacing with drug therapy in the treatment of neurocardiogenic (vasovagal) syncope with bradycardia or asystole. N Engl J Med 1993;328:1085–90.
- [306] Petersen MEV, Chamberlain-Webber R, Fizpatrick AP, et al. Permanent pacing for cardio-inhibitory malignant vasovagal syndrome. Br Heart J 1994;71:274-81.
- [307] El-Bedawi KM, Wahbha MMMAE, Hainsworth R. Cardiac pacing does not improve orthostatic tolerance in patients with vasovagal syncope. Clin Autonom Res 1995;88: 463-70.
- [308] Benditt DG, Petersen M, Lurie KG, et al. Cardiac pacing for prevention of recurrent vasovagal syncope. Ann Int Med 1995;122:204-9.

- [309] Benditt DG, Sutton R, Gammage M, et al. Rate-Drop Response Investigators Group. Rate-drop response cardiac pacing for vasovagal syncope. J Intervent Cardiac Electrophys 1999;3:27–33.
- [310] Connolly SJ, Sheldon R, Roberts RS, et al. Vasovagal pacemaker study investigators. The North American vasovagal pacemaker study (VPS): A randomized trial of permanent cardiac pacing for the prevention of vasovagal syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33:16–20.
- [311] Ammirati F, Colivicchi F, Santini M, et al. Permanent Cardiac Pacing versus medical treatment for the prevention of recurrent vasovagal syncope. A multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. Circulation 2001;104:52–7.
- [312] Connolly SJ, Sheldon R, Thorpe KE, et al. for the VPS II investigators. Pacemaker therapy for prevention of syncope in patients with recurrent severe vasovagal syncope: Second Vasovagal Pacemaker Study (VPS II). JAMA 2003;289:2224–9.
- [313] Giada F, Raviele A, Menozzi C, et al. The vasovagal syncope and pacing trial (Synpace). A randomized placebo-controlled study of permanent pacing for treatment of recurrent vasovagal syncope. PACE 2003;26:1016 (abstract).
- [314] Morley CA, Perrins EJ, Grant PL, et al. Carotid sinus syncope treated by pacing. Analysis of persistent symptoms and role of atrio ventricular sequential pacing. Br Heart J 1982;47:411–8.
- [315] Sugrue DD, Gersh BJ, Holmes DR, et al. Symptomatic 'isolated' carotid sinus hypersensitivity: Natural history and results of treatment with anticholinergic drugs or pacemaker. J Am Coll Cardiol 1986;7:158–62.
- [316] Madigan NP, Flaker GC, Curtis JJ, et al. Carotid sinus hypersensitivity: Beneficial effects of dual-chamber pacing. Am J Cardiol 1984;53:1034–40.
- [317] Brignole M, Sartore B, Barra M, et al. Is DDD superior to VVI pacing in mixed carotid sinus syndrome? An acute and medium-term study. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1988;11: 1902–10.
- [318] Brignole M, Sartore B, Barra M, et al. Ventricular and dual chamber pacing for treatment of carotid sinus syndrome. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1989;12:582–90.
- [319] Deschamps D, Richard A, Citron B, et al. Hypersensibilite sino-carotidienne. Evolution a moyen et a long terme des patients traites par stimulation ventriculaire. Arch Mal Coeur 1990;83:63-7.
- [320] Almquist A, Gornick CC, Benson Jr DW, et al. Carotid sinus hypersensitivity: Evaluation of the vasodepressor component. Circulation 1985;67:927–36.
- [321] Grubb BP, Samoil D, Kosinski D, et al. The use of serotonin reuptake inhibitors for the treatment of carotid sinus hypersensitivity syndrome unresponsive to dual chamber pacing. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1994;17:1434–6.
- [322] Brignole M, Menozzi C, Gaggioli G, et al. Effects of vasodilator therapy in patients with carotid sinus hypersensitivity. Am Heart J 1998;136:264-8.
- [323] Mathias CJ, Kimber JR. Treatment of postural hypotension. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat 1998;65:285–9.
- [324] Ten Harkel ADJ, van Lieshout JJ, Wieling W. Treatment of orthostatic hypotension with sleeping in the head-up position, alone and in combination with fludrocortisone. J Int Med 1992;232:139–45.
- [325] Tanaka H, Yamaguchi H, Tamai H. Treatment of orthostatic intolerance with inflatable abdominal band. Lancet 1997;349:175.
- [326] Smit AAJ, Hardjowijono MA, Wieling W. Are portable folding chairs useful to combat orthostatic hypotension?. Ann Neurol 1997;42:975–8.

- [327] Van Lieshout JJ, Ten Harkel ADJ, Wieling W. Combating orthostatic dizziness in autonomic failure by physical maneuvers. Lancet 1992;339:897–8.
- [328] Wieling W, Van Lieshout JJ, Van Leeuwen AM. Physical maneuvers that reduce postural hypotension in autonomic failure. Clin Autonom Res 1993;3:57–65.
- [329] Van Lieshout JJ, Ten Harkel ADJ, Wieling W. Physiological basis of treatment of orthostatic hypotension by sleeping head-up tilt and fludrocortisone medication. Clin Autonom Res 2000;10:35–42.
- [330] Jankovic J, Gilden JL, Hiner BC, et al. Neurogenic orthostatic hypotension: a double-blind placebo-controlled study with midodrine. Am J Med 1993;95:38–48.
- [331] Gilden JL. Midodrine in neurogenic orthostatic hypotension. Int Angiol 1993;12:125–31.
- [332] Low PA, Gilden JL, Freeman R, et al. Efficacy of midrodrine vs placebo in neurogenic orthostatic hypotension. JAMA 1997;13:1046–51.
- [333] Sgarbossa EB, Pinski SL, Jaeger FJ, et al. Incidence and predictors of syncope in paced patients with sick sinus syndrome. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1992;15: 2055–60.
- [334] Lamas GA, Dawley D, Splaine K, et al. Documented symptomatic bradycardia and symptom relief in patients receiving permanent pacemakers: an evaluation of the joint ACC/AHA pacing guidelines. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1988;11:1098–104.
- [335] Rosenqvist M, Brandt J, Schüller H. Long-term pacing in sick sinus node disease: effects of stimulation mode on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Am Heart J 1988; 116:16–22.
- [336] Andersen HR, Thuesen L, Bagger JP, et al. Prospective randomised trial of atrial versus ventricular pacing in sicksinus syndrome. Lancet 1994;344:1523–8.
- [337] Lamas G, Orav EJ, Stambler B, et al. Quality of life and clinical outcome in elderly patients treated with ventricular pacing as compared with dual-chamber pacing. N Engl J Med 1998;338:1097–104.
- [338] Andersen HR, Nielsen JC, Thomsen PE, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients from a randomised trial of atrial versus ventricular pacing for sick-sinus syndrome. Lancet 1997;350:1210–6.
- [339] Alboni P, Menozzi C, Brignole M, et al. Effects of permanent pacemaker and oral theophylline in sick sinus syndrome. The THEOPACE study: a randomized controlled trial. Circulation 1997;96:260–6.
- [340] Rowe JC, White PD. Complete heart block: A follow-up study. Ann Intern Med 1958;49:260-70.
- [341] Penton GB, Miller H, Levine SA. Some clinical features of complete heart block. Circulation 1956;13:801-24.
- [342] Edhag O, Swahn A. Prognosis of patients with complete heart block or arrhythmic syncope who were not treated with artificial pacemakers. Acta Med Scand 1976; 200:457.
- [343] Edhag O. Long-term cardiac pacing: Experience of fixedrate pacing with an endocardial electrode in 260 patients. Acta Med Scand 1969;502(Suppl):64.
- [344] Michaelsson M, Jonzon A, Riesenfeld T. Isolated congenital complete atrioventricular block in adult life. Circulation 1995;92:442–9.
- [345] Pavlovic S, Kocovic D, Djordjevic M, et al. The etiology of syncope in pacemaker patients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1991;14:2086–91.
- [346] Ausubel K, Furman S. The pacemaker syndrome. Ann Intern Med 1985;103:420.
- [347] Becker AE, Becker MJ, Edwards JE. Congenital anatomic potentials for subclavian steal. Chest 1971;60:4.

- [348] Gosselin C, Walker PM. Subclavian steal syndrome. Existence, clinical features, diagnosis, management. Semin Vasc Surg 1996;9:93–7.
- [349] Quan S, Gersh B. Cardiovascular consequences of sleepdisordered breathing: past, present and future. Circulation 2004;109:951-7.
- [350] Krediet C, Jardine D, Cortelli P, et al. Vasovagal syncope interrupting sleep?. Heart 2004;90:e25.
- [351] Nevitt MC, Cummings SR, Kidd S. Risk factors for recurrent non syncopal falls. A prospective study. JAMA 1989;261: 2663-7.
- [352] McIntosh SJ, da Costa D, Kenny RA. Outcome of an integrated approach to the investigation of dizziness, falls and syncope in elderly patients referred to a syncope clinic. Age Ageing 1993;22:53–5.
- [353] Kapoor W, Snustad D, Petersen J, et al. Syncope in the elderly Am J Med 1986;80:419–28.
- [354] Mader SL, Josephson KR, Rubenstein LZ. Low prevalence of postural hypotension among community dwelling elderly. JAMA 1987;258:1511-4.
- [355] Palmer KT. Studies into postural hypotension in elderly patients. New Zealand Med J 1983;96:43-5.
- [356] Tonkin A, Wing L. Effects of age and isolated systolic hypertension on cardiovascular reflexes. Hypertension 1994;12:1083–8.
- [357] Tonkin A, Wing LMH, Morris MJ, et al. Afferent baroreflex dysfunction and age-related orthostatic hypotension. Clin Sci 1991;81:531-8.
- [358] Strangaard S. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in hypertensive patients: the modifying influence of prolonged antihypertensive treatment on the tolerance of acute drug induced hypotension. Circulation 1976;53: 720–9.
- [359] Ballard C, Shaw F, McKeith , et al. High prevalence of neurocardiovascular instability in Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies; potential treatment implications. Neurology 1998;51:1760-2.
- [360] Hussain RM, McIntosh SJ, Lawson J, et al. Fludrocortisone in the treatment of hypotensive disorders in the elderly. Heart 1996;76:507–9.
- [361] Brignole M, Oddone D, Cogorno S, et al. Long term outcome in symptomatic carotid sinus hypersensitivity. Am Heart J 1992;123:687–92.
- [362] Strasberg B, Sagie A, Herdman, et al. Carotid sinus hypersensitivity in the carotid sinus syndrome. Prog Cardiovascular Disease 1989;31:379–91.
- [363] Kenny RA, Traynor G. Carotid Sinus Syndrome—Clinical characteristics in elderly patients. Age Ageing 1991;20: 449–54.
- [364] Kurbaan AS, Bowker TJ, Wijesekera N, et al. Age and hemodynamic responses to tilt testing in those with syncope of unknown origin. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:1004–7.
- [365] Robbins AS, Rubenstien LZ, Josephson KT. Predictors of falls among elderly people. Results of 2 population-based studies. Arch Intern Med 1989;149:1628–31.
- [366] Cellai T, Del Rosso A, Malin N, et al. for Gruppo Italiano Sincope study. Syncope in the elderly. Etiologic assessment by means of a specific protocol. J Nutr Health Aging 2001;5(suppl 1):57A.
- [367] Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Kidd S. Forgetting falls: the limited accuracy of recall of falls in the elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc 1988;36:613–6.
- [368] Shaw FE, Kenny RA. Overlap between syncope and falls in the elderly. Postgrad Med J 1997;73:635–9.
- [369] Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. Mini mental statea practical method for grading the cognitive status of patients for the clinician. J Psych Res 1975;12:189–98.

- [370] Ward C, Kenny RA. Reproducibility of orthostatic hypotension in symptomatic elderly. Am J Med 1996;100:418–1.
- [371] Shaw FE, Bond J, Richardson DA, et al. Multifactorial intervention after a fall in older people with cognitive impairment and dementia presenting to the accident and emergency department: randomised controlled trial. Br Med J 2003;326:73-80.
- [372] Driscoll DJ, Jacobsen SJ, Porter CJ, et al. Syncope in children and adolescents. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:1039-45.
- [373] Lombroso CT, Lerman P. Breathholding spells (cyanotic and pallid infant syncope). Pediatrics 1967;39:563-81.
- [374] Pratt J, Fleisher G. Syncope in children and adolescents. Pediatr Emerg Care 1989;5:80–2.
- [375] Camfield PR, Camfield CS. Syncope in childhood: a case control clinical study of the familial tendency to faint. Can J Neurol Sci 1990;17:306–8.
- [376] Garson Jr A, Dick M, Fournier A, et al. The long QT syndrome in children. An international study of 287 patients. Circulation 1993;87:1866-72.
- [377] Paul T, Guccione P, Garson Jr A. Relation of syncope in young patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome to rapid ventricular response during atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 1990;65:318–21.
- [378] Lucet V, Grau F, Denjoy I, et al. Long term course of catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in children. Apropos of 20 cases with an 8 year-follow-up. Arch Pediatr 1994;1:26–32.
- [379] Daliento L, Turrini P, Nava A, et al. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy in young versus adult patients: similarities and differences. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;25:655-64.
- [380] Chandar JS, Wolff GS, Garson Jr A, et al. Ventricular arrhythmias in postoperative tetralogy of Fallot. Am J Cardiol 1990;65:655–61.
- [381] McLeod KA. Syncope in childhood. Arch Dis Child 2003;88: 350–3.
- [382] Wieling W, Ganzeboom KS, Saul JP. Reflex syncope in children and adolescents. Education in heart Series (in press).
- [383] Grubb BP, Temesy-Armos P, Moore J, et al. The use of head-upright tilt table testing in the evaluation and management of syncope in children and adolescents. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1992;15:742–8.
- [384] Levine MM. Neurally mediated syncope in children: results of tilt testing, treatment, and long-term follow-up. Pediatr Cardiol 1999;20:331–5.
- [385] Lewis DA, Zlotocha J, Henke L, et al. Specificity of headup tilt testing in adolescents: effect of various degrees of tilt challenge in normal control subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;30:1057–60.
- [386] Perry JC, Garson Jr A. The child with recurrent syncope: autonomic function testing and beta-adrenergic hypersensitivity. J Am Coll Cardiol 1991;17:1168–71.
- [387] Saul JP. Syncope: etiology, management, and when to refer. J S C Med Assoc 1999;95:385-7.
- [388] O'Marcaigh AS, MacLellan-Tobert SG, Porter CJ. Tilt-table testing and oral metoprolol therapy in young patients with unexplained syncope. Pediatrics 1994;93:278–83.
- [389] Strieper MJ, Campbell RMJ. Efficacy of alpha-adrenergic agonist therapy for prevention of pediatric neurocardiogenic syncope. Am Coll Cardiol 1993;22:594–7.
- [390] Deal BJ, Strieper M, Scagliotti D, et al. The medical therapy of cardioinhibitory syncope in pediatric patients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1997;20:1759-61.
- [391] Disertori M, Brignole M, Menozzi C, et al. Management of patients with syncope referred urgently to general hospitals. Europace 2003;5:283–91.

- [392] Ammirati F, Colivicchi F, Minardi G, et al. Hospital management of syncope: the OESIL study G Ital Cardiol 1999;29:533–9.
- [393] Farwell DJ, Sulke AN. Does the use of a syncope diagnostic protocol improve the investigation and management of syncope?. Heart 2004;90:52-8.
- [394] Brignole M, Disertori M, Menozzi C, et al. The management of syncope referred urgently to general hospitals with and without syncope units. Europace 2003;5: 293-8.
- [395] Herner B, Smedby B, Ysander L. Sudden illness as a cause of motorvehicle accidents. Br J Int Med 1966;23: 37-41.

- [396] Petch MC, for the Task Force . Driving and heart disease. Task Force Report. Eur Heart J 1998;19:1165–77.
- [397] Maas R, Ventura R, Kretzschmar C, et al. Syncope, driving recommendations, and clinical reality: survey of patients. Br Med J 2003;326:21.
- [398] Akiyama T, Powell J, Mitchell B, et al. Resumption of driving after life-threatening ventricular tachyarrhythmia. N Engl J Med 2001;345:391-7.
- [399] Epstein AE, Miles WM, Benditt DG, et al. Personal and public safety issues related to arrhythmias that may affect consciousness: implications for regulation and physician recommendations. Circulation 1996;94: 1147–66.